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INTRODUCTION

N THE AFTERNOON of Friday, June 22, 1990, I was

almost certain that the Meech Lake constitutional ac-

cord was dead when the premier of Newfoundland and
Labrador stood in the House of Assembly to adjourn the de-
bate. But I was not convinced until I heard the federal minister
of state for federal-provincial relations, Senator Lowell Mur-
ray, pronounce its death later that evening. And even then I
did not start to unwind until after the prime minister
addressed the nation the next day. This event marked the end
of an exhausting and often painful process that had begun in
May 1987.

This book is about my involvement in the Meech Lake con-
stitutional debate as the constitutional advisor to Premier
Clyde Wells of Newfoundland. It covers the critical period
from October 1989 to June 1990. I have written it for a number
of reasons. First, I hope that my perspective as an outsider and
then an insider in the constitutional reform process will con-
tribute some valuable insights both in assessing what hap-
pened and in identifying lessons for the future. More
specifically, I hope it will show the fundamental flaws in the
closed-door intergovernmental approach to constitutional re-
form and emphasize the urgent need to open up the process
through meaningful public hearings combined with a referen-
dum. .

Second, I want to reveal the depth of constructive public
concern with the Accord from the earliest days. I want to de-
monstrate how, despite the cynical manipulation by certain
key politicians and others, despite the failure of the na-
tion’s parliamentary opposition, and despite the absence of
any national leadership, the voice of the people was heard and
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ultimately prevailed. This means that we have reason to be op-
timistic for Canada’s future. If the people of Canada want the
country to hold together, if the people of Canada believe in a co-
herent national government and national leadership that will

inspire us to pursue our ideal of a bilingual, multicultural na-

tion and a fairer, more compassionate society, then we must let
the people into the process and allow them to influence consti-
tutional reforms in a meaningful way.

Premier Wells’s greatest contributions to the debate were
his principles and his commitment to open up the process to
the widest possible public involvement. What he recognized
was that the vast majority of Canadians believe that constitu-
tional reform should reflect an underlying set of principles on
which there is consensus. Reform should not be treated as a
partisan political game of manipulation and trade-offs, carried
out behind closed doors. In standing up to Brian Mulroney
and his “roll of the dice” approach, Wells inspired millions of
Canadians and restored people’s faith in politicians. For a pe-
riod of time, he provided the national leadership so
desperately lacking in our era of cynical politics.

As we now engage in another intense round of constitu-
tional discussions, it does not appear that the lessons of the
Meech experience have been learned. Of course, there have
been endless commissions, committees, and conferences. But
the federal government has now entered a phase of behind-
the-scenes deal making with provincial premiers and refuses
to submit the new reforms to the ultimate test of public opin-
ion — a national referendum (althotgh not foreclosing it as a
desperate measure in the event of a deadlock with the pro-
vinces). More important, we have been put back in the grip of
another manufactured constitutional crisis. For some time
now, the prime minister and his lieutenants have been cranking
up their brinkmanship strategy and repeating the now-familiar
apocalyptic refrain that the moment of constitutional truth has
arrived and that we will have to accept the constitutional deal
or lose everything — our international reputation, our heri-
tage, Canada itself. This is the ultimate “roll of the dice”
strategy, and it remains to be seen if Canadians will this time
succumb to it — if only out of fatigue. I hope not.

The current proposals have essentially all the same ele-
ments of the Meech Lake Accord, with Senate reform, a tooth-
less social covenant, and aboriginal self-government added.to
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buy off the opposition. Like Meech, they will never satisfy
Quebec nationalists, who are the driving force behind Que-
bec’s demands. All they will do is grant the Quebec govern-
ment a significant chunk of the powers of a nation-state and
whet its appetite for complete independence. It is difficult to
believe that the vast numbers of Canadians who opposed
Meech will now accept these proposals. .

The Meech Lake Accord would have reversed our constitu-
tional evolution of the last twenty years and taken the country
in an entirely different direction. It would have granted Que-
bec special status by giving its government the power to pre-
serve and promote its “distinct identity,” a concept that noE.n_
be interpreted to include a vast range of policy areas. This
power would also have permitted the Quebec government to,
in effect, override the Charter and justify infringements of in-
dividual and minority rights in order to promote the French-
speaking majority. In a modern liberal democracy based on the
inviolability of individual rights, this is unacceptable. And
while it was granting these additional powers to the Quebec
government, the Accord would have provided merely for the
“preservation” of the English minority in Quebec msa. H.uwmbo.r
minorities outside Quebec. At the very least, the prevailing vi-
sion of a bilingual nation required the promotion of such
minorities across Canada by all governments, federal and pro-
vincial.

The other elements of the Accord would have resulted in a
significant devolution of powers to the provinces and, in the
view of many Canadians, an unacceptable weakening of the
federal government. The federal government would no Hoﬂ.mma
have been a truly national government directly representing
the interests of all Canadians; it would have become merely an
agent of the provincial governments. This is vmnmcmm the Ac-
cord provided for provincial control of appointments to the
Supreme Court of Canada and the Senate, two national institu-
tions which must be able to rise above narrow provincial inter-
ests and enunciate the broader national interest. The Accord
also made the constitutional amending formula even more in-
flexible by extending the list of subjects requiring unanimous
provincial consent and, at the same time, made it easier for
provinces to opt out of all constitutional amendments that
might give more legislative power to Parliament. The com-
bined effect of these provisions would have been to give all
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provinces, notably Quebec, what amounted to a veto over all

constitutional change. (Although a single province could not

have stopped or vetoed changes to the division of powers, it
would have had the right to declare that an amendment just
didn’t apply to it, and would not have suffered any adverse
impact, since it would have received financial compensation.)

The federal government’s power to spend in areas of exclu-
sive provincial jurisdiction would have been severely limited.
Any province would have had the right to opt out of any new
shared-cost program with financial compensation; in return, it
need only have complied with “the national objective.” This
would have made it almost impossible to launch major new
national social programs to address the needs of the most
vulnerable and disadvantaged and would have crippled any
coherent effort to maintain minimum national standards.

The Accord would have allowed for bilateral agreements
concerning immigration, the result being eleven different im-
migration policies and the virtual abandonment of the federal
role. Finally, the Accord would have entrenched annual First
Ministers” Conferences on the Constitution or any other mat-
ter, effectively creating a third, unaccountable level of govern-
ment that was essentially controlled by the provinces.

The substance of the Accord did clearly respond to the
Quebec government’s five “demands.” In effect, what Prime
Minister Mulroney did was agree to all those demands and
then, where appropriate, extend any concession to all the pro-
vinces in order to persuade them to agree. As so many critics
were to ask: Who spoke for Canada in the negotiations?

The absence of a strong federal negotiator was only one of
many fundamental problems. Equally serious was that the fed-
eral government propagated the myth that Quebec was some-
how excluded from the Constitution in 1982 and that this
exclusion justified significant concessions to “make the
country whole again.” Not only was this untrue, but it also
bolstered the Quebec nationalist forces so that, as the Accord
came under fire, they were able to play effectively to Quebeck-
ers’ emotions and argue that they were being rejected yet
again.

Quebec has always been part of the Constitution of
Canada. In 1982, the Supreme Court held, in a case instigated
~ by the Parti Québécois government, that Quebec was still
bound by the Constitution, as it had been since 1867, despite
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the refusal of the Quebec government to consent willingly to
the constitutional reforms of 1982. Among many other things,
this meant that all federal laws continued to apply in Quebec.
In 1982 the separatist government of René Lévesque would not
have agreed to anything that promoted the federation. At the
same time, all but two of the federal MPs from Quebec voted in
favour of the amendments.

Since then, pollster Angus Reid has convincingly demon-
strated that the constitutional situation in Quebec was not of
particular concern after 1982. For example, as of June 1986, al- -
most 75 percent of Canadians supported official bilingualism
and a number of Quebec polling firms had stopped asking
questions on independence or separatism altogether.

Since there was no real urgency to resolve Quebec’s posi-
tion on the Constitution, the Meech Lake Accord took most ob-
servers by surprise when it was negotiated in 1987. The media,
in their scramble to react, were so surprised that the first min-
isters had achieved unanimity that little or no criticism was
made of the Accord’s substance. The almost universal compla-
cency with which the Accord was accepted was surprising. It
was only questioned seriously in the lead editorials in the
Toronto Star and Saturday Night. : .

A fundamental reason for this media collapse was the total
failure of the national parliamentary opposition to criticize the
Accord’s substance in any serious way. Had there been any
such debate, the media would have covered it, which would
have given a crucial voice to the millions of Canadians who
were genuinely concerned about the direction in which the Ac-
cord would take the nation.

In the end, the widespread opposition to the Accord was
articulated through a variety of outlets and forums, and
through a succession of new provincial premiers, Clyde Wells
being the most prominent. For those who still say that the
Meech Lake Accord was a good one and who argue that the
opposition amounted to a mere 7 percent of the Canadian
population in three small provinces, I challenge them, as
Richard Gwyn also did in the Toronto Star on August 13, 1990,
to read the over 30,000 letters that Premier Wells received be-
tween November 1989 and June 1990. As Gwyn notes percep-
tively, “They will find there the exposed nerve-ends of a
nation.” They will also find themselves asking why the
Canadian body politic was put through such unnecessary
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pain. In the long term, the consequences of the Meech debate
itself will be far more damaging than the fact that the Accord
was rejected.

ONE

On the Inside

found myself standing in a dimly lit corridor of the
Sheraton Centre in downtown Toronto, knocking on the
door of a suite. Just the day before, I had received a telephone
call from the office of Premier Clyde Wells in St. John’s, New-
foundland, asking me if I was available for a meeting with the
premier. I wasn’t sure what to expect, but I had immediately -
said yes. , _
At the time, I was working as program director at the
Walter Gordon Charitable Foundation, an organization that
supported non-profit initiatives in the areas of peace and secu-
rity and education and development in Canada’s north. Before
this, I had taught law and public policy at the University of
Toronto. When the Meech Lake Accord was announced in
1987, 1 felt as if I had been hit by an acute allergy. In my view,
the Accord amounted to a complete reversal of our constitu-
tional evolution and, despite the apparent unanimous support
of the three national political parties, I was determined to fight
it. I helped organize the Canadian Coalition on the Constitu-
tion, a group of citizens opposed to the Accord, and I wrote a
number of essays that criticized it. Apparently, the premier had
read some of these critiques; my most recent one, in the June
1989 issue of Policy Options, had prompted him to contact me.
Premier Wells answered the door of the suite himself and
invited me in. My first impression was that he was relaxed and
informal. This was confirmed during our conversation. Wells
is very easy to talk to —mot pretentious or glib — and he ob-
viously enjoyed debating the Constitution.

OZ A SUNNY FRIDAY AFTERNOON in June 1989, I
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We talked for over an hour about the Meech Lake Accord
and other issues. Our points of view were very similar. I was
impressed by his sincerity and directness and came away from
the meeting feeling decidedly relieved that someone so firmly
principled was in a position to stop the Meech Lake Accord.

As I was leaving, Wells mentioned that he needed a consti-
tutional advisor and would be very interested in hiring me.
Having just started my employment with the Gordon Founda-
tion in April, I turned down the offer. But we agreed to stay in
touch.

After the Quebec election in September, I decided to call
Wells to see if he was still determined to rescind Newfound-
land’s approval of the Accord. He said yes and again offered
me the job of constitutional advisor. This time, I decided to
consider it seriously. This was Tuesday, September 26. A couple
of nights later, the premier called me at home to discuss it
again. I had faxed a letter to him the previous day, in which I
had said something like, “If you are prepared to rescind New-
foundland’s approval of the Accord, I am certainly prepared to
come out to Newfoundland and assist you as your constitu-
tional advisor.” In his typically scrupulous way, Wells empha-
sized that he could not in any way “guarantee” that rescission
would take place since, among other things, that would be
binding the Newfoundland legislature to a certain outcome,
which he obviously could not do. I agreed that my employ-
ment could not be conditional on rescission. We concluded by
setting a time to meet when he came to Toronto the following
Wednesday for a speech at Osgoode Hall Law School.

I met Wells about 11 a.m. the following Wednesday at York
University. An asbestos alert had just been issued requiring the
evacuation of Osgoode Hall, so he and I and his executive as-
sistant, Robert Dornan, went to the main building’s cafeteria. I
had already decided that I would move to St. John’s, and it
only took a few moments of conversation to confirm that deci-
sion. Wells showed me some of his ideas about changing the
Accord, which he had jotted down during his flight to Toronto,
and I'began to think about exactly what the next step would be.

We were joined briefly by Allan Blakeney, the former

premier of Saskatchewan, who had been one of the players

during the 1980-81 constitutional talks. He was teaching a
course at Osgoode Hall and was responsible for the invitation

to Wells to speak to the students that day. Blakeney was a great
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supporter of the notwithstanding clause — he had opposed
the Charter in 1980-81 — and I was encouraged to hear Wells
state very forthrightly that the clause simply had to be re-
pealed at the earliest opportunity and that the Charter was an
essential instrument of national unity. Needless to say,
Blakeney looked uneasy.

I stayed to listen to the premier’s speech, which was a
punchy critique of the Accord that brought the students to
their feet in a standing ovation. Any doubts I might have had
about Wells's ability to lead the opposition to Meech were cer-
tainly dispelled at this point.

I submitted my letter of resignation to the Gordon Founda-
tion that afternoon. The movers packed me up on Friday and
I flew to St. John's on Thanksgiving Sunday. Although I never
suspected that the fate of the Accord would remain in the
balance until June 23, 1990, I did know that the final and most
critical stage of the constitutional debate was beginning.

Early on Tuesday, October 10, I walked in the grey drizzle
the short distance from the Holiday Inn to the Confederation
Building, where the House of Assembly, Office of the Premier,
and other government offices are located. It is an imposing
building in bleak surroundings, one mile inland from down-
town St. John’s and the harbour. It seems to rise out of nowhere
and towers above the nearest houses and businesses.

The Office of the Premier is on the eighth floor. I was happy
to find that it was modest and unpretentious. Some have called
it excessively drab and cramped, but I much preferred it to the
more spacious offices in Queen’s Park. I had a window facing
east, sufficiently angled so that I could see the ocean to the
south. The contrast between the concrete jungle in downtown
Toronto and the natural, barely inhabited landscape around
the Confederation Building could not have been greater.

Before meeting with the premier, I was introduced in a sort
of blur to the various employees in the office. I already knew
the executive assistant, Robert Dornan, who is young, devoted
to the premier, and almost too efficient. Then there were four
young special assistants, four secretaries, an office manager,
and a receptionist. Judy Foote, a soft-spoken, unflappable
woman, was the premier’s director of public relations. We
soon became friends, in part because we shared the habit of
bursting into uncontrollable laughter when confronted with
absurd situations.
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_ Edsel Bonnell was Wells’s chief of staff. When I first met
him, he struck me as cool and gruff as he peered down at me
from a significant height. I soon learned that in fact he was one
of the warmest and most sensitive people I would ever meet,
that he had a great sense of humour, and that he spent much of
his spare time co-ordinating and conducting the Gower
(United Church) Youth Band, which is highly regarded across
Canada. The premier trusted him totally, and no wonder. Edsel
is one of those rare types in politics who is direct, no-nonsense,
and above political manipulations and conspiracies.

Finally, the premier had two personal secretaries, who
were really much more than their titles would suggest.
Without them, the office could not have functioned. Margie
Stirling, a delightful woman, was the wife of a former leader of
the Newfoundland Liberal Party. She had worked with Wells
in his law office before he became party leader and was dedi-
cated to him. Her tasks included keeping track of the premier’s
schedule and organizing his meetings. As the Meech debate
heated up, she was sometimes overwhelmed by the number of
requests for meetings and by the difficulty of distinguishing
between those people who would have to be firmly turned
away and those who could be squeezed into his schedule.
Kﬁ.mw@ who by nature was open and accommodating, found it
difficult to turn down more requests than she accepted.

Then there was Rosie Frey — a blur of perpetual energy
whose competence in whatever organizational or supervisory
task she undertook was intimidating. Yet, like everyone else in
the office, she was open, casual, and friendly.

I met with the premier alone later that morning. He wel-
comed me to the office and we chatted for a while about my
flight and the move. As before, he struck me as a good person
to work for — open, informal, and fair. After talking for some
time, he suggested that my first responsibility might be to draft
a letter to the prime minister setting out Newfoundland’s con-
cerns with the Meech Lake Accord. I agreed. The premier then
showed me some handwritten notes that he had made in May
1987 immediately after the Accord had been announced and
while he was campaigning for the Newfoundland Liberal
Party leadership. I was impressed by their clarity. Like so
many others, he had recognized the implications of the Accord
immediately. Virtually all the criticisms that were voiced
* during the Meech debate were sketched out in those notes, as

ON THE INSIDE 11

were many of his ideas for alternative ways to meet Quebec’s
concerns. From my conversations with Wells and with his staff,
I knew that since May 1987 he had been expressing his con-
cerns at every appropriate opportunity. But until he was
elected premier in April 1989, he had had no national political
weight and had presented no threat to the pro-Meech forces.

I suggested to the premier that I try to draft something
structured around Quebec’s constitutional demands, and he
agreed. I worked on the draft over the next couple of days. This
presented a challenge for me, since I was not writing for my-
self, but for someone who had strong views that were not nec-
essarily identical to mine. Our perspectives were bound to be
different. Wells was the premier of a small, have-not province
on the edge of “outer Canada,” while I was a central Canadian
with a “national” point of view. For example, I considered a
veto for Quebec to be a necessary means of enhancing that pro-
vince’s sense of security within the Canadian federation; Wells
was adamantly opposed to a veto for any province. Wells no
doubt believed that vetoes for the large provinces would pre-
vent any constitutional reform that might favour the smaller
provinces, particularly in the matter of Senate reform. Other
differences between us were substantive. For example, I
agreed with the premier that an elected and effective Senate
was desirable, but disagreed with him about equal repre-
sentation for all provinces. He thought it was necessary; I
didn’t. Despite these differences of opinion, our shared con-
cern to oppose the Accord was sufficient to permit a good
working relationship.

I was already aware of the premier’s position on the veto
and Triple-E Senate and incorporated his views into the first
draft of the letter. But another area of disagreement surfaced
later when he reviewed my draft comments on the restrictions
on the federal spending power. Wells argued that ideally there
should be no federal spending in areas of provincial jurisdic-
tion. I believed that this simplistic approach would not wash in
today’s complex interdependent world and argued that a fed-
eral presence was essential in many policy areas to ensure
national coherence and minimum national standards.

Yet, as long as poorer provinces like Newfoundland could
not afford to discharge their responsibilities adequately, Wells
was prepared to acknowledge the value of national shared-
cost programs in areas of provincial jurisdiction, particularly if
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they were aimed at eliminating regional disparity and inequal-
ity of opportunities. Although he was strongly critical of the
Accord’s provisions for federal spending power limitations in
the letter to the prime minister, his preference for abolishing
the federal spending power never surfaced as a priority in his
concerns.

In an attempt to clarify his views for my own sake, I drafted”
a long, detailed memo to him setting out the arguments in
favour of federal intervention in exclusive areas of provincial
jurisdiction. The memo came back carefully annotated with
question marks and criticisms. Our ensuing discussion was
spirited and frustrating. When I realized that I would not be
able to change his mind, I decided that I would simply set
aside my views for the duration of my employment. This was
the first of several intense exchanges that I would have with
the premier over the next eight months. While I invariably lost
these arguments, my respect for him increased because he was
at least prepared to have an open debate on issues and to-en-
courage criticism of his positions.

In drafting the letter, I discovered to my surprise — but
also to my relief — that no bureaucrats from the Inter-
governmental Affairs Secretariat or the Department of Justice
would be involved in the process. I was relieved to find that I
was not usurping anyone’s role, since there was no one on..
whom the premier was relying for constitutional advice. :

Over the weekend, Wells reworked the first draft of the let-
ter to Mulroney significantly. To my great relief, he left in most
of the key points. But in addition to adding some new sections
on the Senate and the reform process, he also deleted some sec-
tions dealing with the reasons why Quebec did not need
special powers — specifically, those which pointed out that
Quebec’s existing powers were sufficient to preserve and pro-
mote the French language and culture. I didn’t understand this
deletion. I believed it was essential to emphasize this point for
those Quebeckers who were convinced that they needed new
and special powers to enhance their security. In the months to
come, Wells did make passing reference to this point in a few
written speeches and letters, but it was never something that
would spontaneously enter his mind in interviews and off-the-
cuff remarks. _

While I was disappointed by that deletion, I was pleased
that the premier added a reference describing how Quebec
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could use its special powers to pass legislation — for example,
English-only sign laws — that would set off a ﬂ:n pro quo reac-
tion in the rest of Canada. That reaction would in turn provoke
a further reaction in Quebec, until ultimately 9@ French and
English retired into two solitudes. This was an eloquent and
evocative way of describing the practical, long-term impact of
special status.

P The letter to Mulroney went through several drafts as the
arguments and alternative proposals respecting each of Que-
bec’s five original demands were honed down, .ﬁommwrmw with
the premier’s criticisms of the process. The premier and I were
both careful to ensure that all criticisms were constructive and
in no way able to be construed as anti-Quebec. We were
genuinely hoping that Quebeckers would be m_n.mm to analyze
the merits of the premier’s position and recognize that New-
foundland’s opposition to the Accord was both honourable
and sincere. N

Quebec’s five demands were these: recognition of Quebec
as a distinct society; recognition of a right of veto over consti-
tutional change; limitations on federal mwmbm:.bm, power; in-
creased powers over immigration; and participation in the
appointment of Supreme Court judges. Wells agreed that Que-
bec had legitimate concerns in these areas, but disagreed with
how they had been accommodated in the Meech Lake Accord.

In his view, the Accord not only fatally weakened the federal
government — which was disastrous for the poorer, H.mmm
populous provinces — but also undermined the Canadian
Charter and the fundamental equality of citizens of Canada by
requiring that the entire Constitution, Eor»&bm the Charter, be
interpreted in light of Quebec’s role in preserving and promot-
ing its distinct identity. o

The final draft of the letter to Mulroney criticized all mHm.-
ments of the Accord, in detail, and offered m:mgmﬁ?.m. provi-
sions. For example, it proposed that Supreme Court judges,
especially the three civil law judges, be appointed through
votes in linguistic divisions in a reformed Senate, such that the
civil law judges would require the approval of French-speak-
ing senators. It recommended that the provisions for annual

First Ministers’ Conferences be deleted, and that the proposed

bilateral federal-provincial immigration deals be H.m.wnoswmmamm

in their entirety. But Wells decided to emphasize his three pri-
mary concerns: the creation of a special legislative status for



one province; the extension of the requirement for provincial
unanimity for constitutional amendments, including now
Senate reform; and the provisions relating to limitations on the
federal spending power.

Wells also severely criticized the closed-door process that
had Hmm. to the agreement. In his view, the Accord’s merits and
demerits had to be openly debated, and each leader had to en-
sure that his electorate understood the basic issues and had the
chance to actively participate in the debate. Wells detested the
mmmmumﬁmod\mggma\m insistence that the Accord had to be ac-
cepted in spite of the many concerns that were being expressed
about it.

In this connection, I came to appreciate that Newfound-
landers and Labradorians are populists by instinct, perhaps
because of their relatively recent experience with referenda
and perhaps as well because they seem to be more wommomsz
engaged. But the premier’s approach to opening up the consti-
tutional reform process was noticed far beyond Newfound-
Hmu.ﬁ.. It struck a populist chord across Canada. Suddenly the
millions of Canadians who had felt excluded and disenfran-
Qﬁmm&. by their political leaders and spokespeople had a repre-
sentative. Many times in his speeches, I have heard the premier
repeat the now-familiar line that he first set out carefully in his
original letter to the prime minister: “The worst flaw in the
H/.\Hmmnr. Lake Accord is the process that resulted in the eleven
mﬁmﬁ ministers telling the 26 million people of Canada how they
will be governed in the future, instead of the 26 million people
of Canada telling the eleven first ministers how they will
govern.” Whenever the premier made this point in his’
speeches, it always produced sustained and spontaneous ap-
plause.

The letter was finished by the morning of October 18, 1989.
The day before, the premier had sent copies to his justice min-
ister, Paul Dicks, and to Dicks’s deputy, Jim Thistle. Their com-
ments, when received, did not involve any changes. Edsel
mo.HEmﬁ and Judy Foote also vetted the letter and offered some
editorial suggestions, but it essentially reflected the views of
the premier. :

The letter was sent to the prime minister on the afternoon
of October 18, and copies were sent to the other premiers on
the same day. None of us had given any clear thought to

‘Whether the letter or its contents should be made public. In my
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view the letter was an excellent summary of and a coherent at-
tack on the Accord’s fundamental flaws, and I was impatient
for the premier to go on the offensive with it. But the premier
viewed it as a private exchange with the prime minister and
showed none of my impatience. A First Ministers” Conference
was coming up — the first for both the premier and me — and
he and I discussed rather inconclusively whether specific legal
language should be drafted that could be put forward there to
assist discussions on the Accord. Ostensibly, this conference
was to focus on the economy, but given the fluid situation,
even the bureaucrats could not anticipate what would happen
on the constitutional front.

On Friday, October 20, I received an early morning call
from Jeffrey Simpson, a Globe and Mail journalist, who said that
someone in Lowell Murray’s office had told him about the
premier’s letter and that he wanted to write about it. (Murray
was the federal minister responsible for federal-provincial re-
lations.) After some discussion, Judy Foote and I concluded
that someone would soon leak the letter and — as Simpson
had pointed out — the earlier it came out the better if we
wanted to bring it to public attention. If we waited until the fol-
lowing week, it would be lost in the fallout created by the
Manitoba and New Brunswick reports on Meech, which were
due for release on October 23 and 24 respectively.

Judy and I favoured releasing the letter as soon as possible,
but knew the premier might resist. His impeccable though
sometimes infuriating sense of fair play had led him to insist
that the prime minister be given a reasonable chance to re-
spond, and Mulroney was out of the country. By noon, we had
drafted a press release that set out the contents of the letter,
with only the personal elements edited out.

Judy and I met with the premier in the early afternoon. We
told him about Simpson’s call, and Judy gave her opinion that
the contents of the letter should be released officially as soon as
possible so that the premier could control the situation. The al-
ternative was to wait until someone leaked the letter, in which
event he might have to react in a disorganized, ineffective way.
As expected, the premier preferred to let the prime minister re-
spond first and was not convinced that a leak was inevitable.
He also was adamant about not wanting the media to force
events and did not see the importance of being ahead of the

Manitoba and New Brunswick reports.



When it became obvious that we were at an im
premier called in Edsel Bonnell for his advice. I was %Mwwwrwﬂm
stve, since I did not yet know Edsel very well and believed that
.rm would probably agree with the premier. But after listening
intently to the arguments, Edsel tipped the scales in favour of
release, noting that it couldn’t really be an affront to the federal
mwﬁw\mgﬁ%ammgnm it was Lowell Murray’s office itself that was

ponsible for the prelimin, i i
pre the goahon p . ary leak to Simpson. The premier

Zﬁﬁmm later, Judy and I were sitting next to fax machines
transmitting the release to the media, ultimately until m:ﬂowm
midnight. In retrospect, the timing was perfect. The release re-
ceived major front-page coverage the next day, which ensured
that the position of Newfoundland and Labrador was well-
known days before the positions of Manitoba and New Brun-
swick were made clear. This was to be the first of many
examples of our “non-strategy” over the ensuing eight to nine
months. Fortunately, this decision worked out well.

k».mma tracking the response to the premier’s letter in the
Emmﬁm over the weekend, I returned to the office on Monday,
anticipating the Manitoba government’s report on Meech,
Both the premier and I were already aware of the broad out-
lines of the report through phone calls from Sharon Carstairs
the leader of the Liberals in Manitoba. At this point, .Omwmﬁmb.m\
was staunchly anti-Meech, having declared “Meech is dead”
mmmn.rma surprising win as opposition leader in the provincial
mHmoﬁ.Hos. She obviously saw an ally in Wells and probably felt
that it would be valuable to give him some advance warning of
what was likely to be in Manitoba’s report. She must have also
known that the report was going to be significantly watered
down for the sake of achieving consensus.among Manitoba’s
three provincial parties, and that Wells would be freer than her
to pursue more principled opposition to the Accord.

When the report was finally delivered by courier to the Of- -

m.nm of the Huumnm.mu around 3 p.m. on October 23, I read it imme-
diately. A quick look confirmed my fears. While it
recommended some major amendments, it basically at-

tempted to “fix” the Accord by either dropping provisions or .

adding on new subsections and some rather contorted qualifi-
cations. :

| Wells was in Ottawa that day and not due to arrive back by
plane until about 10 p.m. Since requests for his reaction were
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already flowing in and would have to be met very early the
next morning, my only opportunity to meet with him to dis-
cuss the report would be at the airport and during the drive
down to his house. I worked until 9:30 that night and then took
a taxi from the office to meet his flight.

The premier had been told to expect me. He was tired but
was interested in talking about the report, however briefly.
This was my first experience with briefing him on a specific
document. What I discovered was that he did not want to be
bothered with the petty details of the report’s recommenda- -
tions. Instead he zoomed in on the area of particular interest to
him — the recommendations on the distinct society clause.

He had already heard through the media that day that
Manitoba had recommended that the role of the Quebec
government and legislature should be to “uphold” rather than
“preserve and promote” Quebec’s distinct society. Wells’s im-
mediate reaction during the drive to his home was that this
change did not eliminate the creation of a special legislative
status for Quebec. He seemed to feel that he needed only to
deal with this one point when responding in the media to
Manitoba'’s report, that he didn’t need to discuss all the details
of the changes to the distinct society clause. Of course, he was
right, since most of his interviews would involve thirty-second
television clips, and print journalists would summarize his re-
action in one or two lines at most.

During the drive we had time to discuss a few other points,
such as the recommendation to drop the proposal for a limita-
tion on the federal spending power. Carstairs had already re-
layed this point a few days earlier. Apparently Manitoba’s task
force simply could not reconcile the views of the Manitoba Lib-
erals and NDP (who wanted loose restrictions) with those of
the Tories (who wanted to strengthen them); the three parties,
for the sake of consensus, had recommended deleting the pro-
posal. Wells considered this regrettable and thought that at
least Newfoundland was being constructive in proposing ad-
justments or amendments to the proposal.

After talking with the premier, I felt that I ought to set out
the details of the Manitoba report more carefully. So I stayed
up late writing a more detailed memo for him to study in the
morning. I recognized that the premier’s public statements
needed only to focus on one or two elements, but I thought he
ought to at least be aware of the details. And I knew that he



would always take the time to read even a long memo, espe-
cially when it dealt with the constitutional debate.

The strength of the report was that it recommended major
amendments to the Accord; these, if pursued, would inevi-
tably require that the Accord be reopened. For example, it rec-
ommended that the distinct society clause be broadened to
become a “Canada clause” that recognized, among other
things, the existence of Canada as a federal state with a distinct
national identity. I also welcomed the task force’s conclusion
that any reference to Quebec’s distinct society would have to
be balanced by a reference to other fundamental characteristics
of Canada so that the true nature of Canada’s national identity
was more accurately reflected. These fundamental charac.
teristics were to include the existence of the aboriginal peoples
as a distinct and fundamental part of Canada, and the exist-
ence of Canada’s multicultural heritage. Manitoba’s ongoing
insistence on some form of Canada clause was to have a major
impact on the remainder of the Meech debate. .

The weakness of the Manitoba report was that it failed to
provide a coherent alternative to the Accord. Instead, it con-
fined itself to contorted amendments. Admittedly, the report
was the product of open public hearings examining only the
Accord itself and no other alternative, and it had to satisfy all
three parties in a minority government. But the inevitable re-
sult was that it made some disconnected recommendations
that, apart from the Canada clause proposal, offered no clear
alternative vision of the country. For example, in an area such
as powers over immigration, the report outlined all the valid
concerns over the disintegration of essential federal powers,
but then it fizzled out with a recommendation for a future re-
view of the operation of the Meech provisions.

Similarly, the report made no recommendation for change
on the proposal to allow all provinces to opt out, with compen-
sation, of any constitutional amendment transferring legisla-
tive power to the federal government. The reason, ostensibly,
was that none of the presentations made to the task force had
raised any real concerns. Most experts agreed, however, that
this change to the general amending formula was as significant
as the extension of the veto in other areas. It virtually
guaranteed that there could never be another amendment like
the critical one in 1940 that gave the federal government juris-
. diction over unemployment insurance. In fact, the opting-out
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clause was the equivalent of giving Quebec — and EMMWQ«,M“
provinces — a complete veto over all amendments. ~53 .
acknowledged by Quebec politicians of every political s %b -
More specifically, although a province could not mﬂo% an an
desirable amendment, up to three provinces having 50 perc ;
of the population could simply declare that it did Mom m%m. mm
and, having done so, receive compensation from t % ede !
government. I was constantly angered by the federal mﬂ\mg
ment’s deliberate obfuscation of the real impact of this nmeEMm
and regretted that Manitoba’s task force .wm.m been unable to
challenge the pro-Meech orthodoxy on this issue. e
The next morning, the premier gave a Hﬂ.ﬁ.gvma o Mb X
views to print journalists and radio and .ﬁm.HmSmpos repor maww !
was impressed by how smoothly and efficiently Judy was M e
to arrange the premier’s time and cram in the Bmxpgﬁws bﬂwn
ber of interviews, both in his office and at @ﬂ.m near vm
studio. I was equally impressed with the premier’s resi H.mbnw
He clearly thrived on public debate; he never seemed to UE.M o-
answering the same mzmmmosw QOHM Qmﬂgw reporters, but re
i teous and articulate throughout. .
Bmﬂwm_momﬂam premier was giving interviews on the Manitoba
report, New Brunswick’s report was being H.&m\mmma” mom.MoBM
reason, our copy from Premier Frank McKenna’s office m no
arrive until the following day, so I had to scramble to have a
friend at the University of New _wnmbmaﬁnw fax the Hmﬁomﬁ .woﬂsmm
He warned me that the report basically left the Accor ES ac
and that McKenna by now had completely nmﬁugym.ﬁma.. ewas
right. New Brunswick’s report expressed some B.HE noH.EmM.bm
with the Accord, but concluded either that they m&..bomc justify
reopening the Accord or that they could be Qmm:. with by smwM
of amendments. For example, with respect to \.Em impact on ;
Charter, it acknowledged that the vast majority of the @HMMmW
tations called for a clear statement that ﬂrm Charter So% ! m
paramount over the “distinct society” and mssmmab.mwg c mm
acteristics” clauses. Yet it then concluded as follows: “To b.mw M
the Charter paramount in all circumstances would in ef mn.
render the entrenchment of section 2 of the Accord Emmﬁsm.
less. Because of this, the Committee cannot mnnmwn the HmmoE
mendation dealing with the paramountcy of the ﬂrmzmh )
As I noted in an irreverent memo to the premier — onm o
the 400 I would write in the mobasm. B.oarm —Gil WmBEde Mz.
Lowell Murray could not have said it any better. It was truly
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astounding as so many callers to Wells’s office that day angrily
pointed out, that the New Brunswick report could conclude
that the Charter was undermined and yet not recommend that
something be done about it. Already Wells was wmu.bw viewed
as the last real hope for Meech opponents.

ﬁm.zma in the afternoon, I had a chance to speak to the
premier about the New Brunswick report. Again, he was pri-
marily interested at this point in how it dealt with such key is-
sues as the distinct society clause. He seemed disappointed
rather than surprised by the report; he had been aware of the
rumours that McKenna’s opposition to the Accord had been
weakening, and the report simply confirmed those rumours. It
seemed to me that Wells was fully aware of how different he
and McKenna were in how they approached Meech. McKenna
for example, had never been as clearly opposed to the Accord
as the premier. _

- Why McKenna gradually abandoned his opposition after
raising the expectations of the general public so high is difficult
to understand. My instinctive conclusion, which was increas-
ingly fortified in the ensuing months, was that McKenna's shift
and New Brunswick’s report were the result of some very in-
tense activity in the Fredericton-Quebec City-Toronto-Ottawa
quadrangle. In my judgment, the feds, David Peterson, and
Robert Bourassa immediately recognized the threat that
McKenna presented to the Accord after his election as premier
in the fall of 1987 and decided to do something about it. In ad-
Q&o?. Peterson certainly appreciated that there was intense
opposition to the Accord in Ontario, as well as widespread dis-
nos.ﬁma with the findings of his own constitutional committee,
which in mid-1988 had recommended that the Accord be ap-
proved as it stood, with any remaining concerns to be dealt
SHE in future rounds and additional accords. Bourassa’s
desire to see Meech passed intact was not surprising, given his
close relationship with Mulroney and his recognition that,
under Meech, Quebec had achieved a special status that could
_um. expanded in future discussions. Peterson’s co-operation
with Zc.&.oum% was less easy to understand. In my view, Peter-
son Hmm.:Nwm that he had missed his chance to play statesman
and principled politician back at the Langevin Block meeting
in F.Sm 1987, when he could have stopped the Accord at its in-
~ ception. But having caved in to pressure from Bourassa and

" Mulroney, he and his close associates (like his attorney general,
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Jan Scott) became almost evangelical in trying to justify their
support for the Accord.

Scuttlebutt suggests that Peterson was instrumental in
bringing McKenna into line. (The Ontario Liberals helped
McKenna a great deal during his election.) Perhaps Peterson
suggested that McKenna could play an important role in na-
tion-building by persuading the opposition forces to support
amendments or add-ons to the Accord that would not chal-
lenge the fundamental reforms. It is also likely that many pro-
Meechers — for example, Lowell Murray — believed that
McKenna was in a good position to soften the opposition,
being the popular and trusted premier of an officially bilingual
province. At the same time, Peterson had a close rapport with
Bourassa and was regarded by Ottawa as a good go-between
for the save-the-Accord operations.

Unlike Clyde Wells, Frank McKenna does not appear to
have, or at least cannot articulate, a consistent vision of the
Canadian nation. As a politician, he certainly listened to his
province’s various interest groups — women'’s groups, aborig-
inal groups, francophone groups, and so on. But he was ulti-

* mately snared by the insiders in Ottawa, Toronto, and Quebec

City, whose approach to constitution-making was both élitist
and lacking in principle. As a result, he was unable to take the
populist approach to constitution making, which requires a
broad vision and approaches constitutions as immutable docu-
ments. whose main purpose is to articulate principles and
values.

Yet another part of the explanation for New Brunswick’s
position had to do with McKenna's advisors. Francis McGuire,
one of his closest aides, was a former assistant to Liberal MP
Raymond Garneau. McGuire must have been influenced to
some extent by Garneau’s view of the Accord. Garneau had
lost the leadership of the Quebec Liberal Party to Bourassa and
then run for the federal Liberals in 1984. He was Liberal leader
John Turner’s Quebec lieutenant during the negotiations that
led to the Accord. He resigned soon afterwards and is now a
prominent Quebec businessman. He strongly supported dis-
tinct society status for Quebec and was of the school that
simply wanted the constitutional issue settled as quickly as
possible, so that the country could get on with other things.
His world, like that of most Quebec business leaders, seemed
to revolve around Quebec.
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In addition, as I was to discover a little later, the same
bureaucrats who had helped Richard Hatfield to negotiate the
>nno&. were also advising and negotiating for McKenna.
These included the deputy minister of intergovernmental af-
mm:.m\ Don Dennison, and the justice department’s constitu-
tional advisor, Bruce Juda. They must have had some vested
Interest in the Accord as it stood, or at the very least some dif-
bnﬁ:.% in changing their frames of reference to contemplate re-
opening rather than just amending it.

So there existed a large cadre of career bureaucrats who
had helped to draft and defend the Accord and who typically
had a good deal of influence over their first ministers. This fac-
tor, which was not visible to the public, was also present in
Newfoundland. In St. John’s, the key bureaucrats in both the
Intergovernmental Affairs Secretariat and the Department of
Justice had all worked with the previous Conservative govern-
ment under Brian Peckford and had advised him on the Meech
Lake Accord. When the premier decided to seek out a constitu-
tional advisor, he did so primarily because there was no one in
the bureaucracy who had the legal and public policy back-
ground to work closely with him and articulate his ideas. I
megm.ﬁ shortly after my arrival that the deputy minister of jus-
tice, Jim Thistle, also disagreed with the premier’s legal inter-
pretation of the distinct society clause. The premier, although
rm.w respected Thistle’s views, was unswayed by them: as a con-
stitutional lawyer himself, he had faith in his own conclusions.

I had been brought in as a bureaucrat — technically, I re-
ported to the deputy minister of intergovernmental affairs. Yet
because I was located in the premier’s office, I had virtually no
contact with the secretariat. One result was that the Tory op-
position alleged during Question Period that I was a “Dalton
Camp” and criticized the premier’s decision to hire a non-
N m«&@ﬂb&mﬁ&mﬁ (Mulroney at one point had hired Camp, a
long-time Conservative, to work in the Privy Council Office.
Hw.m opposition had alleged that he was really a political ap-
Huﬂo%wmm and should have been paid as a member of the political
staff. _

Because the Meech debate was more or less self-contained
and unconnected to other wbamamo,\mabgmbw& issues, in effect I
worked around the bureaucrats. But this independence also
meant that there were no Newfoundland bureaucrats “in the
" loop” on the Meech issue. As I was to find a few weeks later at
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the November First Ministers’ Conference, there has
developed across Canada a fairly cosy relationship among in-
tergovernmental officials in all provincial capitals. Someone
like me, who was not connected and who held strong views on
the Accord — unlike most bureaucrats — did not easily fit in.
Another, more important effect of the premier’s hands-on ap-
proach to the Accord was that it totally disrupted bureaucratic
lines of communication and left the other first ministers and
bureaucrats at a loss about how to deal with the premier.

The premier and I never directly discussed “staying out of
the loop” until a later stage of the debate. Until Ottawa and the
other pro-Meech provinces showed some flexibility on New-
foundland’s concerns, the premier saw little reason for me to
contact my counterparts, except to exchange information.

One thing that astounded me was the almost total lack of
contact between the premier’s office and the Federal-Provin-
cial Relations Office in Ottawa. Normally;in a well-functioning
federation, you would expect the FPRO to be actively in con-
tact with all provincial officials, whatever their position. In this
case, with a constitutional impasse looming, official Ottawa
seemed unable to deal with Newfoundland. To my knowl-
edge, the FPRO only once communicated directly with us; that
was in May 1990, when they faxed to the premier’s office a
copy of Roger Tassé’s brief to the Charest Committee.

My only direct talks at the bureaucratic level were with the
two New Brunswick officials, Don Dennison and Bruce Juda.
On February 8, 1990, we met to discuss New Brunswick’s
forthcoming initiative for a parallel accord. This occasion was
doubly unusual in that I also met with key officials from the
Newfoundland Intergovernmental Affairs Secretariat. In late
March I had a further conversation with the New Brunswick
Intergovernmental Affairs deputy minister to discuss the ac-
tual details of the parallel accord. In my view, on both occa-
sions, New Brunswick officials were acting as Ottawa’s proxies
in an attempt to open up the lines to St. John’s, and there is no
doubt that within minutes of my conversation in late March, in
which I criticized most of the proposed New Brunswick add-
ons, the information had been conveyed to the FPRO.

The impact of my not being “in the loop” was obvious at
the February meeting, where the New Brunswick officials sug-
gested that since there was some movement toward a parallel
accord, “wouldn’t it be better to be in on designing the pack-



age?” I had no hesitation in sayin i i i
. : : g no. On this occasion I dis-
cussed my isolation with the premier, and he supported my
conclusion that Newfoundland should not participate in the
ngmwnﬁﬂmsmﬁw Wzamﬂe.m. It was the first and last attempt, at
officials’ level, to co-opt Newf, i \
parall] s pt Newfoundland in the matter of a
As my first few weeks in the ier’ i
. premier’s office drew to a
close, it was clear that the Meech debate had entered a new
phase. With Wells’s letter to the prime minister and the Mani-
toba and New Brunswick reports, Ottawa was finally waking

MW to the opposition and to Wells as its most articulate spokes-
an.

TWO

The Newfoundland
- Alternative Accord

EVERAL DAYS AFTER Wells’s letter to Mulroney was

released to the public, the premier raised the idea of

taking specific constitutional amendments to the upcom-
ing November First Ministers’ Conference. The purpose would
be to translate into concrete amendments the more general
changes set out in Wells's letter to the prime minister.

I was mildly opposed to the idea. My personal view was
that specific amendments in “legalese” might confuse the de-
bate on the more general criticisms set out in the premier’s let-
ter. At the same time, I saw some merit in demonstrating that
the premier was ready, willing, and able to enter immediately
into constructive negotiations to amend the Accord.

The formulation of the amendments was a technical exer-
cise requiring considerable legal skill. Given my “diluted” sta-
tus as a lawyer — I had only practised law for one year six
years before — I warned the premier that my attempted draft
would be less than adequate. I did not have to worry — the
premier was an experienced and skilled legal draftsman. He
obviously enjoyed annotating and rewriting my drafts, and I
sometimes wondered whether I was contributing anything at
all. He knew precisely what he wanted to get across, and I was
amazed at how quickly he could shift his focus from whatever
he was doing to provide an immediate comment on a particu-
lar section. This attention to minute legal detail was to be my
only real concern with the premier over the next few months.



Mmhﬁ”.ogmagmm too much the lawyer, and not enough the
UEEm the drafting of the alternative accord, I became
used to him suddenly appearing at the door of my office en
route to a cabinet meeting or the House of Assembly. He would
stop by to bring in an annotated draft with further suggestions
mﬁw nrmbm.m and would often make some joke about the twelve
filing cabinets stuffed into my office, the expanding number of
bulletin boards on my walls — all of them covered with Meech
cartoons — and the mountains of paper piled on any available
space, including the floor. His easy-going approach always im-
pressed me. | o
When we were finalizing the document on
«&Bnﬁ was the weekend w&mﬂm the First ggwmwmﬂwdn\uﬂmw%.w“mw
Sm:&mo:mmmm what to call it. Ultimately, the premier settled on
an “Alternative to the Meech Lake Accord.” He and I had both
watched a CBC Newsworld interview with Lowell Murray
that Sunday morning. In his typically cool, expressionless, in-
mnESE.m manner, Murray asserted that while Manitoba Z ew
Brunswick, and “Premier Wells”* had criticized the >nnw& it
was {0 no avail since no one had produced an alternative ﬁﬁmﬁ
could attract unanimity the way Meech Lake had. Of course
neither the premier nor I thought for a moment that the New-
foundland alternative would provide the magic answer and
attract the unanimity Murray spoke of, but at least by puttin
szmﬁ.w concrete alternative, the premier was following cm
his criticisms with a constructive initiative. His ?,o@Om&M
should have become the subject of widespread debate
nocswmw..ﬁno@OmmHm\ amendments, and so forth. But these SQ.M
not ordinary circumstances, and the pro-Meech forces were
gomng to make sure it didn’t happen that way.

The premier decided that the alternative accord should
track the contents of his letter to the prime minister fairl
closely; Emﬂ is, it should address each of Quebec’s m<M
demands in turn and in most cases provide alternative ways to
. wn.noggmvm.mﬁm them in the Constitution. In his letter to the
prime minister, the premier had suggested that Quebec’s dis-
tinctiveness be recognized in the preamble to the Constitution
rather than in the distinct society clause. The recognition
would then have only symbolic vaiue and would not create a

* ,
_ Z:ﬂmmg and the feds were constantly trying to marginalize the premier and
argue that he was a one-man show without the support of the legislature.
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special legislative status for Quebec or allow the Quebec
government to override the Charter. The premier decided that
an entirely new preamble should be drafted and suggested
that the distinct society clause be recast as a preamble. I then
suggested that the remainder of the preamble could state the
fundamental characteristics set out in Manitoba’s proposal for
a Canada clause. I thought this would be a good way to link
Newfoundland with its closest ally. But the premier would al-
ways prefer the preamble approach over Manitoba’s proposal
that the distinct society clause be converted into a Canada
clause. In part, this was because a preamble made no reference
to the roles and responsibilities of governments, and could not
be used to override the Charter.

Of course, the premier was under no illusions as to how
Quebec would react. From my perspective, one could only
hope that this proposal would at least open the long-
suppressed debate about how Quebec is already preserving
and promoting its distinctiveness using its existing powers. In
addition, to the extent that the courts already take into account
Quebec’s distinctiveness in Charter cases by virtue of section 1
of the Charter, which deals with reasonable limits, the
preamble reference would be a reinforcing factor.

The second element of Newfoundland’s alternative accord
had to do with a veto for Quebec over constitutional changes
affecting language, culture, and the appointment of civil law
judges. In Wells’s proposal, this veto would be exercised
through Quebec senators at the national level. This is where
the premier began to develop his theory of “the three equali-
ties” — equality of citizens in the House of Commons, equality
of provinces in a reformed Senate, and equality of the French
and English linguistic cultures. Although he remained ad-
amant that no provincial government should have a veto over
constitutional change, he argued that the third equality did
justify a limited veto for Quebec — but operating through a
national institution, the Senate, rather than a provincial govern-
ment.

The premier’s concept of the three equalities was intellec-
tually vigorous and obviously well thought out. He explained
to me that he began to develop this idea in the 1970s, when he
was helping to draft the Canadian Bar Association’s report on
the Constitution. At that time, he had supported the creation of
a third house of Parliament — in addition to the House of



Commons and the Senate — through which the third equality
could be expressed. He had since concluded that it would cre-
ate a totally unwieldy government structure. A limited veto for
francophone senators through special votes in the Senate was
much more practicable.

_The HEH.Q element of Newfoundland’s alternative had todo
with ensuring that the restrictions on the federal spending
power were consistent with the obligations in the Constitution
Act, 1982. These obligations included the following: promotion
of m@ﬁ.& opportunities among Canadians and the provision of
essential public services of reasonable quality to all Canadians.
The premier himself drafted what was in effect an “add-on” to
the Meech proposal; it stated that the restrictions would not
apply when Parliament expressly declared that federal spend-
Ing was for these purposes. He was convinced that Quebec
and other proponents of the idea that the federal wﬁms&zw
power should be limited, would not object to this. .

My personal view was that he was expecting too much —
_&ma the other premiers were going to interpret his proposal as
a :nm.bnw for Parliament to get around any restrictions when-
ever it Eam@ simply by making a declaration. Yet I didn’t par-
ticularly mind such an interpretation since I was much more
concerned ﬁ.rmb the premier about the preservation of the fed-
9.&. spending power and the establishment of minimum
national standards. The premier’s main concern was to ensure
Eﬂmm.ﬁmm federal spending; for example, spending for specific
public services in the poorer provinces. The goal was to bring
those services up to the standards of the richer provinces — in
effect, 8. allow the richer provinces to establish the standards.
In my view, however, the federal government has a critical in-
dependent role in this matter, which is to use its spending
power and shared-cost programs to establish minimum stand-
ards for all provinces — including the richer ones, since one
cannot always guarantee that the richer ones will pursue the
appropriate standards. Our differences in this area remained
throughout the debate, but after conceding defeat, I provided
as much support as I could for the premier’s proposals.

The fourth element of Newfoundland’s alternative was the
proposal that the appointments to the Supreme Court of
Ombw@m be subject to approval by the Senate. Again, the
premier himself drafted the specific provisions; like the mech-

- anism for constitutional amendments, they involved separate
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consideration by French and English divisions of the Senate to
ensure that Quebec senators would have the last word on civil
law appointments. .

The fifth element addressed the immigration provisions in
the Accord, which as they now stood effectively emasculated
the federal role in immigration. The premier and I could not ar-
rive at any satisfactory alternatives or amendments and simply
suggested that the provisions had to be completely rethought.

Finally, Newfoundland’s alternative recommended delet-
ing the provisions for entrenched First Ministers” Conferences.
The premier felt that these would inevitably lead to a third un-
accountable level of government and further undermine the
coherence and strength of the national government. Since 1987
he had ridiculed the supposed victory of his predecessor, Brian
Peckford, in having included a mandatory annual discussion
of fisheries’ roles and responsibilities. He argued that New-
foundland did not need more constitutional jurisdiction over
fisheries, and that an annual first ministers’ discussion would
likely not lead to anything concrete anyway. :

The premier also decided that he wanted to append an ac-
tual amendment for a Triple-E Senate. I was able to find such a

draft in a publication of the Canada West Foundation, and the
premier himself adapted it. Again, he hoped to kickstart the
debate and demonstrate his willingness to negotiate in earnest.

The document went through several drafts, and the
premier discussed it at least twice with his cabinet. To the best
of my recollection — I did not, of course, attend the cabinet
meetings — only a couple of more or less technical changes
were suggested by the other ministers. The premier un-
questionably had the support of his government for the alter-
native accord.

During this period, I prepared some briefing notes for the
Liberal Party. These outlined the constitutional background
and the details of Newfoundland’s position, particularly as set
out in the letter to the prime minister. I was also invited to a
caucus meeting one morning to answer questions. The premier
encouraged my participation since he wanted to ensure that
the caucus understood and supported the position we had out-
lined.

A couple of weeks after the public release of Wells’s letter
to Mulroney, the prime minister responded. About mid-mom-
ing on November 2, Rosie Frey buzzed me on the telephone



SNV AN UL LAY AN

and asked me to come to the premier’s office immediately.
Mulroney had just called. Edsel Bonnell, Robert Dornan, and I
stayed in the office during the conversation. While we could
not hear Mulroney’s words since there was no speaker phone,
we could get a good idea of what he was saying from the
premier’s replies.

As usual, the premier was courteous. Apparently Mul-
roney started out by mentioning that he had seen Wells’s
daughter Heidi, who was a bilingual law student in Moncton,
New Brunswick, being interviewed on a news program. For
me, this was classic Mulroney — he was always looking for
some personal element with which to turn on the charm. The
premier acknowledged the pleasantries, but he quickly turned
Hrmm. conversation to a direct exchange of positions on the Ac-
cord.

For about a quarter of an hour, the prime minister went
through the standard pro-Meech arguments. (A few hours
later a Ho.:m letter setting these out arrived by fax.) The premier
was polite but firm in stating his fundamental disagreement
with the Accord. From time to time, he was also exasperated. A
few points stand out. First, the premier clearly rebutted Mul-
roney’s arguments that Quebec was excluded when the Con-
stitution was patriated in 1982. He told the prime minister
firmly that he was wrong and said that Ottawa had every right
to act as it did, since the majority of federal MPs, including
those from Quebec, had supported the patriation and that in
any event no one province should be able to hold up our con-
stitutional development.

.d.ﬂm prime minister then raised the issue of the
soaz.:rmamz&bm clause, which states that Parliament or the
legislature of a province can declare that certain legislation
shall operate notwithstanding a breach of certain fundamental
mnmm.aoup@ and legal and equality rights, for a renewable period
of five years. Mulroney said that in Quebec the clause was re-
garded as essential, in that it protected that province’s interests
against %mmmn.& encroachment. This position of course is a re-
gurgitation of the Quebec nationalist line and a misunder-
standing of the nature of an entrenched Charter of Rights and
Freedoms. The premier politely indicated that the prime min-
ister’s view of the Charter and the notwithstanding clause was
incorrect — the Charter gave the Canadian people rights and
freedoms to be asserted against all governments, while the
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notwithstanding clause gave governments certain limited
scope to override those rights and freedoms. Thus, the use of
the notwithstanding clause was a question not of one govern-
ment versus another, but of a government versus the people.
The premier also put on the record his support for the repeal of
the notwithstanding clause at the earliest opportunity.

As I listened to Wells’s end of this conversation, I realized
that I was witnessing yet another example of the prime minister’s
insensitivity to the populist aspect of constitutional reform and
of his fixation with executive-style intergovernmental rela-
tions. If he could not understand how the Charter operated
and was consumed with the government’s perspective rather
than the concerns of individuals, then he was insensitive to the
very basis of a modern liberal democracy — not a very reassur-

ing conclusion. Given Mulroney’s previously expressed public

concern with the very existence of the notwithstanding clause
(a few months earlier he had irresponsibly stated that the
clause made the Constitution not worth the paper it is written
on), the entire discussion further confirmed my impression
that the prime minister was not operating according to any
firm sense of constitutional principles. -

Finally, the prime minister argued that the premier’s fun-
damental precept of the equality of provinces justified giving
the veto to all provinces. Mulroney also suggested less than
subtly that the premier was at odds with Jean Chrétien, who
supported a full veto for Quebec on all constitutional change.
This was one more example of Mulroney’s frequent attempts
to use the debate over the Accord to encourage splits among
Liberals for purely partisan advantage. The premier declined
the bait and politely corrected the prime minister’s misinter-
pretation: the equality of the provinces related to the exercise
of legislative power vis-a-vis the federal government and to
representation in the Senate. The constitutional amending
formula was outside this: it related to changing the fundamen-
tal law of the nation and required a different approach.

Throughout the debate over the Meech Lake Accord, the
premier’s opposition to any extension of the constitutional
veto to any province was constantly misinterpreted by many
pro-Meech forces; deliberately and deceptively, they suggested
that he was anti-Quebec and that he was opposed to a veto be-
cause he wanted Senate reform to be forced on Quebec. On the
contrary, he never suggested that changes as significant as



Senate reform would occur without Quebec’s consent. But the
fact that no single province had a veto would clearly result in
a more flexible negotiating atmosphere, particularly for
smaller provinces. .

After Mulroney hung up, the premier had to return to a
meeting that he had interrupted, but he quickly gave us the
highlights of Mulroney’s side of the conversation. Later that
same afternoon, a long letter from the prime minister arrived
by fax. Its contents were predictable and frustrating, while its
tone was condescending. It spent some four pages out of a total
of fourteen setting out Canada’s constitutional history a la
Brian Mulroney and alleging that the Meech proposals were
simply the logical conclusion of twenty years of discussion. As
the premier often stated, anyone who is the least bit familiar
with the unequivocal federal opposition to special status for
Quebec up to 1984 would have to conclude that Mulroney’s ac-
count could not have been further from the truth. The re-
mainder of Mulroney’s letter followed the structure of the
premier’s letter and responded to the premier’s arguments
with respect to each of Quebec’s demands.

I'was not at first convinced that a reply to Mulroney’s letter
was necessary, since the disagreements between Wells and the
prime minister were so fundamental. But if a reply was neces-
sary, I preferred a frontal attack on all of the many points it
raised. A couple of days later, the premier himself dictated a
reasonably short letter that focused on three or four particu-
larly egregious points, such as Mulroney’s rewriting of history.
For the most part, I only did some editing.

In one area, however, I strongly disagreed with the
premier. This concerned his statement that if the prime minis-
ter sincerely believed that the distinct society clause would not
create additional legislative jurisdiction for Quebec, then he
should not object to a new subsection that would read, “Noth-
ing in subsection 3 grants any power to the legislature and
government of Quebec in excess of the power of the legislature
and government of any other province.” I believed that such
an amendment was exactly the type of add-on that federal of-
ficials would play with in an attempt to “save” and “add to”
the Accord. And while it might limit the scope of the distinct
society clause, it would definitely not lessen the damage to the
Charter. In addition, whatever the legal merits, the premier
would leave himself open to accusations from Charter activists
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that he was not really concerned with the impact of roles and
responsibilities of governments on our Charter rights, _smﬂu as
long as Newfoundland had the same rights as the Quebec
ment. ,
mo<HmM”mmm these arguments to the premier and suggested that,
if necessary, he just reiterate his proposal to HmnomENm.OcmM
bec’s distinctiveness in a new preamble. The premier Hm_mQMH
my arguments, although in the mbmw he agreed to insert a qu ; -
ifying sentence that read, “There is however a better Swmﬂ to
provide for the constitutional mnmoggomm%os MM Hmuommumo s dis-
i iety” — a reference to the preamble p .
SSoMWMMHMM&me was one area in which I would continue to
have disagreements with the premier. Although he was nmﬂmm%%
supportive of individual rights‘and freedoms as entrenched in
the Charter, he was not instinctive about how Em. Or&.ﬁma oper-
ates to insulate-individual rights from certain actions by
government. Rather, he was much more instinctive about the
exercise of legislative powers and the structure o.m moﬁ«ﬁgmmﬂ.
For example, when he referred to “equality of QﬂNmbmm — his
“first equality” — he usually meant the equality of repre-
sentation of citizens in the House of Commons (that is, one
person, one vote). Indeed, when he was first Qnm.mubm his a%,
scription of the fundamental precepts of mmﬂmamr&.ﬁ. and ﬁrm
three equalities, one of which was the equality of citizens, : e
initially left out any reference to the Charter. Of course he
easily agreed to its insertion, but it always struck him'as some-
incidental. .
SWmmw_Mﬁanmmr for me and many other observers, :m@ﬁ.mb@ of
citizens” referred to the equal application of O.wmzﬁ, EmE,,m to
all Canadians so that we all asserted the mmwzm.zmgm against all
our governments, whether federal or provincial. Among other
things, this means that no government should be given the %W.
hanced power to justify limits on our fundamental rights. : m
distinct society clause would offer exactly that, and .&w m.n_
that this power might be extended equally to all @.HoSbnﬁﬂﬂ
governments was reprehensible. Unfortunately, at times the
premier’s main concern was to ensure that there was no
special legislative status for one province. As a result, he was
sometimes insensitive to the Charter aspect. .
The final internal debate that took place in the premier’s of-
fice before the First Ministers’ Conference @m November 9-10
was on the issue of the rescission of the previous government’s



approval of the Accord. In July 1988 the Conservati
ment of Brian Peckford had approved the >nnmm.m.o <%MM~
government had never held public hearings before approving

I wsms.. that the premier was confident that he had the mandate
to rescind the Peckford government’s approval if satisfacto
nrmbmwm were not made. He had been making his position <m~.w.
clear since his election as party leader in June 1987, and he rmﬂm
&mmﬁmmm& 1t at every opportunity in interviews with the
national media during his election campaign in the spring of
1989, &90&@5 the provincial Tories declined to make the Ac-
cord a specific election issue. The general consensus was that
he had been as fair and forthright as possible with the people
of Newfoundland and Labrador and would be _.cmmmmmﬁmb
eventually seeking rescission.

I felt strongly that the sooner the rescission took place, the
wm:mw — that it would convince the other first ministers of the
premier’s determination and force a debate on the Accord’s fu-
ture well wmmowm the June 23 deadline. The speculation in the
Press once again was veering away from substance and toward
HuuoanE.m.H and tactical issues like the rescission. I believed that
early rescission could bring the debate back to substance.

The premier was aware of my position. From others, he
rmm:ua some complex proposals to table a motion to rescind wbm
useitas alever to make certain changes to the Accord. At eve
opportunity I commented unfavourably on such ﬁwowOm&HW
and I was reassured to find that the premier agreed .Hrm
government would either rescind or not — there would wm no
Machiavellian manipulations of a rescission motion. I also
WSmsm that rescission was not on the premier’s immediate
Mm%% WM M«MM MHM <ﬂo~ bother to continually reiterate my already

I found, however, that Judy Foote also‘ believ
Sooner rescission took place Emvwmzmﬂ A couple of MM%MTMWMM
the Zo<m~._swmn conference, we met with the premier and ar-
gued moH.. immediate rescission. The premier listened closel
but H.mBm.SmQ adamant that rescission, or even the Fc.omc&ow
of a motion to rescind, would be a provocative act just before
the First Ministers’ Conference. No doubt Ontario’s David Pe-
terson and others had expressed this view to him, since it is

precisely the message that was given to me on the eve of the
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conference by Patrick Monahan, a key policy advisor in Peter-
son’s office.

Monahan and I had known each other from law school in
the late 1970s. At first, I was surprised by his strong and vocal
support for the Accord, given my recollection of his views
during the debate leading up to the 1980 referendum. I as-
sumed he was merely being loyal to his employers — first to
Ontario’s attorney general, Ian Scott, and later to David Peter-
son. Yet as time went by, and it became clear that his modus
operandi emphasized process over substance, I concluded he
was consumed with the political game of saving Meech intact.

His call to me was definitely of the “nudge-nudge” variety.
I suppose he hoped that he could establish a back-door in-
fluence on Wells. I was decidedly cool and emphasized that re-
gardless of timing, rescission was inevitable at some point, if
only to implement the changes required to satisfy Newfound-
land’s concerns. Our contacts after this were chilly.

Undoubtedly, any move to rescind the Accord prior to the

First Ministers’ Conference would have had an electric impact.
At the same time, any delay was going to play into the hands
of the Federal-Provincial Relations Office and the equivalent
Ontario unit. A key mandate of both groups was to save Meech
and isolate Newfoundland. Because I was all too conscious of
my limitations as a strategist, I was grateful to Edsel Bonnell
for intermittently warning the premier that Mulroney
operated according to pure political calculations and not prin-
ciple and that he should be wary of sandbags. The premier’s
openness and his willingness to look for the best in people and
to believe the best has always impressed me. Certainly, these
aspects of his character are refreshing in this period of cynical
politics.

The premier tabled Newfoundland’s alternative accord in
the House of Assembly on November 8, the day before the
First Ministers” Conference, and was given a full hour of
Newsworld coverage for the subsequent press conference. At
this point I began to appreciate the far-reaching impact of the
all-news channel on-Canadian politics. Again and again, we
discovered that this channel was probably the single most ef-
fective way of reaching the Canadian public from coast to
coast. It contributed greatly to the groundswell of popular sup-
port that was starting to build for Premier Wells.



With the tabling of the alternative accord, it seemed to me
that Em. momentum was definitely on the side of the Meech
opposition. After all the intense drafting and redrafting of
documents, there was now a slight lull as we all waited to see

#02 the other first ministers would respond at the forthcom-
ing conference.

THREE

The First Ministers’
Conference on the Economy

ber 8, I joined the premier, Mrs. Wells, Judy Foote, Robert

Dornan, and Rosie Frey at the airport for the flight to the
First Ministers’ Conference in Ottawa. Joining us there would
be two assistant deputy ministers of intergovernmental affairs,
Barbara Knight and Fred Way; the cabinet secretary, Hal Stan-
ley; the finance minister, Hubert Kitchen; and the justice min-
ister, Paul Dicks.

I was anticipating the conference with curiosity, particu-
larly the reaction to Wells’s letter to the prime minister. Of
course, the conference was ostensibly about the economy. But
we all knew that it would inevitably focus on the Constitution,
since it was coming so soon after the Manitoba and New Brun-
swick reports on the Accord and Wells’s letter to the prime
minister.

We were staying at the Westin Hotel in downtown Ottawa,
right across from the Conference Centre where the formal
meetings on Thursday and Friday were to be held. The first
event, however, was a dinner of the first ministers that evening
at the new National Art Gallery.

During the afternoon, Wells completed the text of his open-
ing statement. The first draft had been prepared by the Inter-
governmental Affairs Secretariat and focused mainly on
economic issues — the fisheries crisis and the environment. I
had contributed a large chunk on the constitutional issues,
which the premier trimmed down significantly. Even so, I

HZ THE VERY EARLY MORNING on Wednesday, Novem-
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wgocmg it was clear and punchy enough to attract some atten-
on. _

The premier, Judy, Barbara Knight and I headed over in a
car to ?m art gallery shortly before 6 p.m. Barbara and I were
attending the parallel “officials” dinner, and of course Judy

was indispensable, since the premier was mobbed by the

media at every opportunity. Sure enough, as we emerged from
the car, we were blinded by the television lights. Dozens of
journalists were pressing against barrier gates, shouting ques-
tions at <<w=m at the same time. Most of their questions were
about rescission, and I was pleased to hear the premier say,
more or less, that it would have to take place at some point. \

The premier headed into the private dining room, while
Barbara and I joined the bureaucrats from the other provinces
and the federal government. I recognized a few people, such as
Patrick Monahan from Ontario, but for the most part I had to

rely on Barbara for introductions. She had been working with

Newfoundland’s Intergovernmental Affairs Secretariat for at

least a decade and knew most of the other provincial repre-
sentatives. The atmosphere was friendly, like some sort of
mnwn.voH reunion. Everyone with whom we spoke studiously
avoided any discussion of Meech. They seemed uncomfortable

about the possibility that Newfoundland might kill the Accord

or contemplate major changes to it.

The premiers and prime minister emerged around 10 p.m. |

Wells looked exhausted. Apparently he had had some heated
arguments with the prime minister and several of the premi-
ers, most notably David Peterson. This meeting was his first

experience with his counterparts, and he seemed relieved that

it was over, that he had successfully made his points, and that
he gm withstood the pressure that had owioﬁmq been placed
on him. He exchanged a quick word with Gary Filmon, Mani-

toba’s premier, before we all headed back to the hotel. Iwas en- .

couraged to note that Filmon seemed to be an ally — in
contrast to Frank McKenna, who was waffling.

The conference opened at 9:30 the next morning. The |

premiers and mpmw.u finance ministers sat around a large round
table with the prime minister. According to the agenda, the
open session during which the prime minister and premiers

were to make brief opening statements was to conclude by -

noon, so that in camera meetings on various as
¢ pects of the
economy could take place in the afternoon. In the end, how-
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ever, the statements ran so far over their allotted time of fifteen
minutes each that the session dragged on until mid- to late
afternoon.

As I expected, the Constitution was the central issue. As the
premier of Canada’s newest province, Wells spoke last. (This is
the protocol at every meeting of first ministers.) I was shocked
as I listened to premier after premier defend the Accord and
sling political arrows in Wells’s direction. Only Gary Filmon
and, to a small degree, Frank McKenna voiced any criticisms of
the Accord before Wells spoke. Mulroney, for some reason, de-
cided to respond to each premier’s statement, mainly in an
empty platitudinous way. He always took any opportunity to
mellifluously thank the premier for his support for Meech.

By the time Wells spoke, I had lost all illusions that a con-
structive debate was possible. I hoped-that he might depart
from his prepared text to emphasize the constitutional issue
more, given the obvious declarations of war by most of the
other first ministers. If this was what his counterparts were
prepared to do in public, I could appreciate what he must have
gone through the night before at the private dinner.

I need not have worried. The premier read the entire consti-
tutional section of the speech, while cutting back on other
parts. But the most important moment that afternoon was his
riveting exchange with the prime minister. Wells had argued
eloquently that Meech Lake created a Canada with a class A
province, a class B province and eight class C provinces. In-
credibly, in his response to Wells, Mulroney made the same
fatuous argument he had used on the telephone a few days
earlier about the alleged exclusion of Quebec in 1982 as a way

of justifying the Accord. Having listened to the premier firmly
and clearly rebut that argument, I was astounded that Mul-
roney raised it again. Obviously, he had misunderstood and
underestimated the premier; perhaps he believed that Wells
would not try to contradict him in public. In any event, the mo-
ment Mulroney began to speak, I knew that the two were
about to engage in a verbal duel that would have significant re-
percussions across the country and an electrifying effect on the
growing popular support for Wells. As I expected, Wells force-
fully argued that no province was entitled to special legislative
status or to hold up the constitutional development of the
country, whether in 1981 or 1989.



I have since met and spoken to countless people who saw
the exchange either live on television or later in the newscasts,
which replayed it often over the next few days. Without excep-
tion, they all cheered Wells on. Clearly, there was such a wide-
spread and visceral dislike of Mulroney among the Canadian
public that they were delighted that Wells was prepared to
stand up to him and indeed firmly deflate him.

After this exchange with Mulroney, Wells called for the
public to be involved in constitutional reform through a refer-
endum. As Wells explained to reporters after the open session
ended, when he argued that no one province should be able to
hold up constitutional reform, he acknowledged that this also
applied to Newfoundland vis-a-vis the Meech Lake Accord.
But he pointed out that Meech explicitly gave Newfoundland
a veto, and added that, nevertheless, he was prepared to put
Meech to a referendum in Newfoundland should Newfound-
land be the only province not to approve, in order to know the
wishes of the people not just the government. If the people
wanted the government to approve it, despite his own opposi-
tion, the government would follow the people’s verdict. At the
same time, he urged Mulroney to hold a national referendum.
A rather startled Lowell Murray could only argue lamely that
referenda were not the Canadian way.

The First Ministers’ Conference was obviously where Wells
established himself as the leading voice for Meech’s op-
ponents. It also provided him with a great deal of momentum.
For me, the conference was where I discovered the depth of the
Opposition we were going to face from most of the major politi-
cal machines across Canada. It was also my first direct ex-
perience with Canada’s network of intergovernmental
officials. Now that I had dealt with some of them, I knew we
were going to have problems finding any allies at the
bureaucratic level.

T'had already met many of the bureaucrats socially the eve-
ning before. My first professional encounter with a specific
_ subset of them was at a meeting of officials on Thursday eve-

ning in a suite in the Four Seasons Hotel. The purpose of the
meeting was to discuss a possible communiqué for the first
ministers to issue the next day on the Constitution. It was odd
that the meeting was chaired by Patrick Monahan, repre-
senting Ontario, and that the federal officials arrived only just
before it broke up. It confirmed that the feds knew that they
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had little credibility at this point and were relying on Ontario

to take the lead — an incredible way to run a country.

At the meeting, I explained the province’s position — that
Newfoundland’s rescission was just a matter of time. Even the
most minor of suggestions in Newfoundland’s &.ngmsé re-
quired an amendment to the Accord. Therefore, just as a me-
chanical matter, the amended Accord S.oc.E. have to be
reapproved. Needless to say, the Quebec officials were less
than happy. What was more disturbing was mwm. almost
complete lack of support from New Brunswick officials; cer-
tainly this was a sign of things to come. In general, my com-
ments were met with either awkward silence or _concern.
Ultimately the meeting broke up without any conclusion being
reached, and with each person taking a draft copy of a com-

iqué written by Ontario.

Bcbﬂﬂm Muamnmmm TWQ. gone out to celebrate his mmJ?mmnonm
birthday with Mrs. Wells and their son, daughter-in-law and
two grandchildren, who lived in Ottawa. wm.nw at the hotel, I sat
down and wrote a lengthy memo on the night’s events. After
consulting Robert Dornan, I decided to slip it under the door of
the premier’s hotel room to ensure that he read it before the
next day’s events. - . .

On Friday, in an early morning CBC Newsworld interview
with Don Newman, the premier suggested that he could agree
to defer rescission provided he received a firm guarantee from
all other first ministers that they would not proceed to approve
the Accord as it stood, without permitting the current New-
foundland government to first review its position. Within an
hour of the interview, Patrick Monahan came over to speak to
me at the Newfoundland office on the main floor of the Con-
ference Centre. With the transcript in his hand, he suggested
that the premier’s comments were inconsistent with my so-
called “hardline” approach the night before. I pointed out .ﬁrmm
there was of course no inconsistency since at the officials
meeting we had only discussed the overall position of New-
foundland on eventual rescission. We had not &mn.zmwma Fm
type of interim agreement proposed by the premier, which
only the premier and other political Mmmnmm.m BEQ expressly
address. In my view, rescission remained inevitable at some
stage and there was little, point in trying to defer the con-
sequences by emphasizing that it might be delayed for a short
period. _
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The premier’s comment provided Mulroney with a face-
saving way out of the meeting. After a long closed session on
Friday afternoon, an apparently chastened prime minister fi-
nally emerged, to read out the following proviso to his an-
nouncement that Senator Murray would immediately
commence a cross-country tour to discuss the Accord.

The prime minister and all first ministers have given the
premier of Newfoundland an understanding that the Meech
Lake Accord or any variation of it will not be implemented until
the legislature of Newfoundland has reconsidered the matter
and expressed its approval or disapproval. In return, the
premier of Newfoundland has agreed that the legislature will
not, in the meantime, rescind the resolution already passed by
the legislature of Newfoundland.

I immediately began to wonder what sort of manipulative
use the pro-Meech forces might eventually make of this pro-
viso. My fear was the nightmare scenario that Frank
McKenna and Gary Filmon might fold under intense pres-
sure from Ottawa and ratify the Accord in New Brunswick
and Manitoba before the Newfoundland legislature could be
convened to go through the rescission debate. Perhaps I was
excessively suspicious, but I was definitely not alone in wor-
rying about this possibility. Indeed, several members of the
media persisted in asking about the mechanics involved in

rescission and suggested that my nightmare scenario might

become reality.

The November conference was where I noticed the first
evidence of direct media manipulation. On Saturday morning,
several major newspapers ran a story about how the premier
had been prepared to announce immediate rescission in his
opening statement but had been persuaded not to by, among
others, Ontario’s attorney general, Ian Scott. When I met with
the premier, he was furious and in several media interviews
that morning, he responded that nothing could have been

- further from the truth. When Ian Scott had come over to speak
to the premier allegedly about rescission, the conversation had
dealt only with provincial justice matters unrelated to Meech
Lake. I personally saw every draft of the opening statement,

.and the premier had never once considered it necessary to
mention rescission explicitly. One can only speculate about
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which officials planted the stories with otherwise reliable

-journalists — and about their motives.

Instead of immediately returning to St. John’s when the
conference concluded, I arranged to stay on in Ottawa to
spend some time with family and friends. On Saturday, I had
arranged lunch with Eugene Forsey, with whom I had been in
regular contact since 1987. He was a delightful man — witty,
compassionate, an amusing raconteur, and, of course, one of
Canada’s foremost constitutional scholars. In our correspon-
dence and many phone calls, I was always mﬁmnm& at the
depth of his knowledge and the sharpness of his analyses. I
learned a great deal from him.

I decided to ask the premier if he would like to meet Forsey
and, in the end he, Mrs. Wells, Forsey and I all had Euo.r to-
gether in the Westin restaurant. Our conversation was E@%
and interesting, and Forsey obviously enjoyed it. The premier
was characteristically modest when Forsey expressed his relief
and admiration that someone had finally emerged to resist
Mulroney’s sell-out to Quebec nationalists. Forsey made a
number of pertinent historical references that I'm sure the
premier found as useful as I did. For example, he noted that in
1867 Georges Etienne Cartier always spoke about one Canadian
nation (Forsey was thoroughly familiar with. the Confedera-
tion debates) and that there was absolutely no historical mn.vcb.
dation to the argument that there were two founding nations
— the “deux nations” theory — or that Confederation was a
compact among provinces simply to delegate a few powers to
the federal government. At one point a ﬁmmmwﬂ_U% stopped to
shake the premier’s hand and congratulate ?B. mOn. confront-
ing Mulroney, and Forsey commented enthusiastically that
Wells was a true Canadian and entirely right in his opposition
to Meech.

On Saturday afternoon, I finally had a chance to relax and
went flying in a small Cessna with a friend. The flight above
the Gatineau hills was spectacular, but of most wa.mammﬂ was our
pause, literally, over Meech Lake. (My companion wamnﬂmm&
stalling the plane at this point, which I thought was entirely
appropriate.) I had spent most of the summers of my youth at
a cottage on Meech Lake, and until the Accord mwﬁmmamm.\ Thad
always remembered them happily. One of my regrets is that
Meech Lake became indelibly attached to the Accord and to all
the negative associations that went with it.



On Sunday, I returned to the more relaxed atmosphere of
St. John's. It felt as if we were in a brief lull before another
storm, with none of us certain about where we were headed. A
few days later, the first of many enormous waves of correspon-
dence began to arrive from across Canada in response to
Premier Wells’s exchange with the prime minister at the con-
ference. This one was so overwhelming that I really did not
turn my mind to how to deal with it until shortly before Christ-
mas.

One fax in particular provided some light relief. Shortly
after our return, the premier received a copy of a cartoon from
the Vancouver Province showing a back view of Wells urinating
into Meech Lake, with Mulroney by his side. It arrived with a
hand-written note that read, “Clyde, is that you?” and was
signed by Bill Vander Zalm. We all had a good laugh. Certainly
it confirmed the “Governor Moonbeam” image of British
Columbia’s premier.

Wells wanted each letter that he received to be answered in
some direct way, except for the obviously bigoted anti-Quebec,
anti-French ones. Ultimately we established a system whereby
I'would read and file the supportive letters each day according
to province or territory. These letters would then receive a
short reply from the premier signed by the automatic signature
arm. I would also identify special letters from academics and
from others who had specific requests; all of these would get
detailed personalized replies from the premier. The pro-Meech
letters, of which there were very few, always received special
attention and a substantive letter setting.out the province’s
position. :

The anti-Quebec letters — the “radical” letters as I called
them for easy reference — received a reply only from me. My
reply did not say that it was written on behalf of the premier,

since we had decided that everything possible should be done |

to distance him from any accusations that he was encouraging
anti-bilingualism. My letter started out: “It appears that you
have misunderstood the position of the government of New-
foundland and Labrador on the Meech Lake Accord ...” In
order to ensure that no letters slipped through the cracks, all
replies from the premier also emphasized “the government’s
_belief that raising the level of bilingualism has a unifying im-
pact and should be encouraged ...” A
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I was unprepared for the responses to my “radical” letter. I
was accused of everything from being a communist to illegally
opening the premier’s “personal and confidential” mail. (To
this day, it still amazes me how many people believe that the
premier must read and reply personally to all correspondents!)
A few frustrated people even went to the effort of obtaining the
premier’s home address and writing to him there, asking him
whether my letter indeed reflected the government’s views.
They then received a response directly from the premier saying
that yes indeed, my letter did accurately reflect the govern-
ment’s position. From time to time I found this entertaining.

At one point, I did try to eliminate the angry responses by
softening the letter somewhat and enclosing a copy of one of
the premier’s speeches with a section highlighted that dealt
with his commitment to bilingualism and to the Charter. Soon
after,a woman called the office to congratulate the premier and
then solemnly advised the receptionist to warn him that he
had “an enemy working in his office” by the name of Deborah
Coyne. When the premier was a guest on a Winnipeg hotline
show in February 1990, I almost fell off my seat when a caller
mentioned receiving one of my letters and asked whether I
was authorized to write the response. Fortunately, the premier
said yes without blinking an eye.

The “radical mail” was only a minuscule part of the 30,000
letters the premier received between November 1989 and July
1990. The vast majority of writers supported him fully and ex-
pressed their pleasure that the country finally had a principled
politician who had the courage of his convictions. Typically,
the letters implored the premier to “hang in.”
~ As the months passed and I experienced various degrees of
exhaustion, I sometimes asked myself whether I should con-
tinue to put so much time into answering the mail. But my
doubts never lasted long. I was satisfied that the correspon-
dence was not adversely affecting my other activities and con-
vinced that it was essential for the premier to stay in touch
with his popular support across the country. His replies de-
monstrated the premier’s commitment to ensuring that the
views of ordinary people were heard in the constitutional re-
form process. From my experience with the Canadian Coali-
tion on the Constitution prior to my arrival in St. John’s, I knew
how much it comforted those frustrated Canadians to receive



a direct response from someone who was in a position to ar-
ticulate their concerns and their vision of Canada.

One outcome of the First Minister’s Conference in Novem-
ber was that Lowell Murray made a tour of the provincial capi-
tals and met with his counterparts on a bilateral basis. As the
minister responsible for intergovernmental affairs, Wells was
his counterpart in Newfoundland.

The meeting with Murray took place in St. John’s in the
government caucus room on December 8. Also attending were
Norman Spector, the secretary to cabinet for federal-provincial
relations, and Mary Dawson and David Paget from the FPRO.
Not surprisingly, neither the premier nor anyone else in the
Newfoundland contingent — most notably the justice minis-
ter, Paul Dicks — had any real sense of what Murray or Spector
intended to accomplish. From my perspective, I hoped that a
direct exchange with Wells might convince Murray of the
depth of Newfoundland’s opposition and persuade him to ad-
vise Mulroney to make a face-saving but responsible national
statement to the effect that the Accord had to be reopened and
that negotiations would have to continue.

We sat down in the caucus room, and Murray agreed that
the premier should take us through Newfoundland’s alterna-
tive accord. Murray is a stiff, expressionless man who can be
excessively solemn and intense when he speaks. Spector is

more animated but equally inscrutable. Journalist Andrew

Cohen has described Spector accurately as “wily, masterful

and occasionally abrasive. In the constitutional campaign he

was the choreographer.” While seated at the table with Murray
and Spector, I had the uncomfortable feeling that the pair of
them were playing cards with their hands carefully concealed,
constantly on the look-out for ways to manipulate Wells into
dropping his opposition to Meech.

Several things about the meeting disturbed me. One was |

that Murray focused on the premier’s suggestion that an add-
on to the Accord could deal with any concerns about the

_special legislative status. (This was the add-on that would state -

that nothing in the distinct society provision gave Quebec any

powers that other provinces did not have.) I had fully expected

this issue to come up, although of course I had hoped it would

. not. The subject was raised just before we ended the formal

part of the meeting and broke for lunch. Fortunately, the

premier wound up the discussion by reminding Murray that .’ |
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he would much prefer that the recognition of Quebec as a dis-
tinct society be placed in the preamble. Nevertheless, my
guard was up. _ :

A second disturbing development occurred at lunch. We
briefly discussed the immigration provisions, which unfor-
tunately always somehow got lost or relegated to bottom pri-
ority in any meeting. I pointed out to Spector that the
provisions might permit all provinces to conclude and en-
trench in the Constitution agreements similar to the one being
offered to Quebec, which wanted increased control over immi-
gration. I also argued that it appeared to give the provinces at
least the potential right to control the selection of immigrants
from within Canada. This, along with the many flaws in the pro-
visions, guaranteed the emasculation of the federal govern-
ment’s role in immigration. Spector acknowledged the specific
provision, but then commented blithely to the effect that the
feds just would not sign any agreement containing it with any
province other than Quebec. I was shocked. This response —
that the Constitution could be treated like a flexible corporate
by-law — confirmed all my worst fears about the federal ap-
proach to constitutional reform. That the federal government
would agree to give the provincial governments certain consti-
tutional rights while at the same time publicly admitting that it
did not intend to respect them is incredible. A more ir-
responsible position would be hard to find.

In any event, the meeting with Murray and Spector was in-
conclusive. Although both sides exchanged positions and, for
example, debated the Newfoundland interpretation of the dis-
tinct society clause, I did not get the impression that Murray
was really interested in exploring some of Newfoundland'’s al-
ternative proposals with the other provinces. Murray did,
however, suggest that the premier himself try out some of his
ideas on other premiers. In the coming months, he proceeded
to do precisely that; he accepted speaking engagements across
the country over the ensuing two to three months, while also
having bilateral meetings with various premiers.

The intensity of the national debate seemed to moderate
with the approach of Christmas — a welcome development.
The premier could now concentrate on the fisheries crisis, and
I could attack the immense correspondence backlog.

But it was certainly not a “break.” With the assistance of
four employees of a small word-processing company and



three high school students who agreed to fold and seal corre-
spondence, I worked every day and almost every night except
for Christmas Eve and Christmas Day. There were even seven
Om.gm “team,” as we called ourselves, in the office until almost
midnight on New Year’s Eve. Despite the absence of any
holiday, with the correspondence finally under control by
early January, I was able to focus more clearly on the next set of
challenges from the pro-Meech forces.

FOUR

The Pro-Meech Forces
- Regroup

REMIER WELLS HAD THREE speaking engagements in

mid-January; they proved to be a good follow-up to the

First Ministers’ Conference. The first, on Tuesday,
January 16, was sponsored by the University of Toronto’s De-
partment of History and Students’ Association. A few days
earlier we had discussed whether the premier should give
prepared speeches. He definitely prefers speaking without
notes and is very good at it. But both Judy Foote and I agreed
that, at least for some speaking engagements, a prepared text
would be useful as a means to ensure that interested people
could learn more about his views. We had already literally
hundreds of requests for copies of his correspondence with the
prime minister and for copies of Newfoundland’s alternative
proposals.

The premier decided that a prepared text would not be nec-
essary for the U of T speech; instead, he planned to produce
one for a Montreal engagement three days later. But on
January 6 he received a bombastic letter from Robert Stanfield
and Jack Pickersgill attacking his position. Stanfield was a
former leader of the federal Tories; Pickersgill had been a Lib-
eral cabinet minister. The premier decided that at U of T he
would release publicly the text of his written reply to Stanfield
and Pickersgill and then ad lib his speech based on the corre-
spondence. .

The premier’s strategy to respond publicly to Stanfield and
Pickersgill was a good one. They had already released their let-



ter to the media and had been given some significant coverage.
stx people saw the letter as a bitter personal attack on the
premier and questioned the propriety of the authors’ veiled
threats against Atlantic Canada. For example, the concluding
sentence in their letter apocalyptically stated, “It is almost bey-
ond belief that any Atlantic premier would for no reason based
on mm.nv expose Atlantic Canada to even greater difficulties
than its people already face, much less give encouragement to
$.~Omm who would break up Canada.” The premier was espe-
cially disturbed by their threatening tone, which he considered
totally irresponsible, in that it contributed absolutely nothing
to Mb informed moderate debate on the substance of the Ac-
cord.

The premier’s reply to Stanfield and Pickersgill was
completed late on January 15, which left Rosie Frey and me
just enough time to make some fifty copies to take with us to
distribute in Toronto the next day. I also worked late to ensure
that the French translator received the final copy and to make
arrangements to have the translation attached to the English
version as soon as possible. The premier was very insistent
that any major speech or public document like this be trans-
lated into French; he wanted to be sure that Quebeckers were
aware of what he was saying. :

Early the next morning, the premier, Robert Dornan and I

boarded a direct flight to Toronto. The weather in St. John’s -

was the usual rainy snow with a lot of wind, but the flight left
almost on time. Then, however, my nightmare scenario un-

folded — Pearson airport in Toronto was fogged in, and we

were diverted to Dorval airport outside Montreal. At around
11 am., as we sat on the tarmac, Robert used a cellular phone
to try to arrange alternative transport. Since the U of T speech

was not scheduled until 4 p.m., there was a chance we could .

still make it by hiring a car, although none of us particularly
_oA.qum forward to the long drive. Fortunately some sixty
minutes later, word came that the fog had lifted sufficiently at
Pearson that we could land there.

~ We arrived just in time to get a lift from a member of the
Ontario Provincial Police directly to the University of
Toronto’s Department of History. (Apparently it is protocol in

Ontario for the premier’s office to arrange OPP assistance -

when another premier visits Ontario.) A casual luncheon had
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been arranged with some of Toronto’s academics, such as his-
torians Michael Bliss and Ramsay Cook.

Our next stop was a quick meeting between Wells and
David Peterson at Queen’s Park. Peterson was his usual glad-
handed, jovial, “Hi there, Clyde” self. The two men met in pri-
vate for about an hour. Robert and I stayed in another room
with one of Peterson’s executive assistants. We were joined
briefly by Patrick Monahan, with whom I discussed the
premier’s reply to Pickersgill and Stanfield.

Monahan was interested to find that the premier had also
released, as an appendix to his reply, a legal opinion prepared
for the Newfoundland government by a Toronto lawyer
named Neil Finkelstein. This opinion demonstrated that the
distinct society clause did give Quebec a special legislative sta-
tus. Monahan seemed concerned that, as a result of this release,
there would now be pressure placed on Ontario to release the
legal opinion prepared by Professor Peter Hogg to which
Finkelstein had made critical reference. I expressed surprise
that the Hogg opinion was not already publicly available. My
instincts, much like the premier’s, are to presume that such
things should be made public unless there are very strong rea-
sons to keep them private. To treat Hogg's opinion as some-
thing private seemed excessively secretive to me.

The premier didn’t have much to say about his meeting
with Peterson. I suspect that much of it was simply a restate-
ment of opposing positions. We barely made it over to U of T's
Convocation Hall in time for his speech. Several hundred
people were in the audience, and the media were heavily rep-
resented. The premier got off to a slow start, but ultimately
used his reply to Stanfield and Pickersgill to make a number of
punchy points outlining his opposition to the Accord. His ar-
guments generated plenty of spontaneous clapping and ulti-
mately a standing ovation.

He was mobbed by the media afterwards, but we managed
to plough our way out fairly quickly to the waiting OPP car,
which whisked us back to the airport for the flight back to St.
John'’s. Part of the reason for the media crush was that Jean

Chrétien, a candidate at the time for the leadership of the fed-
eral Liberal Party, had just made a major speech on the Accord
in Ottawa. Some journalists suggested to the premier that
Chrétien’s position sounded similar to his own. I was en-
couraged to hear this, since I was convinced that Wells would



have an easier time of it if he had an ally at the national level.
After getting back to St. John’s at midnight, I caught a few re-
ports on the late-night Newsworld telecast. They seemed to
confirm that Chrétien indeed had clearly bashed the Accord
and outlined a credible alternative to it.

On Thursday night, the premier, Robert, Judy and I flew to
Montreal for the next day’s speaking engagement. After the ex-
perience with weather delays on Tuesday, I was relieved that
we were leaving the night before. Mrs. Wells joined us, since
she and the premier were heading south for a short vacation
early Saturday morning.

Once again, we revised the premier’s speech right down to
the wire. I had written the basic draft, but as usual the premier
made many additions and revisions. Even so, the translation
was ready by Thursday, which was time enough to make co-
pies for the media and for distribution in Montreal. I was
pleased with the speech because it clearly debunked all the
pro-Meech historical revisionism about how Quebec was al-
legedly “excluded” in 1982, and set out the flaws in the Accord
in a no-nonsense way.

Friday was a busy day. In the morning, the premier had an
interview with the editorial board of Montreal’s Gazette. What
an eye-opener! I was amazed at the hostility the premier met
there, particularly from the editor, Norman Webster, especially

considering the harm the Accord might do to Quebec’s anglo--

phone minority, which was the Gazette’s main readership. The
following day, Webster revealed how utterly insensitive he

was to public sentiment by starting his editorial comment on

the premier with “Save us from principled politicians!” His
view was that Wells’s inflexibility would wrongly destroy the
Accord. Yet principled politicians are precisely what the

Canadian people want and what they are most certainly en-

titled to.

After the meeting with Webster, we headed over to the
Bonaventure Hotel ballroom for the Canadian Club luncheon.

_ The turnout was big, and as in Toronto, the media were outin .

force. Wells was joined at the head table by Pierre Trudeau,

Eugene Forsey, and three former Liberal cabinet ministers, -

Marc Lalonde, Donald Johnston and Charles Caccia.

I'sat at one of the individual tables with Robert Dornan and

a few others. The premier’s speech was generally well re-

ceived, and his demand that the Charter’s :og:rmﬁmb&bm :
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lause be repealed at the earliest opportunity received spon-
Mmbmocm ms%msmﬂmwbma applause. Although the people at my
table supported Meech, they were all impressed by Wells’s
i ity and convictions. - o
mSn%Mw_ﬂ the premier met privately with Robert Bourassa in his
Montreal office. This meeting lasted some @E..Q minutes. The
premier indicated at a press conference immediately mm.massa
that he and Bourassa continued to disagree, but remained on
cordial terms. Quebec’s intergovernmental .mm.mmu.m minister, Gil
Rémillard, and his deputy minister _oamm.% joined Robert, Judy
and me in an adjacent office. Rémillard is extremely cool and
aloof. All I recall is his ironic greeting to me: “Welcome to the
isti ociety.” _ .
&ﬁ%mwwmﬁ mﬂww\ at 5 p.m., was the moot courtroom of Kmﬂ&
University Law School. The room was mﬁz to overflowing. I
was impressed with the premier’s stamina — Qmmw:m Em
gruelling day, he obviously enjoyed speaking yet again, @Wm
time without a prepared text. His remarks were followed M
some tough but stimulating questions from ._uog students an
professors. The audience was more responsive than the one at
the Canadian Club, and the premier seemed to enjoy this.

I returned to St. John’s on the weekend while the premier
and Mrs. Wells continued on to their vacation. I spent Boﬁ.&
my time answering letters and considering how to deal SEW
the latest pro-Meech initiative — specifically, the emergence o

-a number of pseudo-private pro-Meech organizations.

The first of these groups had contacted me in mid-Decem-
ber. It called itself the Association in Favour of Meech Lake,
and its members were Quebec wcmwbmmmwmo.ﬁm. It was led by
Claude Castonguay, a close friend and confidante of Bourassa

AR - o
~ and a former minister in the Quebec premier’s cabinet in the

1970s. Castonguay is a heavy-set man with an abrasive manner
whom I do not consider a truly committed Canadian federal-
ist. My impression of him is that his world H.,m<ou<m.m mu.osbg
Quebec and especially the business community, aﬁznr is %oﬁ
_surprising, given his provincial government experience. W mb
he speaks to someone with whom he may disagree or who
does not accept his version of Canadian Emwoﬂa he becomes
condescending and visibly exasperated. Certainly, he Smmwm
less-than-ideal person to serve as an envoy for the Meech Lake
Accord outside Quebec.
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Castonguay’s executive assistant was a Montreal lawyer
named Bill McNamara. We knew each other from our bar ad-
mission days in Toronto in 1982-83. Perhaps this is why he had
been designated to call me to set up a meeting with the premier
sometime in the new year. This meeting was scheduled for
February 7. From the start and with the premier’s full knowl-
edge, I made clear to McNamara the government’s position
that the Accord had to be amended and that formal rescission
was simply a matter of time. I also suggested that it would be
helpful if Castonguay and his group put equal pressure on
Bourassa and the prime minister to exhibit some flexibility
themselves.

I assume that Castonguay’s group and the similar ones that
subsequently emerged to defend the dying Accord were bank-

ing on the precedent of the successful pro-free trade blitz led -

by the Business Council on National Issues (BCNI) and its
head, Tom d’Aquino. In part, Castonguay’s group supported
the Accord because its members were obsessed with the deficit
and certainly did not object that the Accord significantly
weakened the federal government’s ability to regulate and in-
tervene in the economy. (Decentralization allows business to
minimize regulation by playing off one province against
another.)

Clearly the business groups, like most of Canada’s politici-

ans, never appreciated the public’s depth of concern with the -
Accord and its widespread distrust of all political leaders ex-

cept Premier Wells and, later, Gary Filmon. Equally, they never

appreciated Wells’s personal stamina or his determination to |

put principle ahead of politics. This incredible gap between the
hopes ~and expectations of the Canadian people and the re-
sponses of their political and business leaders is in my view

one of the lessons most worth learning from the painful Meech |

Lake debate. :

Soon after Castonguay’s group contacted us, I heard
rumours that Tom d’Aquino was beginning to gear up the
BCNI again, and that a staunch pro-Meecher named Gordon
Robertson, a former Clerk of the Privy Council, was going to
be its primary spokesman. The BCNI, many of whose mem-

bers also belonged to Castonguay’s group, eventually emerged

under the name “Canadians for a Unifying Constitution.”
Later, a third group, made up mostly of academics, and led by
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a couple of McGill law professors, appeared under the name
“Friends of Meech Lake.”

In late December, shortly after the call from McNamara, the
premier received an open letter from Ghislain Dufour, the head
of the BCNI's Quebec equivalent, the Conseil du Patronat du
Québec (CPQ), urging him to support the Accord. Many of the
CPQ’s members also belonged to the Association in Favour of
Meech Lake, so this letter provided an excellent early opportu-
nity to respond with a carefully drafted seven-page response.
In that letter, the premier set out the principles underlying
Newfoundland’s position, and its alternative proposals, and
urged the CPQ to participate constructively and substantively
in the debate. This letter was delivered in the first few days of
January. I immediately .sent a copy to McNamara and Tom
d’Aquino in the hope that they would reassess their role in the
debate before the positions became more entrenched. Needless
to say, it had little impact.

I did, however, receive another call from McNamara
shortly before the premier’s scheduled address to the
Canadian Club of Montreal on January 19. He relayed none too
subtly that Castonguay very much wanted to meet briefly with
the premier before his speech in order. to moderate the
premier’s remarks. That Castonguay would presume to think
that a private conversation could alter the premier’s convic-
tions and principles was incredible. I explained that the
premier was fully aware of Castonguay’s position and that it
would not be a valuable use of time to meet before the speech.
(The meeting with him for February 7 was already settled and
confirmed.) I added that the premier’s position and his sub-
stantive concerns with the Accord were based on principle and
were articulated from the perspective of Newfoundland and
Labrador and would not be affected by what Castonguay had
to say. The matter was then dropped. But after the Canadian
Club speech, Castonguay quickly found a soapbox and used it
to criticize the premier and reinforce the image of him as in-
transigent, anti-Quebec, and so forth.

The premier and I had discussed all of these pro-Meech in-
itiatives. He regretted the attempts to avoid all substantive de-
bate about the merits of the Accord, but was undisturbed — he
was sufficiently confident of his own views and of the wide-
spread support for them. I have to assume that throughout the
remaining months, the pro-Meech forces always thought that
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the premier could be ground down and persuaded to abandon
his position. They therefore willingly and irresponsibly partic-
ipated in Mulroney’s game of high brinkmanship in the hope
that a crisis atmosphere would undermine the critical popular
support for Wells, which was continuing to grow with almost
every poll, at least outside Quebec.

What was particularly disturbing was the increasingly re-
lentless tone of the pro-Meech rhetoric, and the apocalyptic
predictions that Quebec would separate if the Accord failed.
History will undoubtedly record that it was these “federalists”
who did the most damage to the Canadian national fabric, who
fed the nationalist fires in Quebec by encouraging people to
think that the opposition was anti-Quebec. As the Gazette
journalist William Johnson pointed out, at least during the de-
bates of the late 1970s and early 1980s there was always a pre-
sumption that federalism worked in Quebec’s interests so that
it was worth taking Lévesque’s “beau risque” to pursue satis-
factory reforms. But here we had the federalist spokespeople in
Quebec building the case against federalism in the event of the
Accord’s failure and seriously undermining the federalist
cause in Quebec.

Castonguay, McNamara, and some six or seven Quebec
business leaders and members of the Association in Favour of
Meech Lake arrived for their meeting with the premier at mid-
morning on February 7. I was not expecting much. The day
before, I had spoken briefly to McNamara and he candidly ad-
mitted that Castonguay did not expect to change the premier’s
mind, but had to come “for communication reasons.”

The premier was tied up with the ever-worsening fisheries
crisis in the boardroom adjacent to his office. I joined the asso-
ciation’s members in the premier’s office while we waited for
him. The atmosphere was cool and our conversation stilted.
We all studiously avoided talking about the Constitution until
the premier arrived.

In the ensuing exchange of views, Castonguay and two or
three others politely put forward the now-standard pro-Meech
arguments: that this was the Quebec round, and that Bourassa
could not change Meech because of the strong and vocal Parti
Québécois opposition. The premier calmly rebutted each argu-
ment in turn, to the obvious exasperation of Castonguay. At
one point, for example, the premier stated that the possibility
that the PQ could take power was not a reason to rush to pass
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Meech but, on the contrary, a reason not to put the distinct
society powers in the Constitution which would then be ex-
ploited to their full destructive potential by any PQ govern-
ment.

What struck me the most was the extent to which the Que-
bec business leaders were insensitive to the concerns of
Canadians outside Quebec, particularly those in the less
advantaged outer regions such as Newfoundland. In one
memorable exchange, one participant warned the premier
against reopening the Accord since this would result in new
demands being put on the table and it would then take years to
get a new agreement. He suggested that Canadians just
wanted to put constitutional concerns behind them and let
their lives and jobs go on as usual. There was dead silence for
a moment. Then the premier graciously replied that, unlike the
more well-off Canadians in central Canada, the people of
Newfoundland and Labrador did not want their lives to go on
as usual. They wanted to improve their relatively poor living
standards and were concerned that Meech would further
diminish their opportunities to advance.

This was a theme that the premier would consistently drive
home in response to frequent patronizing comments by
Bourassa, federal officials, and others that Newfoundland was
just a basket case subsidized by other governments. The
people in Newfoundland and Labrador do not enjoy living on
handouts, he would reply. With the appropriate investments in
education, infrastructure, and so on, it could be ensured that
everyone earned his or her way in a dignified manner, and
sterile subsidies could be eliminated. Yet this was never going
to happen unless the outer regions were given a greater voice
in federal decisions — such as through an elected Senate — so
that they could encourage more regionally sensitive develop-
ment patterns. .

The Quebec business group also badly misread the premier
himself. About a month later, McNamara and a Montreal busi-
nessman named Philip O’Brien returned to St. John's after re-
questing further discussions with the premier. I sat in on the
meeting. It turned out they believed that the premier’s opposi-
tion could be “bought off” by a change in the mandate of the
new Department of Industry, Science, and Technology so that
it included broader regional development responsibilities for
all provinces rather than just Quebec or Ontario. (The premier



has always been highly critical of the new department and has
often used it as an example of undesirable federal legislation
that an effective Triple-E Senate could block.) I was flabber-
gasted by their naivete. Needless to say, the premier said abso-
lutely not. It would be difficult to find a better example of the
politics of manipulation or of the narrow frame of reference
within which the pro-Meech forces were operating.

About the same time as the meeting with Castonguay in
February, Stanfield and Pickersgill replied to the premier’s
Toronto speech and more or less repeated the views set out in
their first letter. This time however, the premier decided that
his hands were full dealing with his fellow first ministers at the
official level, and that there was no time to engage in time-con-
suming side debates with private citizens. An appropriate ac-
knowledgement to this effect was sent. A similar approach was
subsequently applied to some of the other coordinated corre-
spondence received from the various pro-Meech groups. An
exception was made for letters sent to all members of the
House of Assembly when the obvious intent was to undermine
the premier’s support in his own government.

For example, when Gordon Robertson first wrote on behalf
of the Canadians for a Unifying Constitution, the premier sent
a long, carefully drafted response and circulated it among the
caucus, whose members had all received the Canadians for a
Unifying Constitution’s letter. Similarly, when the Friends of
Meech Lake sent all MHAs a legal opinion signed by more
than thirty law professors contesting the government’s inter-
pretation of the distinct society clause and the spending power
provisions, the premier’s response again was carefully drafted
and circulated.

But when Gordon Robertson, Tom d’Aquino, and Jake
Warren sent a letter addressed to all first ministers (though it
was obviously targeted at Wells and Filmon) with some sug-
gestions for add-ons to the Accord, I did not even start to draft
a possible substantive response for the premier, as I typically
would have. Coming as it did at the height of the Special Com-
mittee hearings on the proposed companion resolution in
April 1990, there was only time for a detailed memorandum
critiquing the substance of the letter. The premier ultimately
agreed that I would just acknowledge receipt of it on his be-
half. It was impossible and almost absurd to contemplate “ne-
gotiating” with private interest groups and individuals.
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However well-meaning, they were obviously trying to fill the
void in Canada’s national leadership left by the Mulroney
government’s complete loss of credibility. At the very least, the
development was sad and revealing testimony of the decrepit
state of federal-provincial relations.
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vacation, a bombshell arrived from Victoria, British

Columbia. It was Bill Vander Zalm’s proposal to save
Fm Accord. The element that attracted the most media atten-
tion was a proposal to recognize each of the provinces and
territories as distinct through an explicit reference in the Con-
stitution. While this is not entirely accurate since there was also
supposed to be a reference to Canada’s distinct national iden-

OZ JANUARY 22, WHILE PREMIER Wells was still on

tity, Vander Zalm’s proposal was ridiculed as creating ten or -

twelve “distinct societies.”
From my perspective, the most disturbing aspect of the

proposal was the plan to “unbundle” the Accord and stage in

its implementation over a period of five years. As early as
November 4, 1989, I had written a memo to the premier en-
titled “Perennial Unbundling Nightmares.” Up to this point
the Accord’s supporters had always stressed again and again
that the Accord was a seamless web and had to be passed as a
package unanimously by all governments. This requirement
for unanimity was what gave Newfoundland the explicit right
to kill the Accord. The premier was always asking his critics
why on earth, if they didn’t like unanimity in this case, they
were extending the requirement to yet more areas of constitu-
tional reform — to the Meech changes to the constitutional
amending procedures. v

But many knowledgeable commentators of repute had
noted since the beginning that parts of the Accord could be
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passed under the general amending formula that required the
approval only of the federal government and seven of the pro-
vinces having 50 percent of the population. Some even argued
(wrongly in my view) that if the Accord was taken apart, or
“unbundled,” certain elements could already be formal
amendments to the Constitution since they had the approval
of seven provincial governments having 50 percent of the
population. (Most commentators agreed that new resolutions
of approval would be necessary.)

This unbundling with no need for new resolutions is effec-
tively what Vander Zalm was suggesting. His proposal was
based on a very shaky legal opinion prepared by a University
of Toronto law professor named Katherine Swinton. He was
also suggesting that the distinct society amendments could be
accomplished with the approval of only seven governments
under the general amending formula. I did not share this view:
under the existing constitutional amendment procedures, any-
thing that affects the use of the French and English languages
is subject to the unanimity rule. In this I had some unlikely
though upon reflection perfectly logical allies — Jacques
Parizeau and the nationalists in Quebec, and certain Quebec
constitutional experts such as Senator Gérald Beaudoin. Of
what possible value to Quebec were the already vague powers
offered by the distinct society clause if they could sub-
sequently be amended by a combination of provinces and the
federal government without Quebec? Not surprisingly,
Parizeau weighed in against Vander Zalm’s proposal, which
was clearly based on the assumption that the general “7 and
50” formula applied to the distinct society clause.

Despite my own negative assessment of the legal basis for
unbundling, there is no doubt that Vander Zalm’s initiative
gave credibility to the awful spectre and gave the media some-
thing to pursue in what almost amounted to a campaign to
find new angles that would save the Accord.

Although a few friends commented that unbundling was
politically impossible, and that I shouldn’t worry, I did worry,
and concluded that the best defence was offence. So I tried to
sound the alarm as widely as possible among those people in
a position to counter Vander Zalm’'s proposal. Required of
course were two premiers, in addition to Wells and Filmon,
who would be prepared to say no to such a strategy and pre-
vent the application of even the general amending formula.



This was based on the very reasonable assumption that Frank
McKenna had now left the anti-Meech camp.

Two obvious candidates were Vander Zalm himself and
one of the other western premiers. Popular discontent with the
Accord was growing daily in the West, as was support for
Premier Wells. Both would be boosted by a series of speeches
that the premier was about to make in Vancouver, Edmonton,
Regina, and Winnipeg between February 12 and 16.

Atnoon on Friday, February 9, the premier, Robert Dornan,
Judy Foote, and I flew to Calgary. The morning was a scramble,
since overnight the premier had made some major additions to
his speech on the Accord. This speech would be the basis for
his remarks in all four western provinces. Nevertheless, with
Rosie Frey’s calm organization, we managed to complete work
on the speech and arrange for copies to take with us.

After stopping in Halifax and Toronto, we arrived in Cal-
gary around 9 p.m. Saturday, February 10 was taken up with a
meeting on Senate reform organized by the Canada West
Foundation. Among those attending were Gordon Robertson,
Senator Duff Roblin of Manitoba, former B.C. Liberal leader
Gordon Gibson, and Professor Alan Cairns from the Univer-
sity of British Columbia. The discussion was fairly detailed
and intense on virtually all aspects of a reformed Senate from
its composition to its election to its powers. While some of the
attendees supported the Accord, all were impressed with the

premier’s grasp of the topic and the sincerity of his convic- -

tions. They obviously found it quite unusual that a provincial

premier would take a day out of his schedule to debate sub- A

stantive reforms with academics and others.

The meeting broke up about 3 p-m., and the premier,
Robert and I caught an afternoon flight to Edmonton. (Judy
went on ahead to Vancouver, where the premier was to com-
mence his formal speaking engagements.) The premier had
agreed to speak at the annual convention of the Alberta Liberal .

Party at the request of its leader, Laurence Decore, with whom
- he was on friendly terms. Decore was staunchly anti-Meech
* and his constitutional position was very close to Wells’s.

The convention was in the garish Fantasyland Hotel, which

certainly gave it a peculiar atmosphere. The attendance was

good — in part because of Wells's popularity but also because
the national Liberal Party leadership race was underway and -
candidates such as Jean Chrétien and Paul Martin were there.
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The premier’s dinner speech bashing Meech, which he
delivered off-the-cuff, was a tour de force that was wildly ap-
plauded. Anyone there who doubted Wells’s ability to sustain
the Meech opposition must have been reassured.

Decore’s brother flew us back to Calgary in a small plane
late that evening, giving us a view of Alberta’s bleak winter
landscape. Since we didn’t have to leave for Vancouver until
mid-afternoon on Sunday, I spent the morning walking around
Calgary in the spring-like weather. The obvious affluence was
quite a contrast to St. John’s and reminded me of Em very real
disparities that existed between the different regions of the
country. ‘ o

We arrived in Vancouver late in the afternoon and joined
Judy at the Pan-Pacific Hotel. This was mﬁ. beginning of four
gruelling days packed with interviews, meetings, .mﬂa.mwmmnrmm.
Throughout, the premier’s stamina was impressive; it was ob-
vious that he thrives on constitutional debate and genuinely
enjoys exchanges with journalists and others. .

Monday, February 12, started at 8 a.m. with a breakfast
meeting organized by the Vancouver wing of the Canadian Bar
Association. Again, the premier spoke without a prepared text
and was very warmly received by most of the lawyers present.
From there, we went on to a meeting with Vander Zalm at his -
downtown Vancouver office. This was Wells’s chance to com-
ment directly on the B.C. premier’s proposal to save Meech.
Since Vander Zalm wanted his officials and his attorney
general, Bud Smith, to be present, I also attended the meeting.
In person, I found Vander Zalm to be mxmn.sz as the 5&.5
generally portrayed him — Mr. Personality, with a great grin
but little substance. He appeared acutely aware of how popu-
lar Wells was in British Columbia because of his Meech stand.
In fact, he seemed to care more about ensuring that Wells did
not publicly criticize his proposal to save Meech and m.ﬁgma
depress his ratings with the B.C. electorate than about discuss-
ing Newfoundland’s position or his own proposal. .

During the thirty-minute meeting, Wells expressed his
doubts about Vander Zalm’s proposal to recognize every pro-
vince’s distinctiveness, noting among other things that such a
proposal, if accepted, would accentuate Canada’s differences
rather than bring its people together. While the issue of unbun-
dling was not directly addressed, he also mentioned his view
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that most elements of the Accord required unanimous provin-
cial approval.

After the meeting, each premier was to give his own press
conference in an adjacent room. Vander Zalm wanted to en-
sure that Wells would indicate that B.C.’s proposal was at least,
worth looking at. One of his aides told me this directly. Know-
ing that the premier did not think much of the proposal, I was
interested to see what he would say. In the end, he politely said
that he would certainly have his officials look at it. I choked at
this, since I knew he already knew what I thought of it. He then
added immediately that he would equally consider any other
proposal that came down from any other official or non-official
source. Needless to say, this had the effect of downgrading
Vander Zalm’s intervention, which was not what Vander
Zalm'’s aides had in mind.

After a luncheon speech to the Vancouver Board of Trade
and an hour on the popular open-line radio show with broad-
caster Bill Good, we all headed out to the airport to catch the
late-afternoon flight to Edmonton. Here, on Tuesday, February
13, the premier gave various interviews and a well-received

speech to a packed Canadian Club luncheon meeting and had |

a private meeting with Premier Donald Getty. Because the
meeting was one-on-one, I waited in an adjacent room with the
Alberta officials. Getty struck me as a very stiff and solemn

man; I also noticed that he was uncomfortable answering ques-

tions at the ensuing press conference.

We barely reached the airport in time to catch a flight to }

Calgary for one more Liberal Party event. I went straight on to

Regina, where the premier was due the next day to make |

another speech and meet with Premier Grant Devine. When I
spoke to the premier about the meeting with Getty, I got the
impression that little was accomplished, since Getty was
strongly pro-Meech. The premier could never understand how
Getty could have agreed to extend the requirement for provin-
cial unanimity to Senate reform and still believe that meaning-
_ ful — that is, Triple-E — reform could take place.

The premier, Robert, and Judy flew to Regina early on Feb-

ruary 14. I met them in the lobby of the Hotel Saskatchewan
before we all headed out to a meeting with Devine. He and
Wells met privately for a few minutes; then both came out to
join the Saskatchewan officials and me. Devine was friendl -

folksy, and bright, but seemed to view constitutional reform ,
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not as a matter of principle but as a matter of “let's make a
deal.” At one point he earnestly suggested a possible trade-off
between Senate reform and the notwithstanding clause —
something along the lines that if Quebec would abandon its
use of the notwithstanding clause to uphold French-only signs,
there would be some flexibility on the issue of a Triple-E
Senate. The premier, I think, shared my astonishment: without
question, such deal-making would rankle ordinary Canadians,
and in any event this particular trade-off was a complete non-
starter. ,

The luncheon speech at the Rotary Club went well. Then,
after the premier participated in another radio talk show, it
was off to the airport for an early evening flight to Winnipeg
and one more packed day on the road. The morning meeting of
February 15 with Premier Gary Filmon was again private, but
I had a chance to meet my counterparts in the Manitoba
bureaucracy. For the first time, I actually had the impression
that I was speaking to allies. Of course, I might have expected
this since Filmon was turning out to be fairly firm in his op-
position to Meech. I was not to meet up with Filmon’s advisors
again until the first ministers’ dinner the following June, al-
though I tried to stay in contact with them to exchange infor-
mation.

After the last Canadian Club luncheon speech to a packed
hall in Winnipeg — another success for us — we all caught a
mid-afternoon flight back to St. John's via Toronto. Just as I
breathed a sigh of relief that we had made it through the entire
swing with no major weather delays, the captain announced
that the Toronto-St. John’s portion was cancelled due to bad
weather in Toronto. So we had yet another night on the road in
an airport hotel before arriving back in St. John's in the early
afternoon of the next day.

I thought that the week away had been very successful, at
least in demonstrating the popularity of both the premier and
his views. Everywhere he went, people would stop to con-
gratulate him; in airports, we heard people say, “Isn’t that
Clyde Wells?” Even the pilot on one of our flights wished him
good luck in his opposition to Meech Lake. What was also
clear was how approachable the premier was, how much he
enjoyed talking to ordinary people, and how easy people
found him to talk to. He wasn’t at all intimidating, which is
certainly a good quality for a successful politician.
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Back in St. John's, a huge pile of correspondence had built
up in our absence. Apart from this, my main concerns over the
next few weeks had to do with my continuing fears about the
unbundling initiative and the unfortunate spate of English-
only resolutions in several Ontario municipalities.

About this time, I became aware of the unusual influence of

a talk show host in British Columbia. Rafe Mair had been a So-
cial Credit cabinet minister under Premier Bill Bennett. From
my earliest days in St. John’s, I had always enjoyed reading his
almost-weekly no-holds-barred critiques of both the Accord
and Vander Zalm and his vigorous defences of Wells. The ex-
tent of his influence became obvious in late January when
there was an extraordinary surge in the volume of mail from
British Columbia. As I read through the letters, I noticed that
several of them indicated that Mair had urged them to write to
the premier. To this day, I am convinced that Mair’s program
was singlehandedly responsible for a good third of the mail
from B.C.! _

In any event, the program also proved a good lever on the
unbundling issue, since Vander Zalm was obviously not im-
mune to public pressure. I discussed directly with Mair the
possibility that the Accord might be unbundled. He quickly
saw the danger and was able to sound the alarm in a number
of key editorials. This provoked many British Columbians to
write some interesting letters to Vander Zalm demanding that
he not unbundle the Accord but rather withdraw his support.
Many of these letters were copied to Premier Wells. One out-

raged couple even sent in their ripped-up membership cards

for the Social Credit Party.

Some time later, on April 22, Wells received out of the blue
a copy of a letter to the prime minister from Vander Zalm.
Among other things, it objected to any unbundling without the

consent of all first ministers, and insisted that his own proposal

never contemplated unilateral unbundling. This about-face

was a relief, although a fourth premier was still required to de- .

finitely prevent unbundling.
In February, the English-only resolutions of some Ontario

municipalities began to make national news. Although organi- -

zations like APEC (the Association for the Protection of Eng-
lish in Canada) were obviously marginal, and although their
activities were immediately condemned by most responsible

politicians, a great deal of damage was still done, particularly
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in Quebec. Yet again, the media played an unfortunate role in
all of this: otherwise insignificant (albeit unacceptable) events
such as a bigot in Ontario burning the Quebec flag were given
disproportionate coverage. The Quebec media SoEQ m.roi
the clip over and over, conveying a powerful negative visual
image to the viewer and blowing the incident up out of all pro-
portion. .

The premier firmly condemned the English-only resolu-
tions in speeches and interviews. But he also used them as
further evidence that the creation of a special legislative status
for Quebec would inevitably be destructive. He pointed out
that the intolerance shown by groups like APEC was clearly
spurred by Quebec’s Bill 178 banning mwmmw.r on outdoor
signs, and that such intolerance, however marginal, would be
intensified if some future Quebec government used its distinct
society powers to proceed with legislation more nobﬁ,o<.mumg
than Bill 178. The inevitable result would be two linguistic en-
claves or solitudes and the destruction of Canada’s collective
commitment to bilingualism.

As February drew to a close, I had the impression of mark-
ing time. There was no movement whatsoever maoa.b Ottawa,
prompting even Globe and Mail journalist Jeffrey m.Epﬂmou to-
ask whether the federal government had gone “brain dead on
Meech.” At the same time, the Quebec Liberal Party was
threatening' dire consequences should Meech fail. At its
General Council meeting over the weekend of February 24, a
constitutional committee was established, its main purpose
being “the preparation of the political content of the second
round of negotiations to begin after the ratification of the Ac-
cord.” (The committee was eventually chaired by Quebec
lawyer Jean Allaire.) Such a move, revealing that Quebec was
preparing still more demands even if Meech was passed, was
guaranteed to alienate Canadians further. Meanwhile, support
for the premier appeared to remain strong, boosted by his visit
to western Canada, and I looked forward to further opportuni-
ties for him to carry on the public debate.
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The Motion to Wom&sm
the Accord

the reopening of the Newfoundland House of Assembly in
early March. I always assumed that barring some extraor-
dinary movement on the part of the federal government, the
motion to rescind Newfoundland’s approval of the Meech
Lake Accord would be introduced early in the session, so I did

HZ LATE FEBRUARY, PREPARATIONS were under way for

not press the issue with the premier. He already knew that I~

favoured rescission as soon as possible.

In the three months since the meeting with Lowell Murray
and Norman Spector on December 8, neither Ottawa nor Que-
bec City had shown any signs of flexibility. The official line
from Quebec City was as hard as ever, bolstered by loud sup-

port from Quebec’s business community, and official contact

with Ottawa was non-existent. Meanwhile, our ever irresponsible
prime minister continued his frontal attacks on Wells, at one
point resorting to the rather insulting French expression that
the premier should “
stay out of the debate.

On several occasions in February, the premier considered

-writing a letter to Mulroney to notify him that Newfoundland

was going to rescind the Accord on the grounds that there was
no sign of any significant movement by Ottawa to bring about

meaningful changes to it. I tried out a couple of drafts, but the

premier never proceeded with them; other matters required
his urgent attention, most notably the fisheries crisis.

se méler dans ses oignons” — that is, just -
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But as the Throne Speech for March 8 was drafted and fi-
nalized with a reference to the forthcoming rescission debate,
the premier decided that he must notify Mulroney, if only out
of courtesy. On Saturday, March 3, he telephoned Mulroney
from his home, which marked their first direct conversation
since the First Ministers’ Conference. Now that the feds were
alerted, I was prepared for some sort of attempt to manipulate
the premier. Sure enough, shortly after the Throne Speech on
Thursday, March 8, the redoubtable Lowell Murray went on
the airwaves to accuse the premier of being in breach of his un-
dertaking at the November First Ministers’ Conference. Mur-
ray argued that since consultations were ongoing, the premier
must postpone rescission. How anyone could say that “con-
sultations” were taking place was extraordinary.

With the announcement that Wells intended to seek rescis-
sion, the media once again became consumed with the proce-
dural game of when it would be, what form it should take, and
so on, staying far away from issues of substance. The premier
had not decided on a firm date for introducing the motion to
rescind, but we in the office all assumed that it would be some-
time in March. In addition, the premier decided that if a refer-
endum on Meech was to take place in Newfoundland — he
had committed himself to one at the First Ministers’ Confer-
ence in the event that Newfoundland was the only province
not to approve the Accord — rescission should occur as soon
as possible, in order to leave enough time for the referendum
before the June 23 deadline.

New Brunswick’s forthcoming companion resolution was
still being worked on, and I assumed that Meech’s manipula-
tors would probably want to time its introduction so that it
pre-empted or diminished the public impact of Newfound-
land’s motion to rescind. The aim would be to try to under-
mine Wells’s popularity by portraying his position as
intransigent and inflexible when compared with McKenna’s
“constructive” initiative to save Meech.

So I would have preferred to introduce the motion to re-
scind before the New Brunswick resolution was tabled. The
premier disagreed. He had settled on Monday, March 19 or
Tuesday, March 20, as the introduction date. But when
McKenna announced that the New Brunswick legislature
would reopen on Wednesday, March 21, the premier decided
to wait until the day after, March 22.



Then out of the blue, Lowell Murray requested a meeting
with the premier. This was scheduled for Thursday afternoon
or Friday morning, and the premier thought it only polite to
wait until after that meeting before introducing the motion.
The delay would have postponed the rescission motion until
the following week. This was one of the very few times when
the premier’s gentlemanly approach to politics frustrated me.
I could see no reason to delay the start of the debate and could
only read manipulation into Murray’s visit.

Fortunately, yet another event intervened. On Wednesday,
March 21, the prime minister’s office announced that Mul-
roney had arranged time on Thursday evening on CBC to
make a significant announcement on the Constitution. Both
Judy Foote and I were convinced that this was more manipu-
lation, and that it would be far better to have the premier intro-
duce the rescission motion before Mulroney’s speech. The
alternative was to let Mulroney criticize the rescission in ad-
vance on national television and place his own spin on it. We
sent an urgent message to this effect to the premier, who was
then in the House of Assembly, and fortunately he agreed.

By 5 p.m. we were all working flat out to finalize the mo-
tion to rescind and a second document that would be tabled at
the same time. Among other things, this second document set
out Newfoundland’s alternative accord in columnar form next’
to the original Accord, article by article, to demonstrate clearly
that Newfoundland’s concerns could be met while still ad-
dressing Quebec’s demands. The premier and I had, up to this
point, been the main people involved in drafting both the mo-
tion to rescind and the accompanying documents. As usual,
the premier had a very clear idea of what he wanted in the mo-
tion and essentially drafted it himself. He did, however, ask the
deputy minister of justice to assist us, primarily to ensure that
the form was technically correct. By late Wednesday evening
the motion to rescind and the accompanying documents were
at the printers, and I breathed a sigh of relief since further
delays were now impossible. The motion to rescind would be
introduced the next day — Thursday, March 22. -

Lowell Murray was informed of the decision to introduce
the motion when his office called late Wednesday to confirm
the premier’s meeting with him and Norman Spector, which
also was scheduled for the next day. It was agreed that they

would meet at the premier’s house at about 5 p-m. The location

s
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was chosen apparently because Murray wanted to avoid any
publicity. In my view, it was also because he was now only re-
luctantly making the trip. His original intention had no doubt
been to meet the premier before the motion was introduced. By
arguing that he was continuing to “consult,” Murray could
further delay it. With that possibility gone, he might have pre-
ferred to cancel the meeting, but since he had initiated the idea
and the premier had publicly welcomed it, he could hardly
back out. - .

Late Wednesday afternoon, the premier also mwo.Wm to
Frank McKenna, who apparently tried to HumamSmAm him to
delay the rescission. For me, this was more evidence of
McKenna’s obvious co-option as the de facto head of the save-
Meech brigade. Of course, conclusive evidence of this had
been the New Brunswick companion resolution introduced
earlier that day, and the announcement that Z&Amsb.m was
now prepared to approve the Meech Lake >nnoa.<<:woﬁ
changes, regardless of what happened to the companion reso-
lution, as long as there appeared to be substantial support for
the latter. -

In substance, the New Brunswick companion resolution
was pablum — a pale reflection of the New Brunswick Select
Committee recommendations and of the proposals put for-
ward by New Brunswick officials in their meeting with me on
February 8. Predictably, it simply tried to buy off the most
vocal opposition. For the territories, it proposed future amend-
ments to facilitate the creation of new provinces and to allow
the territorial governments to appoint senators and Supreme
Court judges. For women, it proposed that the guarantee of
gender equality in section 28 of the Charter be sheltered from
the distinct society clause. This would have QmBm even more
damage to all other Charter rights. For aboriginal peoples, it
proposed that there be annual nosm.mnsm@ﬁ& conferences and
enhanced participation at various First Ministers’ Conferences.
For New Brunswick’s francophones, it promised the bilateral
entrenchment of their collective rights — something which in
my view would have led to two New Brunswicks as much as
the Accord would inevitably have led to two Canadas. And for
francophone minorities generally, it included a provision for
the federal government and Parliament to promote as well as
preserve Canada’s linguistic duality.
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At this point, the worst was certain, to twist an old proverb.
New Brunswick’s officials and other pro-Meechers must have
seriously believed that Newfoundland could be isolated and,
better still, that the premier could eventually be persuaded of
the merits of their approach. And indeed I suppose it was a
credible strategy if you believed that, by refusing to approve
the companion resolution, the premier would then have faced
additional pressure from aboriginal groups, from his erstwhile
allies in the territories, and from women’s organizations who
stood to benefit marginally from it.

In the end, this never transpired. Aboriginal and women’s
groups maintained their tough stands with respect to such cen-
tral issues as the parallel recognition of Canada’s aboriginal
peoples as a fundamental characteristic of Canada, and the
protection of the entire Charter from the impact of the distinct
society clause.

During that frenetic Wednesday, I discussed my fears with
the premier as I so often did. He listened, but then effectively
dismissed them. Either he just could not believe that sensible
people could think such a strategy would work, or he was so
confident of the correctness of his approach that, even if I was
right, he thought the strategy would eventually fail.

Late that afternoon, New Brunswick’s deputy minister of

intergovernmental affairs, Don Dennison, called to solicit my

reaction to the companion resolution. In my usual way, I was
blunt in my critique and dismissal of the strategy, but I also
stressed, as always, that I was expressing only my own views
which might or might not differ from those of the premier. The
conversation ended abruptly, and I am virtually certain that its
main points were immediately relayed through the inter-
governmental network to Ottawa and Toronto. At the very
least, it must have put an end to any last attempt to draw New-
foundland “into the loop.”

Murray and Spector arrived at the premier’s house around
5 p.m. the next day. The four of us sat in the living room for an
hour or so before having dinner with Mrs. Wells. The meeting
was cordial but unproductive. The premier outlined New-
foundland’s alternative accord and proposed amendments. I

am sure Murray and Spector were already thoroughly familiar

with the proposals, and neither revealed the slightest interest
in their substance or any willingness to persuade any other
first ministers, least of all Bourassa, to consider them. Certainly
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this was a less-than-encouraging position for Canada’s top
federal-provincial relations officials to take. Their indifference
confirmed for me that the original purpose of the visit had
been to delay rescission. Now that it was inevitable, they saw
the meeting as wasted time.

For his part, Murray gave the premier an advance copy of
the prime minister’s prime-time speech, which was set for that
evening. Neither the premier nor I were surprised to find that
Mulroney was endorsing McKenna’s companion resolution
and establishing a Special Committee of the House of Com-
mons to examine it. This endorsement confirmed just how
much co-ordination and manipulation was going on between
Ottawa and Fredericton. I later watched Mulroney on televi-
sion protesting, “Ilove Canada.” My impression, like that of so
many others, was that he lacked both sincerity and credibility.
If he really Toved Canada, he would have set aside the brink-
manship strategy.

Mulroney’s unctuousness was matched only by that of
Peter Mansbridge shortly afterward on CBC’s “The National.”
After linking up with both McKenna and Wells for comments
on Mulroney’s initiative, Mansbridge made the absurd sugges-
tion that perhaps Meech could be passed subject to a sunset
clause: all its provisions would go into effect but would expire
in, say, five years unless renewed by all parties. >ﬁ@wa.m=m%
Mansbridge thought he could negotiate a deal on television.

If the premier weren’t such a gentleman, he would have
dismissed the suggestion as ridiculous. Instead, he replied that
one should consider any suggestion and then raised some of
the problems that this one posed. For example, if Meech died
at the ‘end of five years, what would happen to legislation
passed under the distinct society clause, and to appointments
to the Supreme Court made in the interim period? I found
Mansbridge’s suggestion absurd and could not believe that the
St. John’s Evening Telegram carried a headline the next day to
the effect that Wells was willing to consider a sunset clause.
The entire debate seemed to be entering a silly season.

From my perspective, the one non-Meech topic addressed
during the meeting with Murray and Spector was of more sig-
nificance. Just before we broke for dinner, the premier men-
tioned in passing the intensifying refugee crisis in the
province. Refugees, particularly from Bulgaria, had vmms
flooding off Aeroflot flights into Gander on a daily basis since
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1989, and accommodations for them were now so stretched to
overflowing that the province’s ability to manage the inflow
would soon result in health hazards to the refugees.

I'had been following the refugee crisis for some time. It was
a concrete example of the perils of having ten different provin-
cial immigration policies, which is what the Meech Lake provi-
sions would have inevitably created. Apparently the federal
government had agreed to Quebec’s request that the entry of
Bulgarian refugees into Montreal be stopped. Presumably this
was pursuant to the bilateral Cullen-Couture agreement, and
is what had caused the diversion to Gander. As I mentioned to
the premier and others, imagine what would happen if all pro-
vinces not only had this power, but in addition it was en-
trenched virtually for all time in the Constitution. Immigration
chaos would be too mild a description.

As 1 sat listening to the premier describe the crisis and its
overwhelming impact on the provincial social services budget,
I was shocked that it had reached such proportions with ap-
parent federal acquiescence. And I was even more shocked by
Murray’s assertion that he had been unaware of the severity of
the situation. It astounded me that the minister responsible for
federal-provincial relations had not been fully briefed on
developments in such a critical area of intergovernmental
policy, even if it was the direct responsibility of another minis-
ter, in this instance Barbara McDougall. Norman Spector at
least made the constructive comment that the solution was to
put an immediate visa requirement on travellers from
Bulgaria, at which point I thought yes, but why on earth had
the feds not done it already? .

The answer was not long in coming, and it was the first
concrete example of being “meeched” in Ottawa. On March 28,
a few days after the meeting with Murray, Newfoundland’s
Minister of Social Services, John Efford, advised the premier
that when he met with McDougall on March 5, 1990, she had
deliberately linked federal assistance in the refugee crisis to a
change in Wells’s position. Apparently she had taken Efford
aside after the meeting and said, “If your position on Meech
Lake were different, you would have an easier time in talking
about the situation in immigration and perhaps fisheries and
other matters.” _ B

The premier was shocked and angry, and immediately
faxed a letter of protest to the prime minister. In it, he
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scrupulously set out the facts and gave the prime minister
every opportunity to deny that McDougall's comments re-
flected government policy. Presumably, Mulroney’s handlers
were sensible enough to recognize how McDougall’s initiative
could backfire if it became public, and Mulroney phoned the
premier the next day to say McDougall was not reflecting
government policy. Some financial assistance was soon forth-
coming, together with the appropriate change in the visa re-
quirement to restrict entrants. But there can be little doubt that
McDougall’s actions simply made explicit what was going on
implicitly, and I would have preferred the premier to have im-
mediately gone public with it. Eventually, some weeks later,
the story did leak out in a Toronto newspaper and received
some coverage. Only then did the premier publicly and very
mildly rebuke the federal government.

The-debate on rescinding the Accord began on the day of
introduction, March 22, and lasted until 1 a.m. April 6, when
the government finally invoked closure to bring it to an end.
The opposition’s support for the Accord and its call for public
hearings on rescission were predictable. I will always remem-
ber how eloquently many government members articulated
their vision of Canada and their concerns with the Accord. No
one could doubt now that Wells had the support of his caucus.

The only sour note involved an unfortunate comment by
the finance minister, Hubert Kitchen, that Newfoundland had
Quebec “by the short hairs” on Meech Lake, the implication
being that Newfoundland was opposing the Accord merely to
gain bargaining leverage over Quebec on the Churchill Falls
contract. (In the late 1960s the Newfoundland government had
agreed to a long-term contract to sell electricity to Quebec at
prices that turned out to be vastly below market level.) The
premier immediately denounced Kitchen’s comment and
called Robert Bourassa to apologize directly and to reassure
him that the minister’s comment in no way reflected govern-
ment policy. It would have been only fair for Bourassa to ac-
knowledge the gesture and put an end to the inevitable
Newfoundland-bashing in the Quebec media. He didn’t. The
province’s media would play up the statement and twist it to
suggest that Newfoundland’s opposition to the Accord had
crass financial motives. It is clear that few other of the current
political leaders operated according to the same principles as
Premier Wells.
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The only other unexpected development during the debate
was that the opposition challenged the constitutionality of
passing a simultaneous resolution at the same time as a resolu-
tion to rescind. The simultaneous resolution bound the
government to respect the results of a provincial referendum
on the Accord that would be held if Newfoundland ended up
being the only province to oppose the Accord. Without
elaborating on the legal arguments, I must admit that the ‘con-
stitutionality was at least debatable. (Constitutional jurispru-
dence indicates that a democratically elected legislature cannot
absolutely bind itself to respect the results of a referendum.) I
regret not having anticipated the position, because the solution
was simple: separate the two resolutions. This separation
would have forced the opposition to challenge only the refer-
endum in court — an initiative that I am certain would have
been quickly abandoned, since the political fall-out would
have been heavy: Newfoundlanders and Labradorians were
ME in favour of having a direct say in their constitutional fu-
ure.

With the two resolutions linked, however, the opposition
plan was clearly to continue the rescission battle in the courts
in order to gain some popular support, even if ultimately the
legal arguments would fail. Presumably it was expected that
this would complement other federal initiatives to undermine
public support for the premier. | i

When I spoke to the premier about the opposition’s
strategy about a week into the debate, he was not particularly
perturbed by the prospect of a court challenge, since his legal
instincts told him that it would likely fail. This was also the
conclusion of a Department of Justice legal opinion that I re-
quested. But I continued to be concerned about the unpre-
dictable political fall-out that might result from the challenge
at this critical point in the debate. :

In the evening of April 4, the day before the scheduled vote
on the motion, the premier decided to call the opposition’s
bluff: without warning, he offered to sever the two resolutions.
The House would vote on the motion to rescind; then it-would
vote on another motion dealing with the referendum, as well
as establish a special committee to hold open hearings into the
Meech Lake Accord, the Newfoundland alternative and other
constitutional issues. As I predicted, the opposition’s leader,
Tom Rideout and its chief critic, Lynn Verge, were taken by
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surprise and immediately rushed out of the House, pre-
sumably to consult with their federal counterparts, with whom
they were obviously working closely. Ultimately, the premier
and Rideout agreed to defer the issue until after they met the
next morning.

That night, I drafted the two separate motions, though I
had no confidence whatsoever that the opposition leader
would go along. Sure enough, by the next morning, the op-
position had realized that the manoeuvre would effectively
eliminate the political reasons for their court challenge — since
they would only be attacking the referendum and not the en-
tire rescission motion — and that in the circumstances a court

.challenge would only serve to boost the government’s stand-

ing. So the opposition leader turned down the offer and the de-
bate continued on the combined resolutions until expiry of the
time set, by the closure motion.

On April 5, shortly before the vote on the rescission motion
in the early hours of April 6, the Quebec National Assembly
unanimously passed a motion reiterating that the Meech Lake
Accord must be passed as it stood. This was in response to the
Quebec nationalists’ hysteria about the New Brunswick com-
panion resolution and the possibility that Meech might be reo-
pened. That Meech was dying could not have been more
obvious. Yet the manipulations continued.

While talking to Wells shortly afterwards, David Peterson
hastened to point out that the Quebec Liberals had used some
conditional language that could be interpreted as a willingness
to eventually contemplate some indirect changes to elements
of the Accord, but only if it was passed unanimously before
June 23. This was just one of several attempts by the Quebec
government and pro-Meechers to take a “nudge-nudge, wink-
wink” approach to the constitutional crisis. Bourassa was
cornered politically by the nationalists, but if we trusted him
and passed Meech now, he would agree to changes later. The
possibility of this seemed so remote that it was surprising that
anyone was giving it serious consideration. _

Given Bourassa’s record and the strength of his commit-
ment with respect to other tough promises — most notably his
1985 election promise to permit bilingual signs — it was rea-
sonable to doubt his credibility. Moreover, at this point I in-
creasingly felt that most Quebec officials really did not want
the Accord any more and were at the very least not going to do
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anything positive to save it. They knew it was dying outside
Quebec and, in any event, Quebec élites had always wanted
much more than Meech offered. Why waste energy and politi-
cal capital on the losing side of the battle? That this was Que-
bec’s attitude seemed to be confirmed a week later when, on
April 14, after an invitation by the Globe and Mail, Bourassa re-
fused to submit an open editorial to run side by side with one
by Wells because, according to Bourassa’s press officer, Mr.
Wells “is an extremist.” (Bourassa’s comment was quoted by
the Globe editors as their explanation for having to use just an
excerpt of one of Bourassa’s earlier speeches, while Wells had
sent in something special.)

Wells was surprised by the press officer’s comment, since
he continued to believe and to operate on the assumption that
Bourassa spoke in good faith and was still trying to com-
promise. Indeed, at first the premier preferred to believe that
the “extremist” comment could not possibly have come from
Bourassa. Then Judy Foote pointed out that no “press officer”
in his office would ever have made a similar comment about
another premier without his personal knowledge. Much to our
periodic frustration, the premier’s instinctive fairness almost
always prevailed in situations like this. He was always reluc-
tant to suspect manipulation or bad faith and didn’t now.

Another sign of the unravelling of the Accord came on
April 6, the day after the Quebec resolution and a few hours
after Newfoundland’s rescission. At a joint news conference
with Gil Rémillard, the federal cabinet minister Lucien Bou-
chard angrily suggested that Canada would have to choose be-
tween Quebec and Newfoundland. Without a doubt, this will
be recorded in history as one of the most irresponsible state-
ments ever uttered by a federal politician.

The unfortunate episode also served to demonstrate the
power of CBC Newsworld. The Rémillard/Bouchard press
conference was carried live. Literally within minutes, the tele-
phone lines in the premier’s office clogged up with outraged
calls from across Canada criticizing Bouchard and supporting
the premier. I had not heard the comments. When I returned to
the office after noon hour, I found a pile of telephone slips on
which were scribbled such cryptic messages as “We choose
Newfoundland,” “Bouchard should be fired,” and so on. Only
then did I investigate the matter and discover what had hap-
pened. For the remaining two-and-a-half months of the debate,
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“CBC Meechworld” as it was dubbed by some observers,
would be not only a critical source of information for the
premier, but a strong influence on the waves of telephone calls,
faxes, and letters that continued to swamp the office.



SEVEN

The Charest Committee

announced by the prime minister-on March 22 was

ﬁmmamm by Quebec’s Jean Charest, a former federal cabi-
net minister. (Charest had recently been forced to resign from
his post after he had telephoned a judge.) The Charest Com-
mittee was composed of federal MPs from all three parties and
was directed to tour the country and hold open hearings on
New Brunswick’s companion resolution, primarily in key
urban areas. From the beginning, it was clear that every at-
tempt was being made to rig the witnesses: the committee
ensured that pro-Meech submissions were made and en-
couraged pro-Meech witnesses to appear. It was equally clear
that the federal government and the pro-Meech forces were
counting on “Meech fatigue” among the disparate anti-Meech
forces. They hoped the hearings would be ignored so that the
“moderate, sensible” voices in favour of passing Meech with
a companion resolution would dominate the process.

Their calculation that there would be “Meech fatigue” was
definitely accurate. Most well-meaning and committed op-
ponents of the companion resolution were inclined to ignore
the rigged hearings rather than dignify them with a submis-
sion or an appearance. Indeed, this was the premier’s own rea-
soning when he initially decided not to appear. He also
considered that his appearance would break the convention

that provincial premiers do not appear before federal com®
mittees.

-H‘Em SPECIAL COMMITTEE of the House of Commons
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Just before the Charest hearings began on April 16, the
premier and I discovered that residents of Newfoundland and
Labrador were being given only forty-eight hours’ notice to
send in requests to appear at the St. John’s hearings, which
were set for early May. Everyone was outraged. The premier
decided to issue a toughly worded press release condemning
the committee and calling for an immediate extension of the
deadline. It was now clear that the committee’s strategy was to
come to St. John's, listen to a series of primarily pro-Meech pre-
sentations, and then argue that this somehow indicated that
the premier’s support in his own backyard was less than solid.
More and more people began to urge the premier to appear for
the sake of countering any of the pro-Meech spin doctors. One
of these people was Bill Rompkey, a Newfoundlander and a
Liberal member of the committee. Rompkey was sincere and
committed, as %\.m: as anti-Meech; throughout the hearings he
was very helpful in passing on copies of briefs submitted to the
committee.

Eventually, in the last week of April, the premier decided to
accept the invitation to appear at the St. John’s hearings on
May 1, especially since other premiers such as Ghiz and Peter-
son were going to appear as well. Meanwhile, controversy and
acrimony were embroiling the committee at every stop, in Yel-
lowknife, Vancouver, Winnipeg, and so on. Numerous wit-
nesses, having been offered what Global TV czar Izzy Asper
succinctly called “leftover status” — that is, three-minute slots
at the end of the day — engaged in shouting matches with the
chairman. These incidents provided some colourful “sound
bites” for CBC Newsworld — but what a travesty of the
democratic process.

For me, the most egregious example of the committee’s
less-than-balanced operations occurred in Vancouver. Eugene
Forsey was spending a few weeks there at the time the com-
mittee arrived, and during one of my telephone conversations
with him, he told me that he had decided to submit a brief and
make an appearance. Incredibly, when he took in his brief, he
was told by the committee clerk that he had missed the dead-
line and would not be able to appear. When I relayed this to the
premier, he decided that we should arrange for Forsey to visit
St. John's so that he could present his brief there. The com-
mittee had the political sense not to make a bad situation



worse, and agreed to Forsey’s appearance. In the end, Forsey
appeared on May 1, the same day as the premier.

The premier and I worked late into the evening of April 30
to complete the written submission that he would take to the
hearings the next day. To my discomfort, the premier decided
to set out explicitly the possibility that Newfoundland’s con-
cerns could be met by add-ons or amendments to the Accord.
Two weeks earlier, he had asked me to consider drafting a set
of add-ons that in theory could address the province’s con-
cerns. The occasion for his request was a forthcoming meeting
with David Peterson. The premier was feeling more and more
the pressure from Peterson and other first ministers, who im-
plicitly or explicitly were portraying him as inflexible.

My immediate response to the premier, which I later
backed up with a memo, was that I really could not do it.
Uumm.mbm contorted add-ons did not make sense to me philo-
momug.nmz%\ intellectually, or in any other way. As a result, the
premier himself did the first draft. When I had an opportunity
to review it, I was relieved to see that the add-ons were signif-
icant and really highlighted the absurdity of the approach.

Now he contemplated tabling these add-ons with the com- -

mittee. I strongly recommended against it and he agreed. I was
relieved that his general reference to add-ons at least included
a number of important caveats — for example, the statements
that the companion resolution incorporating the add-ons must
come into force at the same time as Meech, that the distinct
society clause had to be amended to ensure the primacy of the
Charter and to ensure that Quebec received no special powers,
and that a new expanded preamble setting out all the fun-
damental characteristics of Canada must be included.
Nevertheless, I was not entirely satisfied. I was concerned that
- once the premier opened the door to add-ons, he might be
“nickeled and dimed to death,” as the saying goes. As I ex-
pected, the next day CBC’s Wendy Mesley immediately
zoomed in on this particular reference, and the media began to
work the issue ad nauseam.

The premier was scheduled to begin his presentation
vmmou.m ».rm Charest Committee in the afternoon. It was holding
its hearings in a nearby church hall. Judy Foote, Robert Dor-

.nan, Edsel Bonnell, Liberal MHA Walter N oel, the premier, and

I headed over by car around 2 p.m. Walter Noel and I sat on .

either side of the premier at the witness table.
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The premier spoke by way of introduction for about thirty
minutes. He then answered questions from the committee
members for almost four hours. The first question, from a Tory
MP named Ross Reid, was the beginning of what would turn
into a sparring match between the premier and many Conser-
vative members. Reid suggested that Quebec had gained noth-
ing from the 1982 patriation of the Constitution. The premier
immediately pointed out that the Canadian people, including
Canadians in Quebec, gained a great deal from 1982’s Consti-
tution Act and the entrenched Charter, and that Quebec’s con-
cerns were specifically addressed in a number of its key
provisions. Section 59 expressly exempted Quebec from cer-
tain minority language education rights in the Canada clause
of the Charter and allowed Quebec to insist that immigrants go
to school in French. Section 40 permitted any province to opt
out with reasonable compensation when an amendment was
made transferring provincial legislative powers relating to ed-
ucation or other cultural matters from provincial legislatures
to Parliament. Clearly, both sections were of particular interest
to Quebec. And section 41(d) effectively gave Quebec a
guarantee of three judges out of nine on the Supreme Court of
Canada, while section 38(3) provided for up to three provinces
to expressly dissent from amendments that derogated “from
the legislative powers, the proprietary rights or privileges of
the legislature or government of a province.” Finally and per-
haps most importantly, there was the entrenchment of French
and English as Canada’s two official languages, side by side
with minority-language and education rights.

Then one of the Quebec Tory MPs suggested that the im-
pact of the notwithstanding clause was far greater than that of
the distinct.society clause. The premier immediately replied
that this was wrong — the notwithstanding clause only ap-
plied to certain sections in the Charter, whereas the distinct
society clause, if enacted, would apply to the entire Constitu-
tion, including the entire Charter.

In his discursive preamble to a question, NDP MP Lorne

Nystrom suggested that the premier should have held hear-

ings before passing the motion to rescind. At first, the premier
did not respond to this, since Nystrom raised a number of
other points at the same time. At that point, I happened to look
over to where Judy and Robert were sitting and saw them
making urgent hand signals to me. As I attempted to figure out



S&& they were trying to say, Judy started pulling her ear. At
this point, I was perilously close to bursting out laughing; I
thought that perhaps the premier’s audio plug had fallen out.
Fortunately, I felt a tap on my shoulder, and a gentleman
slipped me a note from Robert. They wanted to ensure that
Wells replied to Nystrom’s innuendo about the need for hear-
ings. I quickly scribbled a note to the premier, and very
smoothly, he went on to argue that since his predecessor, Brian
Peckford, had never held hearings and indeed had avoided.
any real debate on Meech, rescinding the approval without
rmm.ﬁbmm simply brought Newfoundland back to the starting
point again. :
Finally, Liberal MP Ethel Blondin asked with concern what
the committee should recommend. The premier replied that
the committee should conclude that much more public debate
was required on the proposed reforms. And rather than make
quick-fix substantive proposals, which would merely increase
the present confusion and public alienation, the committee
should propose the establishing of a national convention that

would provide a democratic public forum for the reopening of

comprehensive talks on the Constitution.

Not surprisingly, the sound bite that was most frequently
broadcast was a non-substantive one: Bill Rompkey quite
properly accused Jean Charest of “badgering” the premier
during an exchange on immigration powers: To be honest, I
never noticed it; I was used to Charest’s pompous style by
then, and the episode came toward the end of the four-hour
marathon and didn’t stand out at the time. But Rompkey’s in-
tervention was effective, and judging from the number of let-
ters and faxes we later received praising Rompkey and
criticizing Charest, the word “badgering” temporarily became
one of the more popular words in our day-to-day lexicon.

I'thought the premier had done brilliantly. He met every ar-
gument made by the committee members and was able to dis-
pel many of the myths propagated by supporters of the
Accord. In addition, he received several hours of intensive
news coverage and was able to demonstrate not only his un-
derstanding of constitutional issues, but also the sincerity and
depth of his convictions. ‘ _

The hearings in St. John’s wound up the next day with a
series of five-minute presentations from individual citizens. Of
these, an extraordinary 50 percent were in favour of Meech. As
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Blondin colourfully put it, no one knew where they had come
from — perhaps caves. But of course they were the core group
of staunch pro-Meechers, who were launched again and again
in basically the same formation, though always under a differ-
ent name to give the illusion of strength — the Friends of
Meech Lake, Newfoundlanders and Labradorians for Confed-
eration, and so on.

I did not pay too much attention to the remaining days of
the Charest Committee hearings. But one witness did attract
my attention. On May 3 in Ottawa, a man called Roger Tassé
surfaced. A slight, soft-spoken man, he had been the federal
deputy minister of justice in the 1980-82 period, when the Con-
stitution was patriated. In a less-than-subtle attempt to as-
suage Charter activists, the Charest Committee described him
as a principal architect of the Charter. I assumed that Tassé,
who had been seconded from his private-sector job to advise
the federal governiment during the original Meech negotia-
tions in 1987 and who was well-connected with pro-Meech
constitutional élites and with some key advisors to Bourassa,
had been deliberately recruited again to try to save Meech and
to work the back channels between Ottawa and Quebec City. I
was equally disturbed to learn that he had recently been associated
with both Chrétien and his close aide Eddie Goldenberg in the
same Ottawa law firm — a link which I also assumed would be
used by the pro-Meechers.

Tassé was a spokesman for what has been referred to as the
“calmez-vous” school of interpreting the distinct society clause;
he made several recommendations whose point was “to reas-
sure people by clarifying the Accord, without touching the Ac-
cord itself.” His recommendation dealing with the spending
power restrictions was meaningless: it merely stated that those
restrictions would “in no way affect the government commit-
ments outlined in section 36 of the Constitution Act.” He was
referring, of course, to the commitments to equality of oppor-
tunity for all Canadians. This guarantee was empty, since noth-
ing was done to offset the massive disincentive to initiating
new national programs that was implicit in the Accord.

Tassé’s second recommendation was that a new provision
stipulate that the distinct society clause was merely an inter-
pretative clause that would work with the Charter and not
override it. This provision would only be used when the courts
had to decide whether a limit imposed by a government on our



rights or freedoms was reasonable and “demonstrably justified
in a free and democratic society.” This tactic would prove to be
one of the most deceptive yet displayed by the pro-Meech sup-
porters and was to play a major role in the negotiations down
to the bitter end. .

It is vital to describe how the deception worked. On the
surface the proposal looked great: it stated that, in effect, noth-
ing in the distinct society clause could override the Charter of
Rights and Freedoms. (The words “infringes or denies” would
be used in the final version, which emerged in the form of a
legal opinion annexed to the June 1990 companion agreement.)
To the general public and media, this proposal would be seen
as a major concession; indeed, the Globe and Muail and other
media referred to it in laudatory terms as soon as it surfaced —

\ . .
tono one’s surprise — as a key recommendation of the Charest |

Report on May 17.

Unfortunately, the proviso in the proposal is the key ele-
ment and it expressly authorized what was at least only impli-
cit or vague in the distinct society clause: that the Quebec
government would be justified in passing measures perhaps
similar to Bill 178, whether or not they infringed on our basic
rights. In other words, the Tassé recommendation, if accepted,
éoﬁE have made it virtually certain that a future court con-
sidering Bill 178-type legislation would uphold it under sec-
tion 1 of the Charter, with no need for the Quebec government
even to resort to the notwithstanding clause. The Tassé recom-
mendation or any variation of it would have done nothing to
eliminate, and indeed would have reinforced, Quebec’s
powers to limit our rights and freedoms in a way that other
governments could not. Effectively, it would have created
different classes of Canadians and a hierarchy of rights.

Besides being deliberately deceptive, the entire exercise
was a futile attempt to square the circle; it also avoided ad-
dressing the fundamental issues in any direct way. It was clear
ﬁ.ﬂwﬂ Quebec wanted to be able to override the Charter’s provi-
sions on language rights and mobility rights, which are pro-
tected even from the notwithstanding clause. ‘

For example, the Quebec government has indicated that it
wants control over language matters and disagrees with any
constitutional guarantee of access to English schools. In my
view, this issue should be debated openly rather than deait

)
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with in an underhanded way that debases the Charter, which
belongs to all Canadians.

I was vaguely aware of Tassé’s proposal shortly after he
presented it on May 3, having read William Johnson’s critical
commentary on it in Montreal’s Gazette. But I did not focus on
the details until we received a copy of the brief out of the blue
on Friday evening, May 11. That we received it directly from
the FPRO was a clear signal the Tassé proposal was being
taken seriously. (Later, Lowell Murray’s office couriered the
original to us — another first.) At that point I sounded the alert
and immediately wrote a critique of the brief for the premier.

It was unfortunate that I did not get my critique to the
premier before the weekend. Early Monday morning, I learned
that over the weekend Jean Chrétien had presented Wells with
what amounted to an add-on to the Accord in legal language
that would accomplish exactly what Tassé was proposing. I
was horrified. The premier quickly saw the connection and the
flaw. This was to be the beginning of a whole new struggle in
the arena of so-called add-ons to the Accord.

It was at this point that I perceived a link between Chrétien
and the save-Meech forces and that a number of puzzle pieces
fell into place. In early March, I had heard that a Montreal
lawyer named Eric Maldoff, a former head of Alliance Québec,
had prepared a document recommending that Chrétien sup-
port add-ons to the Accord by way of an “interpretative, pro-
cedural and supplementary protocol” annexed to it. In this
scenario, Meech would pass unamended only on the “substan-
tial assurance” that the protocol would later be ratified —
whatever that meant. This interpretative protocol would state
only that nothing “is intended to diminish the rights of
Canadians under the Constitution,” something that would do
nothing to eliminate the widespread concerns for the Charter.
Moreover, a further clause would be added to the Constitution
to ensure that “the Constitution shall be interpreted in a man-
ner consistent with: (i) the commitment of Canadians to fun-
damental rights and freedoms and the equality of persons as
described in Section 15 of the Charter (ii) the rights of aborig-
inal people and the multicultural heritage of Canada and (iii)

the equality of provinces.” The latter proposal was just a Band-
Aid on a Band-Aid and no substitute for the comprehensive
Canada clause that had been putforward by Manitoba as a
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means to overcome the concerns about the distinct society
clause.

When I received this material, I was concerned. But I hoped

that the discussion was still limited to a few advisors and that

Chrétien would reject the advice. Although I had always had
my doubts about Chrétien’s ability to maintain a coherent con-
stitutional position, I was relieved after hearing his strong
January 16 speech.

I was jolted out of complacency when Manitoba’s Liberal
leader, Sharon Carstairs, communicated by letter with the
premier on April 4, the day before the scheduled rescission
vote, enclosing the Maldoff document and suggesting that it
might provide a way around the impasse. Only then did I dis-
cuss with the premier the likely source — Chrétien’s advisors

— and ask him whether he thought Chrétien had now con-

cluded that Meech must pass and was getting directly in-
volved. The premier replied that he did not know and
indicated that he would likely speak to Chrétien directly.

I'know that a phone call took place on April 5. The premier
never really discussed the conversation, but I had the clear im-
pression he believed that Chrétien was now waffling.

A few days later, the premier conveyed to Sharon Carstairs
that he did not consider the document to be particularly help-
ful, mainly because it was just another version of pass-Meech-
now-fix-it-later that showed little regard for those basic
principles or fundamental precepts which are so essential to
durable, legitimate constitutional change. This response as-
suaged my rising anxiety, but only briefly.

On May 17, 1990, we received a copy of the Charest Report.
A quick glance at it confirmed my worst fears: it did not con-
vey objectively and constructively the concerns the committee
had heard. If it had, it would have recommended what the
premier had suggested to Ethel Blondin — that the Accord be
reopened, and that a new process be established to ensure
meaningful public input, however long it took. The perennial
optimist, I always had hoped that the committee would come
to some sort of similar conclusion and put an end to the miser-
able process in which all of us were now entangled. At the very
least, I had hoped that the Liberal and NDP members would
issue a strong dissent and provide some support for Wells and
Filmon. But this was not to be.
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Instead, in a desperate attempt to achieve unanimity, the
report’s authors reduced all their recommendations to the
lowest common denominator and avoided all stipulations as
to the precise content or even timing of any amendments. For
those familiar with the debate, there could be no doubt that the
report was carefully crafted so that the feds could draft add-
ons similar to those put forward by Frank McKenna, and so
that Chrétien could embrace its provisions and continue his
now-ongoing efforts to persuade Carstairs and Wells to sup-
port the Accord with a companion resolution.

It was now depressingly clear to me that Chrétien had de-
cided it would be better for Meech to pass so that he did not
have to face a constitutional crisis upon his election as leader in
June. One of his envoys to Wells — self-appointed or otherwise
— was Brian Tobin, a Newfoundland Liberal MP. Tobin is a
witty man with a high regard for himself who appears to treat
politics as a game. His efforts at manipulation were all too ob-
vious. For example, the premier was kept informed of how the
report was evolving in its various drafts, and occasionally
spoke to Tobin and Rompkey — they initiated the calls — al-
though to my knowledge he would always repeat his fun-
damental objections to the Accord. Nevertheless, Tobin began
to convey the distinct impression to the Liberal caucus in Ot-
tawa — and later sotte voce to the Newfoundland caucus —

“that he had a close relationship with “Clyde” and that the
premier was favourable to the report and to “saving” the Ac-
cord with add-ons.

I can only speculate about who else besides Tobin was
directly involved in the operation to use Chrétien’s Liberals to
influence the premier. It is up to others to contradict or correct
me. But my understanding was that the federal government’s
contact with Chrétien’s key advisors — John Rae, Eddie Gol-
denberg and Eric Maldoff — came via Stanley Hartt, the prime
minister’s chief of staff. Tassé was another direct link, having
been Chrétien’s deputy during the patriation debates and
more recently a partner of Chrétien and Goldenberg in an Ot-
tawa law firm. As already noted, Tassé was becoming a go-be-
tween with Quebec officials and the front person for the
proposed add-ons to deal with the distinct society clause and
spending power concerns.

On the same day that the Charest Report was released, the
premier received another phone call from Chrétien, who again
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put forward the Tassé provision for dealing with the Charter.
This time he persuaded the premier to consider it seriously as
part of Newfoundland’s add-ons. I considered Chrétien’s in-
volvement foolish — I was convinced that he could never
change the premier’s mind and that all he would do was alienate
people on both sides of the debate. v

Shortly after the Charest Report was released on May 17
came the announcement that Lowell Murray and Norman
Spector would do a quick sweep of the provincial capitals.
They met with Wells in his office in St. John’s on May 21 — the
day of Lucien Bouchard’s sudden resignation. I attended the
meeting, together with Barbara Knight. The purpose of the
meeting was to allow Murray to seek sufficient common
ground, among the “dissident” provinces in particular, to
justify a first ministers’ meeting. _

Murray and Spector brought with them proposed federal
add-ons to the Accord that were consistent with the Charest
Report. I was not surprised that the language regarding the
distinct society clause and Charter was precisely the same as
Chrétien’s in his contacts with the premier. This was all the
concrete evidence that I needed that there was close co-opera-
tion between Chrétien’s advisors and the federal government.

It was a subdued meeting. Murray and Spector reviewed
their add-ons and the premier went through those of New-
foundland. (This was the list, prepared in April, that had not
yet been amended to reflect Chrétien’s suggestion a few days
earlier.) Little else was accomplished, and it was clear that
there was still a wide gap between the federal proposals and
those of Newfoundland, not only in substance but also on the
timing of the amendments. Newfoundland and Manitoba
were both insisting that amendments had to take place at the
same time that the Accord was implemented, while the federal
government document stipulated that no amendment could be
proclaimed until after Meech came into force.

My sense of unease rapidly intensified when I heard Spec-
tor blithely comment that the provisions relating to Supreme
Court appointments and immigration jurisdiction were “off
the table” — that is, non-negotiable — even though New-
foundland was proposing add-ons to deal with them. Clearly,

this remark was just a form of direct pressure; even so, New-
foundland’s isolation was obviously increasing. I knew that
the federal strategy was to continually portray the premier’s

1HE CHARDD L Culviiviiiee 71

position as unreasonable, inflexible, and extreme in the face of
all the “significant” concessions to Meech opponents. By por-
traying him in this way, the feds were hoping to undermine his
support among the “Meech-fatigued” public, especially in
Newfoundland and Labrador. If this happened, and if Mani-
toba folded on all key points, then clearly, even with the fir-
mest resolve in the world, Wells could not likely hold out, and
might even lose a provincial referendum. N

Any chance, however, that the federal add-ons arising mﬁg
the Charest Report might form the basis for a new compromise
was soon lost as a result of events in Quebec. Hours after the
report was released, both the Quebec media and that pro-
vince’s officials portrayed it as an insult to Quebec — as
twenty-two demands by the rest of Canada (there were that
many recommendations) that were the condition for agreeing
to the original five moderate demands o% Quebec. Even re-
sponsible journalists like La Presse’s Lysiane Gagnon were
caught in the hysteria and never got around to examining the
substance. All of this, and Bouchard’s abrupt resignation on
May 21, which was an unexpected and personal blow to the
prime minister, reduced the feds’ constitutional efforts to a
state of total disarray. , .

After the meeting with Murray and Spector, the premier
tried hard to move negotiations forward. He and Gary Filmon
tried unsuccessfully to schedule a meeting with F.wsw
McKenna. Their efforts would be pre-empted by the prime
minister’s sudden announcement that he would meet each
premier individually over the May 25-28 period. In any case,
McKenna’s reluctance to attend had been all too obvious,
which confirmed that he had joined the pro-Meech brigade. In

" the meantime, Filmon seemed to be stiffening his stand, espe-

cially on the need for Senate reform. I was encouraged but
somewhat suspicious: if he insisted on immediate Senate re-
form as some optimistic Manitobans suggested to me, Meech
was dead. But I could not believe he could suddenly be so
hardline; I was certain that if his new attitude was genuine, it
was just a temporary bargaining position to deal with internal
pressures.

On May 24 the premier decided to table the Newfoundland
add-ons in the House of Assembly, thus making them ﬁ&uﬁn.
This was consistent with his strong view that negotiations
could not go on in secret. He also sent copies to all the premi-
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ers, to Manitoba’s opposition leaders, Sharon Carstairs and
Gary Doer, and to the two territorial leaders.

Much to my chagrin, the premier next decided to write to
Murray, at the same time substituting Tassé’s Charter provi-
sion — with a slight modification that strengthened the
Charter protection moderately, though in no way sufficiently
— for Newfoundland's original add-on. The original had been
much more effective in protecting the Charter. The premier
did, however, stress that this add-on must be tied to the
“powers and jurisdiction” add-on, which would greatly limit
Quebec’s ability to justify legislation that infringed on Charter
rights (under section 1 of the Charter), since such legislation
would only be possible if every other government had the
same power or jurisdiction, which most of the time would not
be the case. My sense of unease was escalating. I could not un-
derstand why the premier was compromising even to this de-
gree when it seemed obvious that the federal government was
not the least bit interested in really accommodating his con-
cerns. :

Mulroney held his private meeting with the premier at 24
Sussex Drive in Ottawa on Sunday, May 27. Ostensibly, it was
held so that Mulroney could decide whether there was “suffi-
cient progress” to justify some sort of first ministers’ meeting.
Yet again, I naively believed that the time had finally come
when the prime minister would take the responsible step of
announcing the reopening of the negotiations and the elimina-
tion of any deadline. It certainly did not appear that Mulroney
had any idea about what else to do next, or any back-up plan
in the event that Meech failed. As always, he lacked any coher-
ent, principled vision of the country. :

After that meeting, Norman Spector handed Wells a new
federal working document, which he passed on to me the next
day in St. John’s. The premier and I both agreed that it was a
definite regression to a pre-Charest Report state of affairs,
especially with respect to the distinct society/Charter issue. It
referred only to possible clarifications to the Accord; the refer-
ence to a specific amendment to the distinct society clause that
had been part of a similar document only a week earlier was no
longer there. In addition, the controversial term “override,”
which would have ensured that the distinct society clause did
not “override” the Charter, had been deleted — a clear indica-
tion that the feds had capitulated to Bourassa’s fear of a nation-
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alist backlash in Quebec if he made any concession on the issue
of the Charter.

The feds were now back to their old strategy of placing in-
tolerable pressure on Newfoundland and Manitoba to pass
Meech without changes, or at most with some companion res-
olution that might take effect sometime after June 23. And the
old desperate accusations were surfacing yet again: that it was
unacceptable for premiers to repudiate the signatures of their
predecessors, that Wells and Filmon were purporting to reflect
the concerns of millions of Canadians when they represented
only a tiny percentage of the overall population. All in all, it
was a depressing situation.

Much to my surprise, after a telephone call with Ottawa
later on Monday, May 28, the premier informed me that a
meeting had been arranged for the next day in St. John's with
Lowell Murray and Roger Tassé. That Tassé would attend set
off alarm bells, but I was really at a loss about what to expect.
I could only assume that the meeting’s purpose was to press
the premier for more and more concessions. I was extremely
worried: I believed that the premier was being misled by Mur-
ray into believing that Tassé was going to be able to get the
Quebec government to make significant concessions.

The meeting probably represented my toughest moment in
the entire debate on Meech. To that point, I had never seriously
considered how I would react if the premier decided that he
would have to accept the Accord. As I listened and rather
numbly participated in the three-hour session, I was sure I was
listening to a person who was ready to compromise suffi-
ciently to save the Accord, provided the other first ministers,
especially Bourassa, were willing to agree to certain add-ons.

Only four people attended the meeting: Murray, Tassé, the
premier, and I. All the tough issues — the Charter, special
legislative status, the unanimity requirements, the spending
power restrictions — were addressed, and in virtually all areas
except perhaps the issue of the veto over Senate reform, a con-
sensus of sorts began to emerge between the premier and
Tassé. I forced myself to recognize what was going on. Clearly,
the premier himself would have to bear the heavy political re-
sponsibility if he killed the Accord, and it was entirely possible
and human that he had decided he should not hold out any
longer. My major worry at this point was that if the premier
did want to negotiate amendments, parallel accords, or
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whatever,  was not in a position to give him the expert advice
he needed. For the first time since joining his office, I con-
cluded that intellectually I could not be a very constructive
participant. I did not consider resignation, but knew I would
have to share my responsibilities.

Early the next morning, I had a subdued discussion with
the premier. I could not hide my concern and disappointment,
but I made it clear that if negotiations had reached the bargain-
ing stage, I would make sure he got the best advice possible, if,
as I expected, I could not provide it. The premier listened qui-
etly and agreed. A day later, on Thursday, May 31, Mulroney
announced that a first ministers’ dinner would convene on
Sunday, June 3, in Ottawa. In accordance with our conversa-
tion, the premier agreed that I should arrange for Neil
Finkelstein to attend. Finkelstein was the Toronto lawyer and
constitutional expert who had written the legal opinion in
December supporting the Newfoundland government’s inter-
pretation of the distinct society clause.

I have the greatest respect for Finkelstein and knew that
Wells would find him invaluable. I never had any doubt that
he would be loyal to the premier throughout the first minis-
ters” meeting. But I was concerned that he was a reasonably
close friend of both Eric Maldoff and Eddie Goldenberg and
that he had helped to draft Chrétien’s January 16 speech. (He
was also on fairly friendly terms with Patrick Monahan, a key
policy advisor to Peterson, and with his former employer, On-
tario’s attorney general, lan Scott.) I worried that he might be
innocently used by Chrétien’s advisors and others as a means
to exert even more pressure on the premier. As will be seen
from what happened that week in Ottawa, my worries had
some basis.

I was aware that the advisors to Chrétien and Peterson in
particular saw me as a block to the premier, as someone who.
had to be “got around” in order to “get to” him. This is part of
the reason why Chrétien used to call the premier directly, in-
stead of getting Maldoff or Goldenberg to call me, which
would have been more logical. (I know both men, and had:
m@o_Am.b to Maldoff as recently as early January, just-before the
premier’s speech in Montreal, when he expressed an interest in
learning “what made the premier tick.”)

I can only assume that these people somehow thought I
would suppress information or proposals. Nothing could be.

a
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more absurd. They obviously had no idea of how deep the
premier’s convictions ran and didn’t understand the nature of

" - my role as constitutional advisor. I would, of course, write

comments and brief the premier on proposals and new
developments, and undoubtedly this direct access to the
premier might have given my views a preliminary advantage.
But, at the same time, I never considered myself anything more
than a direct conduit to the premier, and I never spoke on his
behalf without his express knowledge and agreement. Most
important, as was obvious to anyone who knew the premier
even slightly, the premier had his own clear frames of reference
when it came to analyzing proposals and ideas. If he “ac-
cepted” my advice, it was only because it happened to coin-
cide with his own opinions.

In any event, as I expected, the Chrétien people saw
Finkelstein as a new conduit to the premier. On Friday, June'l,
Finkelstein called me to say that he had been contacted by
Maldoff about his having joined the Newfoundland delega-
tion. He wanted to know whether he could talk to Maldoff and
Goldenberg directly. At least the fact that Finkelstein called me
confirmed his loyalty. I immediately called the premier at his
home — it was noon and he was having lunch — and spoke to
him about the situation. I asked him up front whether, in light
of Chrétien’s obvious doubts about my role, he considered me
a problem. His answer, to my relief, was a blunt no. He in-
structed me to use my own best judgment in dealing with the
situation and ensuring that I was apprised of all dealings that
Finkelstein had with Chrétien’s team. In addition, he asked me
to contact another of Chrétien’s key advisors, John Rae, to tell
him the general results of the meeting with Murray and Tassé.

By this time I had already accepted the possibility that a
deal was in the making, so contacting Rae was at least an op-
portunity to make it clear that the premier still had confidence
in me. The arrangement I made with Finkelstein later that af-
ternoon was that if he was contacted by anyone like Maldoff or
Goldenberg, he was free to discuss matters with them, but was
also to make it clear to them that anything they discussed
would be relayed to me. This request might seem dictatorial,
and it undoubtedly caused Finkelstein some discomfort. But it
seemed the only reasonable way to avoid hamstringing
Finkelstein, and also sent a clear signal to Chrétien’s team that
they would have to play a reasonably open game with both me
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and the premier. As will be seen, however, the attempts to get
around me continued throughout the first ministers” dinner.

On the day I spoke with Finkelstein, several other events
stand out. The first was the publication of an article in Mon-
treal’s Gazette about an internal Queen’s Park memo setting
out a strategy to save Meech. The memo laid out a minutely
detailed strategy for manipulating the media, attacking the
credibility of Premier Wells, and so forth. An embarrassed
David Peterson immediately disowned it and said that the
low-level bureaucrat who prepared it would soon be gone. At
the premier’s office, all we could do was laugh, since it was ob-
viously accurate and equally obviously not prepared by a low-
level bureaucrat. (Later, reliable sources would confirm for me
that it was prepared with the knowledge of Patrick Monahan.)
The public outrage was not long in coming, and I hoped that it
would help to undermine Peterson and the pro-Meechers on
the eve of the meeting, and bolster the efforts of Premiers Wells
and Filmon.

The second event was the publication of a large advertise-
ment in all major newspapers, sponsored by the Canadians for
a Unifying Constitution and obviously underwritten by the
Business Council on National Issues. It urged the first minis-
ters to sign the Accord and predicted doom if Meech failed. I
can only assume that these business leaders genuinely
believed that the ad could have some impact. If they did, they
were even farther removed from the real world than I thought.

In any event, I had already been aware of the initiative,
having spoken on the telephone late the previous day with
Jack Lawrence, who was chairman of Burns Fry and one of the
stalwart BCNI members spearheading Canadians for a Unify-
ing Constitution’s efforts. He had clearly been designated to
alert the premier to.the forthcoming advertisement.

We had an interesting and cordial exchange about other
factors affecting the value of the Canadian dollar and Japanese
investment decisions. I told him that in my view, it was the un-

certainty itself that was most disturbing the money markets,

and that the cause of this uncertainty was partly if not mainly
the federal government’s obvious lack of both will and direc-
tion in constitutional matters. But when Lawrence equated a
first ministers’ constitutional conference with a corporation’s
board meeting, I blanched. He suggested that if he were the
lone holdout on an issue, he would inevitably assume he was
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wrong and capitulate. After I reminded him there is a differ-
ence between amending a document that belongs to the E%Nm
of Canada and making a corporate decision, we politely
agreed to disagree. But I will always remember that conversa-
tion. With the greatest respect to Mr. Lawrence and his col-
leagues whose sincerity I do not at all doubt, I was not
surprised that Wells’s reaction to Lawrence’s comments turned
out to be the same as mine.
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The Seven-Day Dinner

HEN .mwg.Z.ZGhWOZ EY announced the convening
of a first minister’s dinner for Sunday, June 3, I really

did not know what to expect. The premier th

that the meeting would carry on %m%oﬂm. 9% dinner, w%n“mmrm
r.oi Hoﬁm was uncertain. Since we had retained Neil
Finkelstein and I now believed that the premier wanted to
make a deal, I thought that discussions would probably con-
tinue for another day or two. ,

S.Emﬁm,\ma else I might have thought, I never expected the
meeting to go on for seven days. I was optimistic that an im-
passe would occur on some critical issue that would finally
MM,W.MM ﬁwm.ﬂmo@WﬁWm of the Accord. As a result, I brought exactly

uttits, which certai

oy of thar et nly were put to good use every second

After one brief discussion with the premier on
day mmﬂ. Mulroney called the meeting, Hwamnamm to WMH%@W\%WM
some binders any relevant material for the premier’s easy ref-
erence, should it prove necessary. Apart from this, I made no
other preparations for the meeting. Newfoundland’s proposed
add-ons as adjusted after the two meetings with Murray were
on the table, and the premier obviously intended to use them
as his starting position. Unlike the other delegations, we had
no strategy memos, “bottom lines,” or the like. The premier’s

preferred approach to the constitutional debat
been straightforward. - nal debate had always
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Early on Sunday, June 3, I met Judy Foote, Robert Dornan,
Walter Noel, Paul Dicks, and Jim Thistle at the small St. John's
airport for the flight to Ottawa in an eight-seater King-Air jet.
We stopped off at Deer Lake to pick up the premier, who had
spent part of the weekend there. The flight took a little less
than five hours, with one refuelling stop in Moncton. Without
a doubt, it was one of the roughest flights I have ever been on.
As we bumped our way into Ottawa’s airport at about 3 p.m.,
Judy attempted to break the tension by saying that she hoped
the premier had not told someone that he would only sign the
Meech Lake Accord over his dead body.

The rest of the small Newfoundland delegation was al-
ready in Ottawa. Rosie Frey had gone ahead to ensure that all
the accommodations and office arrangements were in order; as
usual, she had done a superb job. Barbara Knight had also
gone ahead. (I could now understand why.) Neil Finkelstein
arrived from Toronto about the same time as us. Finally, there
was Eugene Forsey who lived in Ottawa and who joined us for
the first few critical meetings of the Newfoundland delegation.

That the Newfoundland delegation was smaller than those
of other provinces was in my view an asset rather than a liabil-
ity. One of the few drawbacks that we would soon notice was
that the larger delegations were able to send out their extra
members to give off-the-record briefings to journalists and put
favourable spins on developments or non-developments
throughout the week. This was especially true of the Ontario
group, which appeared to include most of the cream of the
Toronto legal and political-science academic establishment.

The premier called a meeting of our delegation for about4 p.m.
in a meeting room at the Chateau Laurier, which is where we
were staying. Not much of substance was discussed, since
everyone was so uncertain of what was going to happen next.
Forsey made some of his usual perceptive and punchy com-
ments — he said that Mulroney was selling out to Quebec
nationalists — and the premier agreed. I hoped Forsey’s pre-
sence might help to ensure that the premier didn’t lose sight of
his goals and continued his opposition to the Accord.

We also discussed Newfoundland’s add-ons. Finkelstein
made a few technical legal suggestions to the provision regard-
ing the Charter, which made a bad situation perhaps a little
better. I abstained from any detailed involvement in the dis-



cussion, since my general opposition to the add-on approach
was clearly on the record. ‘

My main intervention at the meeting was to suggest to the
premier that he should walk out if the prime minister refused
to make certain preliminary concessions — for example, to
open the sessions to the public and to accept the need for sub-
stantive amendments to the Accord prior to June 23. Needless
to say, the premier did not consider these suggestions to be
particularly helpful and did not seriously consider them.
Nevertheless, for my own peace of mind, I had to have them
on the record.

The premier had worked on a draft of his opening state-
ment on the flight to Ottawa; some further changes were now
made to it. As it turned out, of course, no public opening state-
ments were ever made.

,Ewmnm was also some discussion of the issue of the June 23
deadline. The premier had always taken the position that as a
HuoE.Han if not legal matter, there was no deadline. In this con-
nection, he shared the views of Gordon Robertson and others
that _.umn.mzmm certain elements of the Accord were subject to
unanimity, the three-year period did not apply to the entire
package. Any deadline was just a matter of political will: if a
new Q.m& was negotiated that could be recommended to
Ombm.&mbm by all first ministers and that could withstand the
scrutiny of meaningful public hearings, then the appropriate
constitutional amendments could be proclaimed into force at
the earliest possible opportunity. The apocalyptic predictions
of what would happen should the June 23 deadline be missed
amounted to fear-mongering of the worst kind and did much
to divert the debate from the merits or demerits of the Accord.
. Nevertheless, in an attempt to persuade the other first min-
1sters to abandon the time-constraint arguments, just before
leaving for Ottawa the premier had Newfoundland’s justice
department prepare a draft constitutional amendment that
could be approved by all provincial legislatures and Parlia-
ment and implemented before June 23. This amendment

would in effect have suspended the deadline and permitted
me.ncmmao.bm. to continue. Needless to say, this did not suit the
prime minister’s brinkmanship strategy. The premier’s pro-
posal was never seriously considered except perhaps by a few

waoﬁs&&ommnw&ms}os\mwmmﬁﬁb&.ﬂ.. wm.
defuse the crisis. 8 y trying to find ways to
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Throughout the week, there was never any sign of the in-
famous “rolling deadline” proposal announced by Lowell
Murray on June 22. (With this, the federal government would
argue that the Accord did not in fact expire on June 23, 1990,
three %mmam.mmma Quebec’s ratification. Rather, all that hap-
pened on that date was that Quebec’s ratification would be ex-
tinguished and would have to be renewed. A similar situation
would arise on the three-year anniversary of every other
legislature’s ratification.) The most that happened, around
mid-week, was some discussion among legal advisors about
the possibility of a suspended proclamation of the Accord,
pending the coming into force of a companion resolution. But
when it was concluded that a suspended proclamation could
not be valid without appropriate resolutions of all legislatures
prior to June 23, it was rapidly dropped as a serious option,
since Quebec would not take any such initiative.

In this connection, a brief digression is important. After the
Ottawa meeting I was informed by a reliable official from Sas-
katchewan that during the week in Ottawa the possibility of
the same rolling deadline proposal had been raised with Mary
Dawson, the FPRO'’s assistant deputy minister. My source was
told in very clear terms that it would never work because Que-
bec would never agree — the proposal was contingent on the
repassage of the Accord by Quebec, whose approval would be
the only ene that expired on June 23.

In the last few days of the debate, the same Saskatchewan
official was also told to stop talking about ideas to extend the
deadline “because that would give Newfoundland the excuse
to postpone the vote and hold a referendum.” It appears that
the feds were always greatly concerned about a referendum in
Newfoundland and Labrador, and rightly so, since the result
would have been an unequivocal vote in favour of reopening
the Accord. Brian Mulroney’s subsequent “roll the dice” inter-
view with the Globe and Mail simply brought into the open
what all of us had long assumed implicitly: that the federal
strategy was to exert all possible pressure on Newfoundland
by escalating the threats of a post-June 23 apocalypse, while
preventing a referendum.

The first ministers’ dinner on Sunday night was held at the
Museum of Civilization in Hull. A dinner for officials was
scheduled in another room on the same floor. We were in-
formed that only two officials from each province were en-



titled to the special passes to attend the dinner, and the premier
chose Barbara Knight and me as the two from Newfoundland.
We headed over separately from the premier around 6 p.m:
Every province was allocated a tiny office for the evening.
Before the dinner began, Judy Foote and I spent some of our
time watching through the windows as the other premiers ar-
rived and made their brief two- to five-minute public remarks
to the waiting media in the driveway. Certainly, there were no
clues as to what was going to happen. _

The dinner started at 7 p.m. in camera. The officials all
crowded into another room for a buffet. It was clear that no
other delegation had respected the two-officials limit, 'so
Finkelstein later joined us. The other faces were all depress-
ingly mwnmmmb though I had only been very briefly exposed to
them in November. For Ontario, Ian Scott and Patrick
Monahan among others attended. Roger Tassé, Paul Tellier
(clerk of the Privy Council) and Stanley Hartt (the prime min-
1ster’s chief of staff), were among the prominent federal offi-
W%m. Clearly the big guns were going to be playing a major

ole.

.>.m Barbara Knight and I stood chatting, I noticed a number
of officials talking into cellular telephones. As one attendee ac-
curately noted, the cellular phone had now replaced the pager
as the status symbol at federal-provincial conferences. But to
whom could they possibly be talking? And what could they
possibly be saying, since none of us had the slightest idea of
what was going on inside the first ministers’ room? As the
week wore on, I quickly learned that these phones were a use-
mﬁ link between the two or three designated provincial offi-
cials outside the first ministers’ inner sanctum and the hordes
of other delegation members on other floors of the Conference
Centre. They were also what allowed the various delegations
to fuel speculation in the media by means of careful leaks, and
to put the appropriate spins on the various twists and turns of
the negotiations. :

At 10 p.m., with the first ministers still closeted away, a
Eh.ﬁw of officials rushed out to a room where there was a tele-
vision. It seems they wanted to watch “The National” to find
out what the media were saying was going on. The whole sit-
uation struck me as absurd. The dinner finally broke up close
to midnight with Mulroney’s announcement that a private ses-
sion, essentially an extension of the dinner, would start the
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next day at 11 a.m. Many officials had expected that this would
be how the prime minister would finesse the issue of whether
a full-blown conference would be open or closed, and they
were right. !

We did not get a chance to find out what had gone on until
we met with the premier in the Chateau Laurier just after
breakfast the next day — Monday, June 4. Apparently, at the
dinner, little of real substance had been discussed. There had
been an obvious effort to target Wells and Filmon; the team
play of McKenna and Peterson had been particularly apparent.
Mulroney had made some obvious misstatements: at one
point, he referred to the “mandatory delay of three years” as
the reason why Meech was now unravelling. This revealed yet
again his less-than-adequate familiarity with constitutional
principles — there was of course nothing that mandated a
delay of three years. If all provincial legislatures had approved
the Accord as soon as possible after June 23, 1987, then it could
have been proclaimed in force immediately thereafter. The
three-year period stipulated in the Constitution was only a
maximum designed to ensure that a proposed amendment af-
fecting certain matters did not drag on counterproductively. In
other words, if the requisite ratifications were not forthcoming
within three years of the first, then it had to be presumed that
the amendment was not capable of attracting the necessary
public support to sustain its legitimacy.

During the general round-table discussion the previous
night, Mulroney had pointed out that a recent Conseil du Pa-
tronat du Québec poll indicated solid support for the Accord
among Quebec businesspeople, as well as increasing support
for sovereignty association. Mulroney had also alluded to
economic data, conveniently released that weekend, on the
economic consequences of not passing the Accord — for ex-
ample, an increase in Newfoundland’s bond rates by several
basis points above Treasury bill rates in New York, and an in-
crease in Newfoundland’s debt by $100 million because of the
anticipated drop in the dollar. Incredibly, he had also pointed

out that if the country broke up, Ontario and Quebec would be
the twelfth and thirteenth largest economies in the world. We
all choked when we heard this. As the justice minister, Paul
Dicks, succinctly put it, “Brian may yet persuade Quebec to
separate!”



There had been some talk of the need to address the con-
cerns with the Accord now and of how some of the proposals
put forward in Frank McKenna’s companion resolution could
be implemented under the general amending formula without
Quebec but with the province’s tacit consent. David “Mr. Rea-
sonable” Peterson had weighed in with statements to the effect
that the basics of the country were in danger and that the
country could not be kept together on the basis of fear.
Nevertheless, there was never any real indication' from
Bourassa that he was prepared to compromise. On the con-
trary, premiers like Joe Ghiz and John Buchanan had from time
to time asserted categorically that Quebec was in no position to
make concessions. _

Toward the end of the dinner, Mulroney had read an ex-
cerpt from his 1983 book Where I Stand, in which he had set out
his concern about the situation involving the Churchill Falls
power contract. (This was the long-term contract that locked
Newfoundland into selling power to Quebec at fire-sale
prices.) The innuendo went over like a lead balloon. Perhaps
Mulroney’s thin skin had not recovered from the reports
several weeks earlier that Wells had quoted from the same
book to great effect — specifically, from the passages in which
Mulroney had argued passionately in favour of an open consti-
tutional reform process and against any special status for one
province.

After the morning meeting with the Newfoundland dele-
gation, the premier joined the other first ministers in thejr pri-
vate meeting on the fifth floor of the Ottawa Conference Centre
across the street from the Chateau Laurier. It began around 11
a.m. I'sat in the officials’ room across the hall and spent some
time talking to British Columbia’s attorney general, Bud Smith,
and Gil Rémillard. There was limited access to the officials’
room — only two or three passes per province. So Paul Dicks,
Barbara Knight, and I used the passes, while Finkelstein and
the others stayed in the small office on the main floor that had
been allocated to Newfoundland.

The first ministers emerged shortly after noon. The New-
foundland delegation met with the premier for a working
lunch in a meeting room at the Chateau Laurier. The premier
told us that Mulroney had produced what he called a four-
panel plan to direct the discussions: (1) the Meech Lake Accord
would have to be ratified as it stood; (2) consideration would
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hen be given to McKenna’s companion resolution; @ m.ms:b.m

Mmmmnam woc.ﬁ then be addressed that included topics like the

Canada clause, Senate reform, aboriginal nOb.mSE.nwsmH .bmm?

ters, a Code of Minority Rights, and so on; (4) ?.5:% ﬁma&nm-

tions” would be discussed dealing with the distinct society, the

Charter, the spending power, and the role to promote linguistic

minorities. Obviously, the concerns of Newfoundland and

Manitoba were being relegated to the back burner. Equally

seriously, Mulroney wanted everyone to defer the nﬂﬁo&
issues relating to the form the changes would take (that is, ac-
tual amendments to the Accord as opposed to any political
declarations), when action would be taken, and the degree of
nmim,wﬂww I heard Mulroney’s agenda, it was clear to me that
his strategy was to grind down Wells and Filmon and then
reach some agreement on, for example, potential add-ons.
Only then would the issue of timing come up, and of course by
that stage Wells and Filmon would be the only ones insisting
that the changes be implemented before June 23. The prime
minister and the rest of the first ministers would then argue
that the changes could be made after Em. Accord was unani-
mously approved by June 23. At that point they would then
pretend to take the high road and undermine the public sup-
port for Wells and Filmon by claiming that everyone agreed
with the same changes yet Wells and Filmon were prepared to
jeopardize the future of the country for a mere matter of
timing. “

I suggested to the premier that wm. m.roﬂ.bm go on the offen-
sive —in this case, insist that the “clarifications” and w%m. issues
of timing be placed on the table now, and go public if Mul-
roney refused. I had already argued unsuccessfully that he
should refuse to attend in camerd sessions and was not confi-
dent that this suggestion would fare any better. But I still
thought it worthwhile to keep offering such strategies, if only
to ensure that the premier had a range of options to consider.

The premier at least did not reject my idea out of rm.sa and
certainly seemed ill at ease with the state of QﬁozmmHOb.m. A
rather inconclusive debate ensued. Then, abruptly, he mmn.amm
to arrange a joint meeting with Gary Filmon. This was quickly
set for 1:30 p.m. . .

Filmon arrived on time at our Chateau Laurier meeting
room, accompanied by virtually all his key advisors, from his



attorney general to Wally Fox-Decent, the chair of the Mani-
toba Task Force on Meech Lake. I was pleased to see Bryan

Schwartz among them. Schwartz was a professor of constitu-

tional law at the University of Manitoba and was a vocal op-
ponent of Meech — in the fall of 1987 he had written a
devastating critique of the Accord titled “Fathoming Meech
Lake.” He was articulate and persuasive, not to mention ex-
tremely witty, and I was encouraged to find that Filmon had
engaged him.

Filmon briefly outlined his objections to the Accord at the
outset of the meeting. The premier’s observations of the night

before seemed to be true — Filmon was firm in his specific ob-

jections, and his views seemed to be based on his convictions
rather than political expediency. After some rather haphazard
round-table discussion — at this point there were at least fif-
teen people in the room — Filmon announced that when he re-
turned to the meeting he was going to ask the other first
ministers in plain terms whether they were willing to agree to
amendments before June 23. At this point I believed that Fil-
mon’s position was clearer than the premier’s, and that if Fil-
mon stood firm and the premier stood with him, that question
would either bring the meeting to an abrupt end or inspire ac-
tual movement towards a real compromise. I noticed that Fil-
mon and Wells seemed to be on fairly friendly terms and
expected that would help them to establish a common front.

Another, equally important development came from the
meeting. The premier had decided to revise Newfoundland’s.
add-ons slightly in order to demonstrate his good faith and
bolster his and Filmon’s position, which was to insist on
amendments now. Newfoundland’s add-ons had always in-
'+ cluded a proposal for a new preamble to the Constitution that
tracked the language in Manitoba’s proposal for a Canada
clause. But hitherto it had not been put forward as an inter-
pretative clause on equal footing with the distinct society
clause, as was critical to Manitoba’s Canada clause. At the
meeting, one of Filmon’s advisors suggested that our preamble
be converted into an interpretative clause to bring it closer into
line with the Manitoba proposal. Wells agreed to this.

My immediate reaction was positive. I thought the change
would help to link the two provinces and strengthen their re-
sistance to the pro-Meechers’ strategy, which was to divide
Manitoba and Newfoundland. More specifically, I believed
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-Meech forces wanted to isolate Filmon on the issue
Mmmﬁwﬂmrmwmmam clause, which had not been a critical component
of Newfoundland’s position; and E.ms isolate Wells on wrmm
issue of special legislative status, which was not a concern M
Manitoba; and then shuffle off the other mutual Zmémocbm.
land /Manitoba concerns like Senate Hmmon.s to a second round,
or the Charter to a mere political declaration. . .

When the first ministers reconvened around 3 p.m. in their
fifth-floor room, it was announced that .mmnr.nmEE be joined by
his province’s attorney general. Paul Dicks joined the premier.
About thirty minutes later, all of the attorneys general were
asked to leave, and they joined the officials in the room mnmm%m
the hall. I was impatient, thinking that Filmon was mwm y
going to put his question to the oﬁ.rma EmﬁEEmﬁ.mﬂm. mm”.-
tunately, it appears that whatever Filmon said, the issue o g mw
timing of amendments was deferred yet again. I Smw mm
mendously disappointed — I could not believe that both Fil-
mon and Wells could be so easily manipulated by gswosmw.
The optimism I had carried from the lunch meeting quickly
<mE.MM.Mm.&BOmn an hour, the attorneys mwbmu.& returned to the
meeting, which then dragged on SSE about 8 p.m. m>ﬁ-
parently, the discussion centred on the issue of Senate re oﬂw
and how to make the unanimity rule more mnn.mﬁwmw_m by estab-
lishing that a province’s veto could be o<mawaaw= by m mew
datory referendum. In addition, the OE.N /Pic Hmmmrm .
ass-kicker” proposal was put on the table. Jack anmu.mmﬂ.w. a
raised the proposal in an open editorial in the Ottawa Ci Nwm:
that day, and Ghiz now put it moHimﬁ. (Who gave it such a
tasteless label is anyone’s guess.) The idea was that E»m%mmzm
negotiations on Senate reform would continue until 19 m.m
which time, if there was no agreément, an automatic redis-
tribution of seats would take place to enhance the repre-
sentation of small provinces, and the Senate Soﬁm amﬁmmw mﬁw
same plenary powers. The czm&..@ﬁm wmmﬁbwnnwb Mmmm .mm

the prospect of an automatic H.m&mgwﬁaob would galvaniz
recalcitrant provinces into seeking an mmEM mmu.mmgwbﬂ 0
The first ministers’ meeting broke up inconclusively wi
an agreement simply to reconvene the next morning. That mw\m-
ning marked the start of what was to become a regular Hms ine
whenever the first ministers made the trek through the en-
trance of the Conference Centre across to either the Chateau



Laurier or the Westin Hotel. Every time meetings broke up
Bowm of reporters and photographers would line both sides of
the mﬁms\m:m crushed behind metal gates and shout questions
at each passing premier. All the regulars were there, including
Uo# Newman of CBC Newsworld and Wendy Mesley of The
National. I couldn’t get over the amount of money and time the
mewpmwgmnm ww&owmq investing in covering the meetings, all
e hope of catching a rush i wa

o the 0 Ww,mﬁ Catchin HM . ed response in a haphazard way

From time to time, however, premiers would pause at a mi-
crophone to provide an impromptu press conference. After
Monday’s meeting, Frank McKenna stopped to announce that
New Brunswick now endorsed the Meech Lake Accord. Given
that rm. had said as much when he introduced the companion
m.m.mo_sﬂo? this was a non-event if I ever saw one. As my cyn-
lcism mounted, I presumed that he was trying to put out at
least some “good news” at the end of the day and to pretend
that there was some “momentum” for agreement. Certainly, as
far as I could tell, Premier Wells considered McKenna’s wb-
nouncement insignificant.

_That evening Wells hosted an impromptu dinner in his
suite for the other premiers, all of whom attended except
McKenna. Apparently it was the Atlantic premiers’ idea. I was
somewhat bemused by the dinner; given the relaxed atmos-
phere, I had to believe that a deal might well be worked out

,;mnm. was little to be done at the officials’ level, so I m@mb..n
the evening returning calls to some reporters who wanted:
Newfoundland’s position to be explained or clarified. Earlier
that day Judy Foote and I had become aware that Norman
Spector and other officials were giving off-the-record briefings
. and putting a favourable spin on events. Judy thought I should

assist her in talking to the various reporters who were callin
to ask for alternative explanations and predictions. -

I agreed, but it was always an exhausting uphill battle.
During one conversation, an Ottawa Citizen reporter asked me

if the premier would now moderate his position on special

legislative status, given that most of the premier i

agreement on the issue. I was surprised, to Wm% the m_mw%wmmmm
responded that to my knowledge the issue of special legisla-
tive status was still very much under discussion. When I ques-
tioned him on this point, he told me that Norman Spector had
suggested earlier that day that this issue had been resolved. -
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In another conversation, a Globe and Mail financial reporter
quizzed me about Newfoundland’s response to the predic-
tions that if Meech failed, economic catastrophe would follow.
I suggested in exasperation that he should also quiz the PMO
types about what sort of back-up plan they had, since the un-
certainty about whether the feds had a back-up plan was as un-
settling to the financial markets as the possibility that the
Accord might fail. The reporter agreed, but added that he
could never get any PMO types to comment. I suggested that
he write an article about the fact that they refused to comment.
He never did.

On Tuesday, June 5, the Newfoundland delegation met for
what was to be a regular early-morning breakfast meeting in
the premier’s suite. Wells seemed relaxed and announced that
he planned to present to the other premiers his absolute irre-
ducible minimum of changes to the Accord. He then said that
he wanted to set out three essential areas of add-ons: the first to
deal with concerns relating to the Charter and special legisla-
tive status arising from the distinct society clause; the second
to involve a sunset clause on the veto over Senate reform; and
the third to mitigate the restrictions on the federal spending
power. I immediately voiced my concern that this would in-
volve dropping the preamble proposal, which I saw as our
critical link with Manitoba’s position. The premier listened
politely, but made it clear that he did not consider the link im-
portant, and so I resigned myself to his direction. For the first

time, I was really frustrated that the premier did not think
more strategically and, for example, see the advantage of the
Manitoba link, and was not sufficiently on guard against
manipulation. As usual, I still held out hope that even his irre-
ducible minimum would prove unacceptable and that the Ac-
cord would eventually be reopened, but I had also resigned
myself to the fact that if the others were prepared to move on
these issues, there would be a compromise — which is pre-
cisely why Neil Finkelstein was there. It was obvious that the
premier was under enormous pressure to approve the Accord
in its present version, and though I was sympathetic, I was also
disappointed that the politics of manipulation might soon win
out over principle.
The first ministers reconvened around 10 a.m., and I
headed up to the officials’ room in the small elevator with
Newfoundland MHA Walter Noel, who had taken one of the



floating passes. Coincidentally, we ended up sharing the eleva-
tor with Gil Rémillard and Robert Bourassa. We exchanged
small talk and then Rémillard, to my astonishment, asked us
whether we would all be in the same country tomorrow. Noel
and I promptly replied yes, at which point both Rémillard and
Bourassa shook their heads and Bourassa mumbled, “I think
not.” I can only assume that this was all part of a conscious
strategy to escalate the pressure. But what a method! )

The first ministers’ meeting went on in camera virtually
non-stop through lunch until early afternoon. I spent most of
the time talking to other officials on the fifth floor. In the after-
noon, the Saskatchewan delegation’s draft of a Canada clause
began to circulate on photocopied sheets. This provided the
occasion for the first structured discussions among officials.
Up to this point, we all had mainly engaged in small talk.

To accommodate all of the officials’ meetings, the rule
about restricted access to the fifth floor had apparently been
lifted. This meant that most of the Manitoba and Newfound-
land delegates were able to crowd into a small fifth-floor room
to examine the draft together. This was in my view a critical
meeting because we reached the conclusion that Newfound-
land’s concerns about special legislative status could be
addressed just as well through a modification of a sub-clause
in the Canada clause that mentioned the principle of the equal-
ity of the provinces. I saw this as potentially an excellent way
to ensure that Newfoundland could support Manitoba’s
Canada clause, even though it was not exactly part of our irre-

ducible minimum. From then on, at every opportunity, I put |

forward the argument for the Canada clause option. I believe
this played an important role in shaking up, at least tem-
porarily, the feds’ carefully laid out plans to isolate Manitoba
on the Canada clause.

A few minutes after the meeting began, both Wells and Fil-
mon joined us and announced that we would divide into two
groups. Vic Taves of Manitoba, Jim Thistle, the deputy minister
of justice, and I would join Roger Tassé to discuss Newfound-
land’s proposed add-ons to deal with the Charter and the
special legislative status. At the same time, Neil Finkelstein
would join a larger meeting of officials from all the other pro-
vinces to discuss the Canada clause. The premiers then re-
turned to their in camera session. I don’t know how it was
decided that Newfoundland’s concerns about the distinct

society clause should be isolated in a bilateral meeting, but I
was convinced that manipulation was underway to keep

Manitoba and Newfoundland apart.

At my meeting, Tassé put forward the now-familiar mmmmu.,&
position that the distinct society clause did not create a special
legislative status, but that Ottawa might be prepared to ex-
amine a new subsection similar to the Chrétien proposal that
he had discussed with Wells in St. John’s. In the end, the meet-
ing was inconclusive and frustrating, and not only because of
Tassé’s position. I was favourably impressed with Taves, .E:o
had obviously been instructed to support whatever position
Newfoundland took. I was shocked, however, when our own
deputy minister began suggesting mBmzmg.m.am that émmwgmmw
the already minimalist Newfoundland position. Admittedly, it
was unfortunate that Thistle had not been more fully briefed
on the background leading to the draft; even so, I found it in-
credible that he would directly contradict me on several
points. I then remembered that he had from the w.mm.wbzgm m&m-
agreed with the premier’s interpretation of the distinct society
clause, and that he had been part of Brian Peckford’s team
during the original Meech Lake negotiations. Clearly, his
views had not changed. , . .

Fortunately, just before we reached an explosion point — I
was about to ask Thistle to step outside the room for a moment
so I could speak to him in private — the first ministers con-
cluded their evening session. It was about 7 p.m. Both officials
meetings were then interrupted so that we could confer with
our respective premiers. While the deputy minister and Neil
Finkelstein were in one of the Conference Centre rooms, I was
able to describe to Wells the nature of the dispute in the Tassé
meeting without expressly mentioning the mmﬂsq minister. As
I expected, the premier indicated that he _disagreed with
Thistle’s position. He then instructed us that n... there was ever
any disagreement among Newfoundland officials, we were
immediately to break off any meeting and consult with him to
resolve the situation before the meeting proceeded. This direc-
tion seemed entirely sensible to me. o

The Tassé meeting resumed. Finkelstein now joinéd Taves,
the deputy, and me, since his meeting on the Canada clause
had wound up inconclusively. Finkelstein was mEm to recover
any ground that we might have lost. By midnight we too
wound up rather inconclusively, with Newfoundland’s add-



ons still on the table in more or less the same conditi S
emphasized again and again how difficult it would vmwww,WMM
vwn.ﬂo accept anything and that the Charter add-on would be
&@nﬁ# enough, never mind any add-on relating to the special
legislative status. That was the frustrating theme of the entire
week — there was never really any objective, rational discus-
sion of the merits of any proposal or concern — just “What is
acceptable to Quebec?” To which the answer was invariably,

“Nothing that would involve an
prior to Tune 23~ y amendment to the Accord
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Caught in the Vortex

UR BREAKFAST MEETING on Wednesday, June 6,

gave us little indication of how long the ordeal was

going to last. The premier simply relayed some of the
details of the rather desultory talks on Senate reform and other
matters. Meanwhile, Robert Bourassa was refusing to discuss
anything other than the topics for the second round. Wells
seemed discouraged.

What surprised me the most at this stage was how much
success the pro-Meech forces were having in pressuring Wells
to compromise. Like everyone around him, he knew how mas-
sive his public support was, and he must have known that if he
just said “enough is enough” and walked out, this support
would increase. Yet clearly, the constant reminders in the first
ministers’ meetings that he would be responsible for killing
Meech and possibly destroying Canada were successfully get-
ting to him — to the extent, at least, that he felt compelled to
soldier on in discussions that could only lead to more conces-
sions. I wasn’t prepared for this disturbing dimension to the
debate. Since I wasn’t able to witness the pressure tactics being
used against him in the closed meetings, I found it impossible
to assess their impact on the premier.

That morning during a break, Wells and Filmon emerged
briefly from the closed meeting to discuss the possibility of a
delayed proclamation of the Accord pending the approval of a
companion resolution. Wells seemed tense and a little on edge.
This time we all met in the office of the Manitoba delegation on



the main floor. The best legal advice from both Finkelstein and
the Manitoba lawyers was that even this would require eleven
new resolutions prior to June 23, which was once more out of
the question for Quebec. I felt depressed: both men were now
desperately seeking a way to “save the Accord” and accommo-
date the others. It was clear to me that they were being gradu-
ally forced to retreat, and that once they abandoned their
insistence that the Accord be changed before it came into force,
capitulation was just a matter of time. h
During a brief meeting with the premier around noon in
Newfoundland’s ground-floor office, Sharon Carstairs made
an appearance. The premier suggested that she come back and
speak to me in the afternoon. When she returned, Finkelstein
and I explained to her the stage the talks were at, the New-
foundland add-ons, the debate on Manitoba’s Canada clause,
and so on. Carstairs replied that it was important for her to
know exactly what Newfoundland’s position was at any given
point, since she had told Filmon that she would stick with
Wells, whose position would in effect govern the extent of her-
support for Filmon. She then explained that she had been “in-
formed” that Wells only supported a new preamble to the Con-

stitution, not the full-blown interpretative Canada clause that

Manitoba wanted.

I was surprised and quickly explained that while it was
true that Newfoundland’s add-ons involved a new preamble,

this was only one of several add-ons. I then explained that

Newfoundland was fully prepared to support Manitoba's
Canada clause and indeed use it to accommodate our add-on
regarding special legislative status. It was obvious to me what
was happening: Carstairs’s “informers” were trying to per-
suade her that Wells was not prepared to hold out for the
Canada clause, in which case she would presumably “stick
with Wells” and undermine Filmon’s commitment to a Canada

clause. Many pro-Meech strategists believed that this Canada .

clause commitment was the biggest obstacle to overcome vis-
a-vis Manitoba and that once they had overcome it, they could
focus exclusively on grinding down Wells.

At this stage, I was not certain who Carstairs was listening
to, but I suspected it was Jean Chrétien and his advisors. Sure
enough, I soon discovered that they were camped out in the
Chateau Laurier. Shortly after Carstairs left, Finkelstein went
back into a meeting to discuss the Canada clause. A message
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me on the fifth floor from our office that Car-
MMMW.M mmwwmowmma looking for Finkelstein, and I was asked to re-
Eﬂw Mmm\nwwm Carstairs rather uncomfortably told me nﬂmwmﬁm.
was not really the person who wanted to speak to mﬁwm m%mH
it was Eric Maldoff. I bluntly replied that Finkelstein w a
ready made arrangements with me regarding his contact wi
Maldoff and others and that Maldoff could relay his Bmmwwmm
to Finkelstein through me. Carstairs was clearly mSmHmmo m
situation and quickly hung up without putting zmﬁoH oma.r
now realized that we would have a second front to deal wi :
I sent the premier a note about the probable nmamﬁmﬂm
Maldoff-Chrétien-Hartt pipeline. He mB.mHmmm to express Hw
concerns about being used in some UmﬁE&-?m-m.nm.SWm 2ww~.r
then arranged to join a new meeting of some officia mmr w. M :
the premier had initiated, to discuss in general terms the n.o\n
cerns of Newfoundland and Manitoba and the appropriate
m&&%%oﬂﬁ that time, David Peterson came out of the Bmmﬁbm
room with a draft of a preamble, which had mBmHmm% rom
somewhere, and sat down at a round table in the open omH%m
area to talk about it with the Quebec omﬁmﬂm. It was Ob% oO m.
weakest versions I had yet seen, msa.:.ﬁmm clear \%mﬁ. t %Q me
bec officials were not the slightest bit interested. ngsm soQ
bode well for the much stronger Canada clause and co Ebmm
most people’s assumptions — that Quebec was not prepare
A one inch. .
° UMM Wmog the various pieces of paper floating around wmwm
meetings were creating chaos. Canada .&mcmmm ms.m pream _mw
would emerge virtually out of thin air, and officials Mwos
casually discuss issues working mao.g different Qamwﬂm. MMM
point, I began noting the date and time of receipt of any ﬂ e
of paper in order to try to regulate the chaos. I have mwsnwm .mm__m
told by several very experienced intergovernmental o Qn% S
that without a doubt this was the most disorganized and dis
connected conference they had ever mﬁmsamﬁ. . »
That afternoon I had my first direct run-in with OEMHMV s
attorney general, Ian Scott. The premier .m:.a. mngoﬁ H_wm . m
cided that a small meeting of selected .omwemmm should be he !
that evening to discuss the distinct society clause. The wuwn:mm.
had expressly asked that constitutional expert mzm.OEmHH% o
ficial Peter Hogg be invited to attend. (A legal opinion Hogg



had written for the Ontario government had concluded that no
special legislative status was created by this clause.)

I cannot remember quite how it came about, but Scott was
present at one of the many spontaneous corridor meetings
among officials. When he learned of the more formal meeting
that Filmon and Wells had arranged, he stated abruptly that
Patrick Monahan would also attend. (Neither he nor Monahan
had been invited.) I replied equally abruptly that since this was
a restricted meeting, I would have to ask the premier for in-
structions. As I expected, the premier indicated that this was
not to be a full-scale officials’ meeting and that only Hogg was
invited. When I relayed this to Scott, he was affronted. Finally,
I told him that my instructions came from Wells and that rm
was free to consult Peterson. Ultimately, he did just that. Peter-
son in turn spoke to Wells. In the end, both he and Monahan at-
tended the meeting, as did Roger Tassé and Mary Dawson.
Apparently, the word went out that this meeting was the place
to be, and it grew to a rather unwieldy size of some fifteen or
so officials. ,

_ The discussion ended in an inconclusive exchange of legal
views regarding the impact of ‘the distinct society clause.
.HMEWmHmw.mE\ Scott, and Hogg were the main participants. Most.
Interesting from my perspective was the presence of three key
mQSm.on from Quebec — André Tremblay, Jean K. Samson, and
Benoit Morin. These three participated constructively in the
exchange and admitted that the clause would of course have

some substantive effect, though in their view only a minimal

one.

Hrm. premier arrived around 10:30 p.m., after the break-up
of the Hﬁ:,mw. ministers’ meeting, but stayed only briefly and did
not really join in. He encouraged everyone to keep talking and
then headed back to the hotel. The meeting then dissolved.
Finkelstein continued a private meeting with Tremblay about
how to accommodate Newfoundland’s proposed add-on to

the distinct society clause. He seemed to think that there was -

some way of drafting it that would satisfy Quebec, and Trem-
E.m% professed interest. I was sceptical but of course did not in-
terfere. Instead, I finished off some work at the office. Shortly
after midnight, Finkelstein came down to the office, and he
and I walked back to the Chateau Laurier together. As we
entered the lobby, out of the blue appeared Eric Maldoff and
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Eddie Goldenberg, who looked very surprised to see me. The
second front had arrived.

It was clear that Maldoff, Goldenberg, and then John Rae —
who emerged from the elevator a few minutes later — were
hoping to meet Finkelstein alone. Although I have no doubt
that Finkelstein would have honoured our arrangement and
spoken to me after, I also have no doubt that he would have
joined some old friends for a drink. Obviously, the aim of the
Chrétien team was to use him as a direct route to the premier.

My presence spoiled whatever had been in the works at
that moment. Finkelstein, who was clearly uncomfortable, said
hello and good night to them. As we walked to our rooms,
which were on the same floor of the Chateau, I apologized to
Finkelstein for placing him in an awkward position. I believe
he understood. :

At Thursday’s breakfast meeting, I was exhausted. As the
premier summarized Wednesday’s meetings, it seemed to me
the wheels were spinning. None of the pro-Meech premiers
had changed their positions, and neither had the prime minis-
ter. Not only was Bourassa insisting on only discussing topics
for the second round, but both he and Mulroney were back to
the old fallacious arguments: Quebec already had an effective
veto over Senate reform, so why the concern? (In fact, their ar-
gument was legally wrong and had already been decisively re-
jected in a memorandum by Manitoba’s constitutional expert,
Bryan Schwartz, some weeks earlier.)

All that had really been discussed the previous day were
various components of McKenna’s companion resolution; the
critical issues of timing and certainty were sidestepped yet
again. Once more, my only thought was that the premier and
Filmon must threaten and then, if necessary, carry out the

threat to walk out and go public, if Mulroney continued to re-
fuse to permit an open meeting and to settle the issues of the
timing and certainty of any amendments. I felt that the premier
had already compromised far too much and was losing his
perspective after three exhausting days of inconclusive meet-
ings. I told him that, but he was still reluctant to walk out,
believing that further discussions were still worthwhile.

Finkelstein mentioned that he and Tremblay had kept try-
ing the evening before to find common ground on an add-on to
the distinct society clause and that Tremblay had called him
early in the morning to discuss a variation on Newfoundland's
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proposal that he had formulated overnight. Wells encouraged
him to keep the discussions going. So once the first ministers
went into their private morning session, Finkelstein and I met
Tremblay in the fifth-floor lounge and discussed Tremblay’s
variation. Not surprisingly, it would have simply confirmed
the special legislative status by stating explicitly that under the
distinct society clause Quebec could legislate in respect of a
distinct characteristic not shared by other provinces — that is,
its francophone majority.

I'was most surprised, however, to hear Finkelstein say that
he thought it might be acceptable to the premier. Knowing the
premier’s views on special status, I thought the premier could
not possibly go along with it. Moreover, Tremblay had the
honesty to admit that this was only his own proposal and that
Quebec could never officially accept it as an amendment to the
Accord. At most, it could be set out in a legal opinion of some
sort that Quebec would not sign and that would have little if
any legal weight in the courts. This statement showed how

astonishingly inflexible Quebec was, and further convinced

me that Quebec’s delegation, at least, no longer had the slight-
est interest in saving the Accord.

Our meeting with Tremblay broke up on the under-
standing that his proposal would be put to the premier when

he came out of the first ministers’ meeting. Finkelstein and I

then discussed the proposal: he thought it would actually limit
the application of the distinct society clause; I thought that the
powers it gave Quebec to promote its francophone majority
could extend to virtually any action taken by the Quebec
government. .

In further corridor discussions with Ontario and Manitoba
officials, I was relieved to find that Manitoba’s advisors, in-
cluding Vic Taves, shared my view that Tremblay’s proposal
would in fact underline Quebec’s special legislative status.
Finkelstein and I then wrote a brief memo for the premier set-
ting out the pros and cons of the proposal. I inserted my rec-
ommendation that it was more worthwhile at this stage to
drop the idea of a separate clarification of the distinct society
clause altogether and to pursue the Canada clause option for
dealing with Newfoundland’s concerns about special legisla-
tive status. Once more I was determined to ensure that New-
foundland would support Manitoba’s Canada clause.
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Later in the morning, when I was talking .ﬁo.ﬁrm premier
and several Manitoba officials in the corridor o.cwmam the inner
sanctum, Gary Filmon suddenly emerged and joined cm.\H took
the opportunity to remind them all that Newfoundland’s con-
cerns could be dealt with through the Canada clause .mbm toask
outright what was happening to the clause in the first minis-
ters’ meeting. As I expected, Filmon replied that it was not yet
seriously “on the table.” This thoroughly discouraged me, but
I hoped that jogging their thoughts in the area might be help-
ful.

The premiers worked through lunch. Then, in the early af-
ternoon, the premier suddenly reappeared to call a meeting of
Manitoba’s legal advisors, the three Manitoba party leaders,
Finkelstein, me, and by invitation, Roger Tassé and Peter
Hogg.* -

While we waited for the Manitoba opposition leaders to ar-
rive, I had a few moments with the premier and passed on
Finkelstein’s and my memo on the Tremblay proposal. He
skimmed it, but made no comment on its substance. We all
then congregated in a spare room on a lower floor for the meet-

e The Manitoba party leaders and the premier first had a pri-
vate session while the rest of us sat in the corridor. After we
joined them, everyone proceeded through a fairly clear-cut
agenda. We started with the feds’ add-on proposal to the dis-
tinct society clause — the one that had oﬂ.mEm:% been put for-
ward by Tassé in May and that had earlier _,mmﬁmm..nmm in Em
Maldoff document. The premier asked what the difference in
legal impact would be between putting it in a mere political
declaration by first ministers and making it an express mB\mH&-
ment to the Accord or other constitutional provision. Tassé and
Hogg, among others, confirmed that a political declaration
would carry at most “some weight” in the courts, certainly less
weight than an actual amendment.

We then moved ahead to the Newfoundland add-on deal-
ing with the special legislative status created U.% the distinct
society clause. Tassé and Hogg both repeated their well-known

* Some Manitoba officials were always taken aback é.:wn the premier
consulted Peter Hogg from time to time, since he was om._o_mzvh part om.zwm
Ontario delegation and inevitably suspect. The premier was not “caving in”;
rather, he genuinely respected Hogg’s ability to give objective constitutional
advice, as did I. ‘
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views that of course the add-on was not necessary since Que-
bec did not get any special powers, but they also added that
Tremblay’s variation of this add-on could at least be con-
sidered for a political declaration. The Manitoba advisors then
stated their concern, which I shared, that Tremblay’s reference
to Quebec legislating to promote its francophone majority
could extend to almost anything and would actually confirm
the special legislative status.

Again, we just moved on, but this time to the Canada
clause, which was the interpretative clause that would set out
the fundamental characteristics of Canada. Here, fortunately,
the premier himself raised the possibility that concerns about
the special legislative status could be addressed in the Canada
clause subsection involving the principle of the equality of the
provinces. Tassé began to look distinctly uncomfortable as he
realized what was going on. The premier then asked Hogg
directly whether the Canada clause option would accomplish
the same end as the Tremblay clause in eliminating any special
legislative status. Hogg advised him that it would. I heaved a
sigh of relief — this provided us with a great tactical advan-
tage, as was obvious immediately from Tassé’s agitation. He
began to argue that the principle of equality of the provinces
was already in the preamble to the Meech Lake Accord and
that therefore there was no need to put it in again in the
Canada clause. At one point he even rose from his seat and
went around the table to point out the preamble reference for
Filmon. Of course, he did not add that this preambular refer-

ence was of zero legal significance, and that the reference in the

Canada clause would have much more legal weight. I hoped
that both the premier and Filmon, as well as Sharon Carstairs
and Gary Doer, could sense what was happening. Tassé was
now worried that Manitoba and Newfoundland would form a
common front, linking the former’s Canada clause with the lat-
ter’s special status concerns. This of course would have

frustrated the federal strategy, which was to isolate the two .

provinces from each other.

At the end of the meeting, the other details of the Canada
clause were discussed, and Tassé made the now-standard ar-
gument that it was not necessary to have the Canada clause in
interpretative form like the distinct society clause. Finkelstein
and the Manitoba officials set out the opposite case — that the
two clauses should be similar. Tassé knew the Quebec delega-

CAUGHT IN THE VORTEX 121

tion did not want to dilute the special status of the distinct
society clause by giving the Canada clause equal weight. This
was yet another example of extraordinary narrow-minded-
ness.

After the meeting, all of the legal advisors left the political
leaders alone again. This was around 4 p.m. Twenty minutes
later, Bourassa suddenly appeared with Tassé and entered the
room alone. (Tassé wanted to join him but it was decided that
the meeting would be for politicians only.) Bourassa emerged
some fifteen minutes later and disappeared. The others
emerged shortly after.

It was now 5 p.m. The premier, Finkelstein, and I returned
to the fifth floor for a brief meeting with the other Newfound-
land officials. The premier now indicated that he and Filmon
had agreed on a joint “bottom line.” I was disturbed to learn
that the first element would be a mere political declaration re-
garding the impact of the distinct society clause on the Charter
— a major concession in my view and unwarranted since no
one else seemed to be making any concessions. But I was too
numb at this point to make a full-scale protest, and only voiced
my surprise. The remaining joint bottom line included the fol-
lowing provisions: a Canada clause with.the all-important
equality-of-provinces sub-clause; something on Senate reform
such as the Ghiz-Pickersgill proposal; and a provision, as yet
unspecified, to deal with the issues related to the .mmm.mw.&
spending power. These provisions were more encouraging, vm-
cause they signalled that Newfoundland would stick with
Manitoba on the Canada clause. Perhaps this show of solidar-
ity would force the others to revise their “isolate and grind
down” strategy.

The premier then went back into the private meetings, and
we returned to the officials’ room for several hours of tense
waiting. Rumours soon began to fly that shouting had been
heard, that someone was about to walk out, and so on. The
cellular telephones were going wild.

About 9 p.m., the premier’s executive assistant came up
from our delegation office and handed us a one-line press re-
lease that had just been issued by the Quebec delegation. It
stated bluntly that the Quebec premier had announced that he
would no longer participate in any further discussion of the
distinct society clause. Incredibly, Bourassa was still in the con-
ference room with the other first ministers and had not in-
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formed them of the statement, as we subsequently learned
from the premier, to whom we immediately sent a copy.

Obviously, whatever Robert Bourassa was saying in the
private sessions, the political heat from the PQ opposition in
Quebec was beginning to tell on him. Jacques Parizeau, the PQ
leader, had performed effectively at a press conference the day
before, and most speculation among officials on Thursday
morning focused on how much longer Bourassa could politi-
cally afford to stay locked up, and whether he would walk
before Filmon or Wells.

As Patrick Monahan set out in his recent account of the
Meech debate, Ontario’s Ian Scott had decided that Wells and
Filmon were not getting the message that Meech had to pass
without changes and that a “reality check” was needed to jolt
them. He discussed this with the Quebec delegation which un-
doubtedly contributed to the decision to issue a press release.
It would be difficult to find a more arrogant and insensitive in-
itiative.

Scott’s involvement certainly fits with an event that oc-
curred a few minutes later as the first ministers’ meeting was
breaking up with considerable disarray and acrimony. Just
before the premier emerged, while Finkelstein and I were wait-
ing in the corridor, he marched over and shouted at us, “You
have taken Canada apart. You have! You have!” I had always
known that Scott was an effective trial lawyer, but in these cir-
cumstances the theatrics were excessive. Moreover, neither
Finkelstein nor I had a clue about what had happened. At that
moment, the premier arrived, looking tense, and we all quickly
walked over to his room in the Chateau for a meeting. !

Apparently, Wells had presented the other premiers with
the joint Manitoba/Newfoundland bottom line, and Bourassa
and Peterson had blown up and accused him of trying to break
up Canada. Ghiz also joined the harangue. For some reason,
they had expected this presentation to be much milder, which
astounded me, since from my perspective Newfoundland’s
position was now pared to the bone. ‘

I returned to my room close to midnight. But I was not to
have much rest, since the second front was getting back to
work, in the person this time of Brian Tobin, the Newfound-
land MP who was chairman of the federal Liberal caucus and
Chrétien’s “agent” during the constitutional talks. Tobin had
been trying to call the premier to warn him that the federal
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spin doctors were out trying to pin the blame on the nasty Lib-
erals and that they were furiously spreading stories — for ex-
ample, that somehow Sharon Carstairs was HmmvosEEm for the
blow-up of the first ministers’ meeting that night.

gw first reaction was how absurd, and that the situation
could easily be spun back to reality by an explanatory state-
ment the next day by the premier, which I would definitely dis-
cuss with him at the next day’s breakfast meeting. I told H.b%mmm
that Tobin was likely worried that his boss was failing to
“deliver” Carstairs and Wells, and that the feds were preparing
to cut the lines of communication and begin a full-scale attack
on Chrétien, which would heighten the present divisions
within the Liberal Party. Tobin continued to play an active role
as Chrétien’s agent throughout the week as well as during the
days leading to the June 23 deadline. Mainly, this would in-
volve pressuring individual Newfoundland MHAs to support
the Accord in the free vote and creating deliberately false spins
in Ottawa by saying that the premier actually wanted the Ac-
cord to pass.
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Master Manipulators
at Work

on Friday morning. I arrived at the premier’s room for

the breakfast meeting to find television cameras and
reporters camped outside. The premier was already meeting
with Neil Finkelstein, Eddie Goldenberg, Eric Maldoff, and
mrm.uouﬂ Carstairs. I did not join the meeting, but waited in the
dining room with the other members of the Newfoundland
delegation.

After they left, the premier did not speak to me about what
had transpired. Finkelstein later explained that he had re-
ceived an anxious phone call from Maldoff and Goldenberg at
6:45 a.m. asking for an urgent meeting with the premier. I have

z< FEARS ABOUT THE SECOND front were realized

subsequently learned that Chrétien’s people supposedly-

wanted to warn Wells of federal “spins” that claimed the
premier was emotionally unstable. (Apparently there had been
some tense exchanges among Wells and several other premiers
the evening before, when Wells presented the joint Newfound-
land /Manitoba position. Several premiers reportedly accused
Wells of trying to break up Canada.) Presumably, they also
wanted to talk about Tobin’s concerns that Mulroney would at-
ﬁmgmﬁ to blame the Liberals.

iven that Chrétien’s people were desperately hoping for a
deal and that they nosmamawa me a Eoww to W_m %um%mmh I
could only view their visit as manipulative. This was con-
firmed when I learned the following week that back in Win-
nipeg, Sharon Carstairs was confiding in friends that the
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premier had had a nervous breakdown on the Thursday eve-
ning. This rumour was scurrilous, but it leads one to believe
that during the Ottawa meetings Carstairs and company were
actually heightening the effect of the federal spins in order to
undermine Wells and conclude an agreement.

Over breakfast the premier was tense and very short-
tempered and announced that he was now totally frustrated
and was going to call a press conference to explain exactly
what was going on, to indicate how far Newfoundland and
Manitoba had compromised and how intransigent everyone
else was. Judy Foote agreed with the idea, but advised the
premier not to inform the other premiers first; otherwise, as
she was now fully aware, the spin doctors would be out imme-
diately to pre-empt or bury his statements.

Finkelstein and I were instructed to draw up a brief paper
indicating the evolution of Newfoundland’s position up to the
present time. We did this in the Newfoundland office after the
first ministers began their private session. (Bourassa remained
at the hotel, as was consistent with his press release.) Only at
this point did Finkelstein point out that at the morning meet-
ing with Goldenberg, Maldoff, and Carstairs, the premier had
given ground even on the bare-bones bottom line of the pre-
vious evening. More specifically, he had apparently suggested
that he could accept a political declaration not only on the
Charter concern about the distinct society clause, but also on
the special legislative status. In other words, the Canada
clause, our link to Manitoba, had now been dropped from
Newfoundland'’s list.

When I heard this concession, I exploded at Finkelstein and
the others in the office, who happened to include Eugene For-
sey. I told Finkelstein that I was absolutely certain that within
ten minutes of the meeting, the premier’s views would have
been in Stanley Hartt’s hands via Chrétien’s people and must
even now be on the table in some form in front of the first min-
isters. Filmon’s resolve that the Canada clause must be imple-
mented by June 23 would now be undermined, since Carstairs
would of course “stick with Wells” and abandon her support
for Filmon, at least with respect to the Canada clause.

Without a doubt, this was the most upsetting moment of
that entire ordeal. What bothered me the most was not the pro-
spect of an agreement, to which I was already resigned, but the
unfair manipulation by the premier’s fellow Liberals, who



were now deliberately undermining the premier’s negotiating
strength and forcing him to capitulate rather than seek a com-
promise.

But still more upsetting news was on the way. Eugene For-
sey sadly submitted his resignation from the delegation so that
he could be free to criticize the entire process and whatever
product might emerge. I could not blame him — he too had ob-
served the steady erosion of Newfoundland’s position and
could not accept what was happening. Although he had not
been at many of our meetings, he had dropped by the office
regularly every day and knew what was happening. Just the
day before, I had been angered to learn that after Rosie and I
had arranged a pass for him to the fifth-floor officials’ room,
federal government bureaucrats had refused him access. A
more disgraceful and disrespectful situation would be hard to
imagine.

I sent Forsey’s handwritten letter of resignation to the
premier, who apparently read it out to the other first ministers
and told them that it was one of the saddest things that he had
ever received. He relayed his regrets by speaking personally to
Forsey when he emerged for a brief lunch break. .

Meanwhile, the material that Finkelstein and I had put to- -

gether was complete, and Judy and I began to speculate about
when the premier might call the press conference. However, it
transpired that against Judy’s advice, but consistent with his
openness, the premier had announced his intentions to the
other first ministers. Mulroney of course pressed him to defer
the conference, not to jump prematurely, and so on. The confer-
ence never took place. _

. Hua?mzm meetings continued all afternoon and into the eve-
ning, with various premiers, including Wells, emerging from
time to time to ask advice about this or that proposal. Although
no one had any idea how close an agreement might be, I was
now resigned to the fact that something would soon emerge.
Judy, Robert Dornan, and I were now concerned mainly about
ensuring that at the very least the premier respected his
numerous assertions that he would never sign a document be-
hind closed doors without first allowing the people of New-
foundland and Labrador to have their say. «

During the last few hours before the tentative deal was
reached — which happened about 8 p.m. — I finally had an
opportunity to speak more informally with some of Gary Fil-
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mon’s advisors. In at least some cases, their opposition to
Meech ran as deep as mine. They were as upset as I was to see
their premier making compromises while the pro-Meech
forces dug in. Up to the moment the deal was announced, I
never gave up hope that something might happen to make Fil-
mon and Wells call a halt to the process. I certainly never ex-
pected that the jolt, at least where Wells was concerned, would
come after a tentative deal had been reached.

I also had some long conversations with Newfoundland’s
justice minister, Paul Dicks. As it turned out, his views on the
substance of the Accord often coincided with mine. He was
fully aware of the manipulation that was going on and the tac-
tics being used. He also had a valuable political perspective on
how all this was playing to the public back home. He was
equally aware of the Chrétien/Goldenberg/Maldoff team’s in-
volvement, and I told him what I thought of their unacceptable
tactics and unnecessary involvement. At one point in the after-
noon, he was called over for a meeting with Brian Tobin, Eric
Maldoff, and Eddie Goldenberg in the Chateau and given the
now-familiar message: the Accord is bad but rejecting it now
would be worse and it was time to hold our noses and jump. I
joked with him, saying he should tell them he first had to check
with Coyne. It would have been worth saying just for the ex-
pression on their faces.

I understand that Dicks was later classified as a “Chrétien
person” under Tobin’s influence who would likely vote in
favour of the Accord in the free vote. But for anyone who
listened to Dicks’s opening speech in the debate, in which he
condemned Meech as an example of appeasement a la Munich,
it is beyond comprehension that he would have voted in
favour of the Accord. To the extent that such rumours were
being circulated by Tobin and others, this was a further ex-
ample of the manipulation and spins that obscured the final
days of the debate.

Around 8 p.m. the premiers emerged and joined the mobin
the officials’ room. The word quickly spread that there was a
tentative deal. As expected, it involved the accepting of Meech
without amendments, as well as a companion resolution and
future talks. Wells looked exhausted, and I was concerned that
it was simply impossible now for him to assess how much he
had conceded. By this time I was so worn out I could barely

distinguish one day from the next; as the premier said later
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that night, it was like being caught up in a vortex from which
you could not escape. He confirmed that there was an agree-
ment and then at one point turned to me and said, “I know you
won'’t like it, Debbie.” He was definitely not happy, but he
seemed resigned and relieved that the ordeal was over.
While we were still in the fifth-floor room, the premier ex-
plained that he had been prepared to walk out around 5 p-m.
and call his press conference, when suddenly David Peterson
emerged with “the big concession”: Ontario would give up six
of its twenty-four Senate seats for redistribution to the less
populous provinces as part of the Ghiz-Pickersgill Senate re-
form proposal while Quebec would keep its present twenty-
four seats. Wells was impressed, and an agreement was then
worked out. I readily admit that in the isolated, pressure-
cooker atmosphere of the meeting, this proposal must have
seemed astounding. But in the hard light of day, it represented
little real progress toward the goal of a Tripie-E Senate and
meaningful Senate reform. [ was amazed at how the dynamics
of the meeting could have led the premier to think that this
was an impressive initiative. :
In addition, Mulroney apparently agreed to establish a
joint federal-provincial fisheries management board as part of
the deal on McKenna’s companion resolution. (This resolution
would have eliminated the mandatory annual first ministers’
conferences on fisheries jurisdiction.) This board was highly
desirable from Newfoundland’s perspective, and something

that Nova Scotia adamantly opposed, since its fishing rights

would inevitably be curtailed in favour of Newfoundland’s.
As the premier told us about it, we could see an upset John
Buchanan conferring anxiously with his officials in another
corner of the officials’ room. Consistent with his integrity on
constitutional matters, Wells insisted that this non-constitu-
tional issue not be viewed as in any way a quid pro quo for his
agreement to Meech. He refused to accept a letter stating for-
mally that Mulroney had made the offer and agreed that the
board should not be mentioned as part of any final package.
(Of course, after the Accord’s failure, Mulroney went back to
stonewalling on the issue. The joint management board still
has not seen the light of day.)

The one encouraging point was that the premier had in-

sisted that he would have to get approval from the people of
Newfoundland and Labrador in some way before the Accord
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could be ratified. If he decided to recommend it, however, it
would undoubtedly be approved. I am sure the other first min-
isters were counting on this.

After standing around in the fifth-floor officials’ room for
about twenty minutes, the premier came down to the office for
a quiet thirty minutes alone with Judy, Robert, and me. We did
not talk much, and he read a few articles, including one that
quoted his brother in British Columbia as saying that Clyde
would never cave in on his principles. I think it was at this
point that the premier was finally able to assess how much he
had conceded and how little everyone else had given. Shortly
afterwards, he returned to the fifth floor. Hordes of officials
had entered the conference room and were celebrating the deal
with a few of the happier premiers, like David Peterson. I went
in for a few minutes and spoke briefly to the premier and
Robert, who looked as uncomfortable as I felt.

I then waited in the hall with Finkelstein for the final text
and for the legal opinion regarding the distinct society clause,
which was rumoured to be in preparation for annexing to the
Accord. At this point, I began to sense that things were not
comme il faut. There was a lot of activity, and people like Roger
Tassé and Mary Dawson were looking preoccupied as they ran
to and from various offices, but no paper was emerging. Then
Finkelstein spoke to Maldoff and Carstairs, who were over in
the Chateau Laurier, and discovered that Chrétien’s team al-
ready had a copy of the draft opinion (presumably faxed over),
while we on the fifth floor just outside the FPRO offices did
not. I considered this a gross insult and could barely contain
my anger. To compound the situation, Peter Mansbridge and
the CBC team were already confidently announcing all the
details of the agreement, which had already been leaked to
them even though the situation within the Conference Centre
was still in a state of flux. .

The draft finally reached the premier’s hands shortly
before 11 p.m. He was still in the conference room; I was out-
side with Finkelstein. As I examined my copy, I was bitterly
disappointed; it was worse than I had expected. The legal
opinion had still not appeared, but at this point it was really
immaterial to me. All its absence did was make a bad situation
worse.

Then suddenly, everything changed. The premier angrily
stormed out of the meeting room and announced that a critical
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nwmcmm was missing from the draft and that he would not be
signing the agreement. Everyone and everything was thrown
into confusion. As I scrambled to understand what had hap-
pened — I would not know all the details until a few minutes
later — Finkelstein asked Wells for some instructions as to the
legal opinion about the distinct society clause. Wells replied
that ww should carry on with any meeting with the officials
m_.uozw it, keeping in mind the premier’s position, but that he
Egm.mrﬁ was going back to the hotel immediately and would
certainly not be signing any document. He then took
Finkelstein into the conference room and introduced him to
Mulroney and the federal officials — Tellier, Spector, Tassé,
and Hartt. (The other premiers had left.) Finally, he marched
across the street to the hotel with Robert, Judy, me, and a mob
of reporters, leaving Finkelstein, with whom he would not
speak again until the next day’s breakfast meeting.

In his suite, we finally learned about the “missing clause.”
Apparently the premier and Frank McKenna had worked on a
clause that would have committed the first ministers to assess-
ing the impact of the distinct society clause on the Charter after
a certain period of time and then pursuing appropriate consti-
tutional amendments. This clause was certainly not great but
at least it would have signalled that a couple of first ministers
were conscious of the importance of our Charter rights and
had established a minimal safeguard for them. The clause was
to have read, “The Prime Minister and Premiers agree to cause
a review of the advice to be conducted within ten years, and if
jurisprudence over that period develops in a manner incon-
sistent with the advice given, the Prime Minister and Premiers

are committed to seeking appropriate constitutional amend-

ments.”

. <.<rm5 the draft was produced, however, that clause was
missing. When the premier raised the issue, Mulroney ap-
parently acknowledged its absence and asked Tassé what had
happened. Tassé then had to admit to the premier that the
Quebec delegation had vetoed it and that he had simply
dropped it from the text. In a note to the premier the next day,
Hmm.mm further would state that in fact he had discussed the sit-
uation clearly with Tellier'and Mulroney and that the federal
omxum&.m had then decided to substitute another, more general
provision for a periodic review of the entire Charter. So in fact,
Mulroney had known exactly why it was no longer in the text
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when he responded to Wells’s query, but had left it to Tassé to
explain it.

The premier also related how Mulroney had desperately
tried to have all premiers sign a copy of the agreement that
night, ostensibly for his daughter Caroline’s birthday, which
was the next day or shortly thereafter. Apparently, eight of the
premiers agreed; only Wells and Filmon refused. Mulroney’s
approach to constitutional negotiations left us all speechless.

In any event, the crunch had at least arrived, albeit three
days later than I had first anticipated. The premier had finally
been released from the pressure cooker. He now freely and
openly denounced the entire process. As he explained to re-
porters while returning to the hotel, the missing clause, while
an important trigger, had simply stripped the entire process
and hence its product of any credibility.

While in the premier’s suite, we watched some of the news
coverage, which was still trumpeting the agreement and its
details. What disappointed me the most was how ready Fil-
mon now was to embrace the deal. (Carstairs’s approval was
absolutely no surprise and, given her close links to Chrétien’s
office, no longer of any consequence.) If, as I believed, Filmon
and many of his closest advisors really had sincere doubts
about the Accord, I would have expected him to leave himself
some manoeuvring room to edge out if circumstances per-
mitted. But he did not. As a result, the Accord would only be
stopped in Manitoba by the likes of Elijah Harper and the liter-
ally thousands of people who signed up to make presentations
at the province’s legislative hearings.

The next day was Saturday. For the first time all week, the
breakfast meeting took place in a serene atmosphere. It was fi-
nally sinking home, at least to me, that we were out of the vise.
But of course it was by no means over. During breakfast the
premier received a call from Mulroney about the missing
clause. Since Quebec’s veto meant that Mulroney could not
possibly agree to reinsert the clause, I was fairly relaxed, and
whatever Mulroney said had no impact on the premier.
Further manipulation to get the premier to sign did not seem
possible at this point.

Finkelstein reported that he had remained with the other
officials until the early hours of the morning participating in
drafting some of the legal language for the agreement. With re-
spect to the missing clause, the Quebec delegation refused to



add anything that would commit first ministers in advance to
seek appropriate constitutional amendments should the dis-
tinct society clause be used to allow Quebec to override the
A.up.m#mh The premier instructed Finkelstein to continue to par-
ficipate in discussions that day, but only in a hands-off way
and with the goal of protecting as well as possible Newfound-
land’s interest. The premier was not going to approve or rec-
ommend the deal and would now just bring it back to the
province for a public examination. In the circumstances, this
outcome was probably the best I could have envisaged, since
the meeting would finally be over and we could all get out of
the Moﬁax. The court of public opinion would have the final
word.

. While entering the Conference Centre for the morning’s
first ministers’ meeting, the premier made it clear to the mob of
reporters massed outside that his dissatisfaction with the
process and the deal went far beyond just the missing clause,
although that had clearly been a catalyst. Mulroney then ar-
rived and spent a full nine-and-a-half minutes standing on the
mamswmza with Don Newman of CBC “Meechworld,” trying to
explain the missing clause as an unfortunate example of “occu-
pational hazard.” None of us could believe our ears!

At this point most of the delegation was with the premier
in the small Newfoundland main floor office watching CBC
Newsworld. The situation was in such a state of flux that no
one knew exactly when the first ministers would start meeting.
They finally convened in the late morning, again without
Bourassa, who remained in the Chateau, adhering to his deci-
sion not to participate in any discussion of the distinct society
clause. I spent some time on the fifth floor, where the atmos-
phere was extremely subdued. All I recall, besides small talk, is
Frank McKenna emerging once to find out the baseball scores.
I Em\mu returned to the main floor office. |
~AAbout noon, the premier and Filmon suddenly appear
Em.., door. They had left the meeting and then Qm&vﬁwmwwo o%MmMM
privately over lunch. They immediately walked over to the
premier’s room in the Chateau. Filmon did not want the
premier to return to the conference room for his papers, in case
.rm was sidetracked by the other premiers, so Paul Dicks went
In to retrieve them and the two of us walked over to the
premier’s room. After sending the papers in, we waited out-
side the door with the at least twenty reporters who were
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camped in the hall and around the elevators, desperate for any
news. The meeting ended around 2:30 p.m.

Once more I could not be sure exactly what Filmon and
Wells had discussed. I was hoping that overnight Filmon had
had second thoughts about his decision to support the new
deal. Some of Manitoba’s advisors were also assuming that
since Wells had stuck with Filmon throughout the week, that
Filmon would stick with Wells during this final stage.

The meeting of all the premiers would not recommence
until close to 4 p.m. This time Bourassa would attend. Until it
started, we sat with Wells in the Newfoundland office talking
about the conference in general terms. The premier then
worked on a few notes for his closing remarks. He seemed
fairly relaxed and said he looked forward to leaving. The only
unusual thing I recall was that the Prime Minister’s Office
called Finkelstein to ask him if he wanted to go upstairs and
have his picture taken with Mulroney. Finkelstein declined.

Finkelstein had continued to participate in a minor way in
the legal opinion that was to be annexed to the agreement and
spoke to Wells about it. The premier seemed uninterested, but
told Finkelstein that although he personally could not endorse
it, Finkelstein was free to sign if he wanted. Finkelstein then in-
dicated that, like Manitoba’s legal advisors, he would not sign it.

The first ministers’ meeting dragged on for-almost three
hours while we all asked ourselves what on earth could be
taking so long. Finally, about 7 p.m., the premier emerged to
discuss with us what sort of formal qualification he should at-
tach to the new deal to indicate that he was agreeing only to
take it back to Newfoundland to put it to the people. Frank
McKenna in particular seemed anxious to have the premier
sign the same document as everyone else, however condition-
ally. It appeared that Filmon had already been persuaded to do
so, although he made it clear that final acceptance would de-
pend on the results of public hearings in Manitoba. Both Paul
Dicks and I spoke to Wells. Dicks argued that since the premier
was in no way approving the deal and was committed to

taking it back to Newfoundland and Labrador for meaningful
discussion, he must not sign the same document. If he did, it
would send out the wrong signals to the public and probably
be manipulated in some way by the feds.

Dicks spoke intently to the premier and discussed the pro-
viso that ultimately appeared below the premier’s conditional



signature. Unfortunately, he could not offset the influence of
Frank McKenna, who emerged from the conference room to
join us and, with a “come on, Clyde” approach, continually
pressed him at least to sign the same document, even if it had
a proviso attached. The premier finally agreed.

Our fears of being manipulated soon proved valid. At
about 10 p.m. the prime minister at last convened an open first
ministers” meeting, though only for closing statements. It was
outrageously staged. In the large Conference Centre hall, all
the premiers and their justice or intergovernmental affairs
ministers were sitting around the table when what seemed to
be the full federal cabinet rushed in to sit behind the prime
minister, who arrived last, accompanied by Lowell Murray
and Norman Spector. Then Spector very ostentatiously took
the single agreement around for everyone’s signature.

To outside observers and to many media, it appeared that
all was sweetness and harmony and that everyone had agreed
to the new deal. Anyone listening closely, however, would
have heard Wells eloquently and cogently give the reasons
why he was not approving the new agreement, but was only
taking it back for consideration by the people of his province.
Indeed, the proviso under his signature said clearly that he
was only undertaking to submit the Meech Lake Accord “for
appropriate legislative or public consideration and to use
every possible effort to achieve a decision prior to June 23,
1990.” And it added that only if Meech was legislatively or
publicly approved would he then endorse fully the most re-
cent 1990 agreement. .

Unfortunately, the provisos were in rather arcane legal lan-
guage and perhaps not easily understood by many observers.
One result was that early on Sunday, June 10, the Ottawa Sun.
ran a gloating front page picture of Mulroney with a screaming
headline: “It’s a deal!” v _

The premier spoke first by prior agreement with Mulroney.
(Usual protocol would have had him speak last, since he was
premier of the youngest province.) The other premiers’
speeches were lengthy, tedious, and self-congratulatory. I was
exhausted and had a definite sense that I was watching a
theatre of the absurd. By 1 or 2 a.m. the ordeal was finally over.
We were out of the vortex and the final countdown was on.

ELEVEN

The Final Manipulation

Robert Dornan, Judy Foote, Paul Dicks, Walter Noel,

and I were all out at the airport at 6 a.m. on ?H.ﬁ 10 to
take the tiny King-Air jet back to St. John's. Conversation was
subdued with some light relief provided by a selection OH. pho-
tographs Mulroney had given the premier at the conclusion of
the meeting. Apparently his official photographer had been
present throughout, snapping pictures at every opportunity,
even during the most serious &mnsmmﬂosm..H Hmmﬁ.w itto others
to conclude what this says about our prime minister, but I
think it is the height of absurdity. . .

The premier and I also had some time to discuss the writ-
ing of a referendum question. I had drafted some possible al-
ternatives several weeks earlier. As he had indicated clearly in
his remarks the previous night, he favoured a referendum on
the Accord in Newfoundland and Labrador. The only concern
was whether there was time to hold one before June 23.

In this connection, as early as March 22, when m.._m motion 6
rescind was introduced, the premier had been advised by om_ﬂ
cials that a referendum vote could take place on fourteen days
notice. He had referred to this advice a number of times in
media interviews; so had I during, for mmeEm\. a less-than-
pleasant off-the-record discussion with a Le Devoir correspon-
dent who was obviously trying to create the line that we were
not really serious about a referendum. In fact, the motion to re-
scind was introduced and passed as soon as possible after the
reopening of the House on March 8, precisely so that there
would be enough time for a referendum.

D FTER BARELY THREE HOURS' SLEEP, the premier,



We landed at the St. John's airport in mid-afternoon. Edsel
Bonnell and a few others came out to the tarmac to meet us and
to alert the premier that several hundred people were in the
airport to welcome him back and congratulate him for hanging
tough and surviving the ordeal in Ottawa. The crowd was en-
Qﬂ.mgwman\ which clearly reassured the premier. At one point
while he was speaking to them, his voice broke and it was
plain how relieved he was that the tension-filled Ottawa con-
ference was finally over.

One o.m the premier’s special assistants gave me a lift back
to the office. I had a strange, shell-shocked feeling when I ar-
rived and realized that we had been away a full seven days,
rather than the mere two or three I had expected. I had diffi-
culty placing events in perspective from my St. John's base.

The premier had scheduled a cabinet meeting as soon as
possible after his arrival to discuss the next course of action.
Just before going into the meeting, he asked me to do a quick
memo comparing the Meech Lake Accord with the proposed
new agreement and the primary concerns of Newfoundland.
This was not difficult to do and was a good way to demon-
strate how minimal the so-called companion resolution was.
This memo was later distributed to the Liberal caucus. I knew
then that the premier could not himself endorse either the res-
olution or the Accord.

The premier decided to call a press conference for early in
the evening. He also issued a press release explaining exactly

what he had signed and stating unequivocally that none of .

N mimo:ﬁ&mbm\m primary concerns had been addressed in the
companion resolution. He seemed tired, but also relaxed and
extremely clear about his views.

The cabinet debate over whether a referendum or a free
vote would be held continued the next morning. In the early.
mmmgowb\ the premier announced that because of the time -
constraints — eleven days were not enough to organize a ref--
erendum — a free vote would have to be held instead. This
meant that all MHAs would shortly return to their districts to
consult their constituents and return for the legislative debate
which would start on Wednesday, June 20. \

That very same day, the prime minister was giving his in-
mmn:ocm. “roll the dice” interview to Globe and Mail reporters Jef-
frey Simpson, Graham Fraser, and Susan Delacourt. It
appeared the next day, Tuesday, June 12, on the front page. In
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it, Mulroney made it clear that he had deliberately timed the
first ministers’ meeting to ensure a crisis atmosphere, to max-
imize pressure on the hold-out provinces, and to preclude the
holding of a referendum in Newfoundland. Till then, it had al-
ways been claimed that the delay was a result of uncertainty as
to whether there was sufficient “common ground” among op-
ponents to the Accord to justify a meeting. Mulroney’s revela-
tion was not particularly surprising to those familiar with his
overwhelmingly “political” approach to matters, but his blunt-
ness on this occasion was extraordinary. He said that he and
his advisors had gathered at 24 Sussex Drive a month before
the June meeting to map out the federal strategy. “Right here,
I told them when it would be,” Mulroney said. “I told them a
month ago when we were going to [meet]. It’s like an election
campaign. You count backward. [I said] that’s the day we're
going to roll the dice.”

The reaction in Newfoundland was electric. The lead edi-
torial in the St. John’s Evening Telegram demanded in outrage
that the premier revoke his invitation to Mulroney to address
the House of Assembly. (The premier had extended this invita-
tion to all first ministers in the context of the free-vote debate
so that they could offer their views of why the Accord had to
be passed.) Telephone calls from Newfoundlanders soon
flooded the premier’s switchboard. One irate gentleman, who
worked at the airport, called to say that he was not going to let
the prime minister’s plane onto the tarmac if he decided to
come to speak to the MHAs.

For the remaining days of the debate, I co-ordinated re-
sponses to the over 12,000 letters and faxes that arrived during
the ten-day period. The fax machine literally went non-stop
twenty-four hours a day for the remaining days down to June
23. One gentleman from British Columbia called to say that it
had taken him three days to get through. Likewise, the phones
never stopped ringing with calls from across Canada, and we
brought in four or five young people to help answer them.
They were also instructed to pass on to the callers any basic in-
formation such as the lists of MHAs, since with a free vote
pending it was necessary now to convey their sentiments not
just to the premier but to all elected members. Ninety-five per-
cent of all the calls and letters we received supported the
premier, which is the most tangible demonstration of how out
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of touch the other first ministers were with the wishes of
Canadians at this critical juncture.

~Talso spent a good part of my time addressing ongoing
crises and trying to counter the spins being generated, mainly
in Ottawa and Toronto, that the premier really wanted his
MHAs to hold their noses and vote in favour of the Accord. I
was always convinced that the premier would vote against the
Accord and that during the free-vote debate he would make an
animated and inspiring speech exposing its flaws and setting
out his well-reasoned arguments for reopening negotiations.
But he was scrupulous in his efforts to ensure a free vote and
refused to answer any express questions as to how he would
vote. This only aided the spin doctors. :

As I noted earlier, some of the most serious misstatements
came through Brian Tobin on behalf of the Chrétien team. For
example, Tobin told the Liberal caucus in Ottawa that he had
been an advisor to the premier during the week of the negotia-
tions and that the premier obviously wanted the Accord to
pass since he had not walked out of the conference. When I re-
layed this to the premier on Wednesday, June 13, just before he
flew out to his district in Corner Brook, he was extremely
angry. He asked me to call Tobin directly, but later decided to
get Edsel to do it. Edsel spoke to Tobin later that day and indi-
cated to him clearly that such fabrications were to be ended im-
mediately.

By now, Jean Chrétien was in an awkward position. He
would remain basically incommunicado until June 22, except
for a very brief phone call with the premier on June 13, to
S&Hr I'was privy. The premier was courteous as always; he in-
dicated to him that his leadership rivals, Sheila Copps and
Paul Martin, were coming out to argue the case for the Accord
on hot-line shows in St. John’s on June 15 and that he, too, was
welcome to come out. Chrétien refused the invitation — yet
further proof that he was no longer opposed to the Accord and
wanted to lie low. Not surprisingly, the callers to the June 15
To». line were vehemently in favour of reopening the Accord
which made it obvious that whatever Copps and ZE&&

thought was irrelevant — the people stood firmly behind the

premier.

Indeed, the amount of support the premier received, both
personally and for his position on the Accord, was phenome-
nal throughout the debate. The desperate forays of federal cab-
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inet ministers into almost every corner of the province after the
rescission motion was introduced in March had absolutely no
impact. And pro-Meechers were roundly condemned when-
ever they ventured onto the local radio talk-shows to criticize
the premier. One of many examples of this was the outrage
levelled at Jean Charest on March 23, when he made the ill-ad-
vised comment on Bill Rowe’s show that the premier, in pro-
viding for a referendum, was “hiding behind the skirts of the
people.” It would be difficult to think of anything more certain
to provoke a backlash among listeners. :

So I remained optimistic about the course of events in
Newfoundland and Labrador. By this time, even more en-
couraging news was coming out of Manitoba. Shortly after re-
turning to Winnipeg, Filmon had introduced the motion to
approve Meech and the companion resolution, and had asked
the legislature for unanimous agreement to shorten the time
for the mandatory public hearings so that there could be a vote
by June 23. But there was a procedural problem requiring a
second introduction of the motion; and later, on Tuesday, June
12, the lone aboriginal representative, Elijah Harper, strongly
backed by aboriginal groups across Canada, denied the legisla-
ture the unanimous consent required for debate. Harper then
proceeded to run out the clock on the Accord. While this was
going on, the list of people who wanted to appear at the Mani-
toba hearings was lengthening daily; it would hold over 5,000
names by the time the deadline expired.

The resolve of the aboriginal leaders was encouraging and
entirely appropriate. Few were better placed to lead the op-
position than the first inhabitants of Canada, who, as so many
people pointed out, were surely as important, distinctive, and
fundamental as any other group. They put an abrupt end to the
naive expectations that their opposition could be effectively
bought off by the minimal concession in the companion resolu-
tion stipulating mandatory first ministers’ conferences on
aboriginal concerns every three years. Indeed, they were justi-
fiably insulted by the companion resolution.

Shortly after returning to St. John’s, I had an interesting
conversation with Georges Erasmus of the Assembly of First
Nations, John Amagoalik of the Inuit Tapirisat of Canada and
Chris McCormick of the Native Council of Canada. Erasmus
called me from Ottawa where they were meeting, and we
talked on the speaker phone. They pointed out bluntly that the



legal opinion annexed to the companion resolution in fact took
away what little protection the aboriginal groups had in the
Accord. The Accord at least stipulated that the distinct society
clause did not affect aboriginal rights in the Charter, or Parlia-
ment’s legislative jurisdiction in respect of “Indians and Lands
reserved for the Indians.” Yet the legal opinion did not repeat
m:.m prior provision and by implication seemed to contradict it.
This assessment was well-founded, and I could only agree
s&r their analysis. Erasmus wrote a letter on June 11 stating
?m concerns to Peter Hogg, one of the signatories of the opin-
ion. Hogg wrote back on June 13 to confirm that the opinion’s
authors had not intended to take away from the Meech provi-
sion. Even so, this demonstrates the complete neglect of
aboriginal issues in the hot-house atmosphere in Ottawa. It
also demonstrates how critical it will be in the future to
broaden the process of constitutional reform so that it takes
into account the interests of everyone.

In a final desperate attempt to eliminate the aboriginal op-
position, Mulroney sent his top advisors to meet with the
Manitoba chiefs on Monday, June 18. They brought a letter
b.o.g the prime minister proposing a number of Band-Aid so-
lutions, including a royal commission on aboriginal concerns.
Reports indicate that the meeting lasted all of twenty minutes
and that Lowell Murray, among others, was left speechless.

On Monday and Tuesday, June 18 and 19, Wells joined the
Quebec and Maritime premiers in Mystic, Connecticut, for the
annual regional meeting of premiers and state governors. In
the meantime, in St. John’s, MHAs were beginning to return
from their districts and tensions were building in anticipation
of the legislative debates, which were scheduled to start on
Wednesday. :

An extraordinary number of people flew to St. John's from
as far away as Vancouver to lend moral support to the premier
and stay for the final vote. Of course, not all of these were wel-
come. One person in particular was not: Archie Pafford, the
leader of the intolerant and anti-bilingual Confederation of Re-
glons party in New Brunswick. I was alerted that he was on his
way to give the premier a petition indicating his party’s strong
mﬁu@oﬁ. In turn, I alerted Edsel, Margie, and Rosie not to allow
him at any time to meet with the premier. All the premier .
needed at this point was to be identified, however wrongly,.
with an anti-Quebec, anti-bilingual lobby — the pro-Meechers
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would have a field day. Unfortunately, Pafford arrived at the
office unexpectedly, and one of the special assistants brought
him inside for a small tour. When Pafford was introduced to
me, I was very abrupt with him, indicating that the premier
certainly did not share his reasons for wanting to reject the Ac-
cord. Much to the surprise of the special assistant, I then es-
corted Pafford to the exit. Needless to say, he was annoyed. He
returned a little while later to complain about my treatment.
This time Robert dealt with him, probably less abruptly,
though no less firmly.

At this point the pro-Meech tactics were getting nasty. Fed-
eral MPs like John Crosbie were personally phoning all New-
foundland MHAs to urge them to vote for the Accord, over the
premier’s protest that this compromised the free vote. Scare
tactics were also being used, with Tory MPs and MHAs alleg-
ing that Wells’s opposition would lead to the break-up of
Canada, the loss of old-age pensions, and so on. At one point,
I received a-call from an elderly man asking me if it was true
that he would lose his pension.

Meanwhile, the airwaves were supersaturated with Meech,
day and night. Perhaps the most memorable video bite ap-
peared on a “Journal” documentary that followed a House of
Assembly member around in his quest to solicit the views of
fishermen in his district. One busy fisherman replied that he
did not think Meech Lake was good for Canada. When asked
whether he was worried that Quebec might separate if Meech
failed, he replied in a devastatingly straightforward manner,
“Separate? But where would they go?” It was a classic.

The debate in the House of Assembly opened on Wed-
nesday, June 20. The premier was to speak last, on June 22, but
I was able to reassure anxious callers that all MHAs would
clearly know which way the premier was going to vote before
the vote actually took place. (Many pundits were already
speculating that if Wells voted last, the Accord might pass,
since some waverers on the government side would vote in
favour of it, whereas they would likely be persuaded to stick
with the premier if he came out against it before they cast their

vote.) In any event, I also continually reassured people that the
premier would make a firm speech that would leave no doubt
as to which way he would vote at the end.

I never went up to the House of Assembly to watch the
speeches, but I was able to listen to all of them in my office over



the PA system. I probably would not have been able to getinto
the House very easily: the galleries were packed with media
and observers. Premiers Peterson, McKenna, and Devine had
all accepted the invitation to address the House, as had the
prime minister. Peterson and McKenna spoke on June 20. Both
men repeated their standard positions and, as it turned out,
did not sway any members. The national media of course ac-
corded most of its coverage to them. Even so, at every oppor-
tunity I would emphasize to others that the speeches of the
Liberal MHAs were far more important. Most of these were
eloquent and well-reasoned analyses of why they could not
support the Accord in its present form.

Late in the evening of June 20, the premier called me up to

the office on the House of Assembly floor in the Confederation
Building. He said he wanted to draft a possible amendment to
the constitutional amending procedure to eliminate any single
province’s right of veto. I couldn’t understand the purpose of
this, but he considered that it might be helpful to put it forward
to show that he was willing to give up Newfoundland’s veto,
even though at that time, under the Accord, Newfoundland
had the right to kill the Accord. Professor Stephen Scott of
McGill University Law School happened to be there; after
meeting with the premier and me, he put something into legal
language. I spoke in favour of ensuring that in any such pro-
posal for a new amending formula, there would be a referen-
dum mechanism, and the premier eventually agreed to this. I
still saw no need for this last-minute proposal and was re-
lieved to find that the initiative was vetoed by the Liberal cau-
cus when it met early the next morning.

Devine and the prime minister addressed the House of As-
sembly on Thursday, June 21. Like Peterson and McKenna,
they repeated their standard pro-Meech arguments. Mulroney,
in particular, avoided any discussion of the Accord’s sub-
stance; in his usual facile manner, he simply argued that it had
to pass or there would be incalculable consequences. .

That week, the prestigious British magazine The Economist
ran an excellent lead editorial bluntly criticizing the Accord for
the balkanizing instrument it was and accusing Mulroney of
appeasing Quebec. The timing was perfect, and Robert and I
made sure that copies were made and distributed to all MHAs
on Thursday morning. Incredibly, the opposition claimed that

the premier was unfairly trying to manipulate the vote. This, at. -
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a time when Crosbie was camped outside the House of As-
sembly buttonholing Liberal MHAs and making veiled threats
of federal retribution if the Accord failed! .

Later that day, Donald Blenkarn, the ever wﬁgwﬂ@ﬁm and
unpredictable Ontario Tory MP, was reported as saying that
Newfoundland should be towed out to sea and sunk. This re-
mark was almost as ill-advised as the one by Quebec MP Denis
Pronovost, shortly before the June meeting, that the premier
was a “mental case,” or the one from Joe Clark calling Em
premier an “egomaniac.” All these statements went over like
lead balloons. In Newfoundland wmaﬂnﬁmwg they had &m
completely unintended effect of strengthening the premier’s
support and the determination of government members to op-
pose the Accord. . . 1

The premier had dinner with Mulroney at his home an
then returned to the House at 9 p.m. for the evening session.
He did not reveal the details of that dinner conversation but
did say that he told Mulroney that he believed that the Accord
would be rejected. By then, there had been at least three defec-
tions, including the cabinet minister responsible mo.H. conduct-
ing Chrétien’s campaign in Newfoundland, U.mSQ Gilbert.
This was not enough to upset the E_umamw. majority — mﬂ.Hmmmﬁ
seven shifts were required — and I remained fully confident
that the vote would reject the Accord. . . :

After the 11 p.m. adjournment, the premier met with most

"but not all of the members of caucus in the government com-

mon room. They discussed the very real possibility that Elijah
Harper was going to prevent the Manitoba debate from pro-
ceeding one last time the next day, Friday, June 22. Once @:.m
happened, the Accord would die in Manitoba since the Mani-
toba legislature would then be closed for the weekend and
would not reopen until after the June 23 deadline.

According to the premier, the caucus also nrmnsmmma the
probability that the vote in Newfoundland would reject the
Accord. He added that the general feeling of caucus was thata
vote in Newfoundland against the Accord, would do S.om::.ﬁ
but harm if the Accord had by then effectively been spiked in
Manitoba. The overwhelming view of caucus was that if the
process could not be completed in Manitoba, the debate in
Newfoundland should be adjourned without a vote. .

Late that night Wells spoke to Filmon, who indicated that it
was a virtual certainty that the Manitoba legislature would ad-



journ on Friday at 12:30 p-m. — 3 p.m. Newfoundland time —
because of the inability to get cbmm_wdocm consent ﬁM_ WMHM&.

On Friday morning, June 22, the House of Assembly met at
@.m.B. instead of 10 a.m. in order to deal with a major labour
dispute. The Meech Lake debate resumed shortly after 10 a.m
I was on edge, but also convinced that if a vote were held it
SSMQ &mﬂ&% reject the Accord.

.couple of phone calls during the morning involvi _
premier turned out to be QEO&WH was not vmummma\awwm MWM
premier subsequently set out the precise details of them in a
press release so that it would be emphatically clear why he
ultimately decided not to hold the free vote. At about 10 a.m
Wells phoned John Crosbie and told him he was 8509&&.
about the consequences of the N ewfoundland legislature
voting to reject the Accord after Manitoba had failed to ap-
prove it. He expressed the opinion that such a vote would do
no mo.om and probably would cause harm and resentment.
Q.Ommm seemed wﬂmammmma by the comments and said he
«<<Mmm. speak with his no_ymmmcmm in Ottawa and get back to

At 10:30 a.m. Lowell Murray returned an earli
the premier, who told him of m\_m conversation EmwnMWOMMHM
?.Eﬁm% urged Wells to proceed with the vote. Wells recounted
?m conversation with Filmon and restated his view that a vote
in Newfoundland in such circumstances would be both point-
less and wmu..BmE. Murray then told him that the feds felt there
was a vOmmHEm way around the problem in Manitoba. Wells
asked what it was. Murray replied that they were looking at a
dozen or more proposals, and that while a firm decision had
not been taken, they were leaning toward a reference to the Su-
preme OOE.A of Canada for an opinion that the start of the
three-year time period could be deferred to September 1990
Wﬁmnﬁmﬂﬂmam Smw three years after Saskatchewan, the first Huao..
er Quebec, approved the Accord.

to reapprove the >onw%a.v _ vorc (Quebec would have

~ When Wells questioned him about this point, Murray told
him he had several opinions, but could not give Wells details at
this particular time. Wells told him that in that case it would be -
best to Qmmwa the vote in Newfoundland because it was vir-
tually certain to be rejected if the vote were to be taken at that
stage, which would make the reference to the Supreme Court
utterly useless. Murray argued that the feds felt they would
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only be able to ask the Court for an opinion if the Accord had
been passed by all provinces other than Manitoba since in
Manitoba at least there was a commitment by the leaders to see
the Accord passed. Wells told him he disagreed and that the
Court would decide this on the basis of the legal issues in-
volved, not on the question of whether or not there were politi-
cal undertakings of provinces that had not yet ratified the
Accord. He added that if the federal government could extend
the time for Manitoba, they could also extend it for Newfound-
land.

Wells emphasized again that the reference to the Supreme
Court could only be useful if Newfoundland adjourned its de-
bate, without a vote for the time being, because a vote on that
day would certainly result in a rejection. Murray told Wells he
would discuss the matter and get back to him.

About noon, Elijah Harper called Wells and told him that
he was going to prevent the Manitoba legislature from pro-
ceeding and that he was determined to prevent approval of the
Accord. It was now clear that Meech would die in Manitoba at
about 3 p.m. Newfoundland time. .

After the 1 p.m. adjournment of the House of Assembly, the
Liberal caucus met. Wells advised the caucus of the situation in
Manitoba and the discussions with Crosbie and Murray, from
whom he was still waiting to hear. Caucus decided that it was
best not to take a vote in light of the fact that the matter had
come to an end in Manitoba. Most members felt very strongly

about this; however, they did give Wells and the government
house leader, Winston Baker, the discretion to proceed with the
vote depending on the response from Murray and/or Crosbie.

When Wells had still not heard from either Murray or
Crosbie by 1:30 p.m., he asked Margie to place a call to Murray.
Margie was told that Murray was there and was asked to get
Wells on the line. When Wells answered the phone, Murray’s
secretary asked him to hold on for a moment while she found
the senator. When she returned, she apologized, saying he was
just leaving the office and would not be able to speak to Wells
after all.

A few minutes before the premier called Murray’s office,
received a call from a friend in Ottawa, who told me that some-
one she knew had just been rushed into the CTV studio to pro-
vide immediate commentary on a press conference summoned
by Murray. We all crowded into Edsel’s office to watch News-
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world. I was numbed to what I now heard: the premier had
just been trying to get through to Murray, and Murray was
now ambushing the premier with a press conference. I could
not disguise my disbelief that he was calmly announcing that
the federal government had found a way to extend the dead-
line to accommodate the Manitoba hearings, but that it would
only work if Newfoundland approved the Accord! Murray
said that the federal government would apply to the Supreme
Court of Canada for a declaration that would allow the dead-
line to be deferred until September, but that if Newfoundland
voted to defeat the Accord, this would not be possible.

The immediate reaction of Wells and all of us in the office,
which was supported by messages that began arriving imme-
diately over the grinding fax machine, was that what could be
done for Manitoba could also be done for Newfoundland and
that there was no reason why Newfoundland now should not
hold its referendum. For the premier, as he stated firmly in his
speech a couple of hours later, the federal tactic was “the final
manipulation.” The feds had deliberately stepped up the pres-
sure on Newfoundland MHAs and targeted them unfairly as
the villains who killed Meech. ‘

Wells was livid. After a quick discussion with the caucus
members who were available, he stated that everyone agreed
that Murray’s initiative put Newfoundland in an untenable
position. The members of the caucus agreed that the debate
must be adjourned in the Newfoundland House, and that the
voting must be deferred unless and until the federal govern-
ment obtained a ruling from the Supreme Court of Canada that
the three-year time period could be extended.

Wells immediately advised the opposition leader, Tom
Rideout, that he intended to move for the adjournment of the
debate. He also told Rideout about the unaccountable failure
of both Murray and Crosbie to get back to him. At the sugges-
tion of Len Simms, the opposition house leader, the opening of
the House was adjourned so that a meeting could be arranged
with Rideout, Simms, Crosbie, Baker, and Wells. ;

That meeting took place in the Speaker’s office. When
Wells complained that Crosbie had not gotten back to him,
Crosbie replied, “I could not get back to you because they did
not get back to me.” Wells told Crosbie that in light of Murray’s

actions, he intended to move for adjournment, because Mur- -

ray’s manipulation had placed Newfoundland in an untenable
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position. He added that the reference to the Supreme Court of
Canada could only be worthwhile if the vote in Newfoundland
was deferred, because such a vote, if taken on mﬂm.ﬁ day, would
certainly result in a rejection. Both Rideout and Simms m.mammm
that the Newfoundland vote would likely be for rejection of
the Accord. Crosbie acknowledged that it was also his view.
He therefore agreed that he would call the prime minister and
get back to Wells as quickly as possible. .

While Crosbie was making that call, the debate in the
House resumed. After the last opposition member to speak,
other than the opposition leader, concluded her ng.mqw@ ?m
House again recessed briefly to allow for a meeting with
Crosbie. Again Rideout, Simms, Baker and <<m.=m mﬁ.mb&m&.
Crosbie advised them that he had been speaking with the
prime minister and said the federal government would ap-
prove of the debate being adjourned, without a vote being
taken, and would ensure that Newfoundland was treated Em
same as Manitoba, if Wells would agree to state publicly, as Fil-
mon had done, that he would in the future support the Meech
Lake Accord. Wells told Crosbie that this was blackmail and he
would not give in to it. .

The members of the liberal caucus who were then available
reconfirmed their view that it was in the best interest of the na-
tion and the province that the present debate in Newfound-
land be adjourned without a vote. Thus, at the direction of
caucus, Wells put forward the motion to adjourn following a
lengthy, riveting speech eloquently restating his concerns with
the accord and venting his anger with Murray, Crosbie, and
Mulroney’s manipulations and fear-mongering. At about 8:30
p-m., the House voted in favour of the motion, thereby defer-
ring — likely forever — the vote on the Meech Lake Accord.
All the Liberal MHAs supported the motion. .

With Edsel and a couple of others, I watched @.5 final Mowm
on Newsworld. Despite Edsel’s exasperated reminders, “It's
over, Debbie, it's over,” I could not believe it was finally
finished. I watched anxiously as Lowell Murray emerged from
a meeting with Mulroney a few moments later to speak to the
press. I expected further devious tactics. Instead, Murray stood
before the microphone, held up a copy of the June 1990 agree-
ment, pointed to the premier’s signature, and .noBEmEma that
the premier had not lived up to his commitment. Nothing



clearly on respect for the sovereignty of the Canadian people,
and that a repeat of the most recent debacle could be avoided.

Early Saturday morning, the premier and his wife flew out
to the Liberal leadership convention in Calgary and stayed on
for a brief holiday. For the next few days I tried to cope with the
correspondence that continued to swamp the office. I also de-
cided to try to “de-meech” myself by getting away to some
place that would help me to remember all the absurdities of
our constitutional debate. My choice was Peru. I flew to Lima
on July 2 with my knapsack and no itinerary. Edsel’s parting
comment was that if a constitutional crisis erupted while I was
there, he would know who was behind it. He was joking, but
as it turned out, the country was traversing a severe crisis that
would soon lead to the suspension of all civil liberties.

As I expected, by travelling in Peru and in Bolivia as well, I
was able to put the Meech debate in its proper perspective. Espe-
cially in Peru, people are so desperately poor that they will use a
knife to slash open your knapsack to steal what little might be in
it. Young homeless people regularly die in the streets at night
from the cold or from unnatural causes. Terrorists deliberately
fuel people’s insecurity and fear for the future by assassinating
local leaders and disrupting water and electricity supplies. Street
vendors riot in the hope of acquiring licences to sell.

Whenever I mentioned that I came from Canada, I could
see the envy and admiration light up people’s eyes. I left Peru
as internal tensions were rapidly escalating, just a few days
before the newly installed government declared martial law
and suspended all civil liberties. I clearly remember thinking
how lucky I was to be returning to Canada. ,

I'stayed on for another year in St. John's as the Director of
n.uObmmans& Policy. I then joined an economic consulting
firm in Ottawa in order to work on a special “Economics of
Confederation” project. ,

_ Since the Meech Lake Accord’s failure, Canadians have
witnessed a string of commissions, hearings, and reports, of
S&p.nr the Bélanger-Campeau Commission in Quebec, the
Spicer Commission, the Quebec Liberal Party’s Allaire Report,
and, most recently, the Beaudoin-Dobbie Special Joint Com-
mittee are only the most prominent. Yet, only two years after
the death of Meech, we are again in the middle of another man-
ufactured constitutional crisis, when most Canadians would
prefer their leaders to focus their attention on the desperate
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state of the economy. All the same issues, tensions, and games
are resurfacing in much the same form as during the Meech
Lake debate. Once again our national leadership and self-ap-
pointed constitutional élites have collapsed in the face of Que-
bec’s demands for more powers and a Charter override; once
again they are going through contortions in an attempt to fig-
ure out how to give away federal powers and cripple the abil-
ity to establish minimum national standards.

And many of the same people are still prominently in-
volved: Roger Tassé is busy advising the federal government
while Eric Maldoff and Eddie Goldenberg are busy advising
Liberal leader Jean Chrétien. Claude Castonguay, a Conserva-
tive senator, briefly co-chaired the Special Parliamentary Com-
mittee. Ghislain Dufour and the other members of the Quebec
business élite are busy pushing decentralization and special
status for Quebec, as are his counterparts at the national level,
such as Thomas d’Aquino and the Business Council on
National Issues. Pro-Meech academics are well-entrenched ad-
vising the Federal-Provincial Relations Office. A few key
people have of course changed positions or roles. Several of
the “Meech premiers” — David Peterson, Bill Vander Zalm,
and Grant Devine — have been voted out of office, while John
Buchanan has been bumped up to the Senate. Gary Filmon,
however, finally won his majority as premier of Manitoba,
while Sharon Carstairs, a convert to Meech, lost her role as op-
position leader. Norman Spector moved over to replace Stan-
ley Hartt as Mulroney’s chief of staff, but quickly moved on to
become Ambassador to Israel. Lowell Murray was moved
from the constitutional affairs portfolio in favour of Joe “Com-
munity of Communities” Clark. :

As we now head into the last stages of the debate leading
up to the Quebec referendum deadline, obvious parallels with
the Meech Lake debate continue to multiply: the Beaudoin-
Dobbie Report, in its desperate scramble for unanimity, recalls
the abortive Charest Report; the Quebec National Assembly’s
“disapproval” of that report is similar to its condemnation in
early April 1990 of any attempt at a companion resolution to
amend Meech; and the proposals — whatever they turn out to
be — will be “unbundled” or “severed” so that certain parts
can be passed with the approval of only seven provinces an
the federal government. It remains to be seen whether wh
happened in June 1990 was really “the final manipulation.




INDEX

Aboriginal peoples, 18, 71, 72, 139-
40

Add-ons to the Accord, proposed,
46, 58, 82, 90, 91, 99-100, 106,
109, 112, 119-20

Alberta: Wells’s speeches and
meetings in, 62-63, 64

Allaire, Jean, 67

Amending formula, 3, 4, 18-19,
31, 60-61

Association for the Protection of
MWm:mw in Canada (APEC), 66,

Association in Favour of Meech
Lake, 53- 54, 56

Beaudoin-Dobbie Report, 151

Bilingualism, 5, 44, 45, 67

Bill 178, 67, 86

Blakeney, Allan, 8-9

Blenkarn, Donald, 143

Blondin, Ethel, 84, 88

Bonnell, Edsel, 10, 16, 35, 136,
138, 147

Bouchard, Lucien, 78, 90, 91, 91

Bourassa, Robert, 53, 75, 78, 149;
inflexibility on amendments to
Meech, 20, 77; at June 1990
meeting, 104, 110, 113, 121, 125,
132, 133

Brinkmanship, 2, 56, 100, 101,
109, 137

British Columbia: Wells’s meet-
ings in, 63-64. See also Vander
Zalm, William

Buchanan, John, 104, 128, 151

Bureaucracy, 12, 22-24, 38, 40-41

Business Council on National Is-
sues (BCNI), 54, 96, 151

Canada clause, 18, 27, 87-88, 106,
110, 114, 118, 119, 120, 125

Canada West Foundation, 62

Canadian Coalition on the Consti-
tution, 7

Canadians for a Unifying -Consti-
tution, 54, 58, 96

Carstairs, Sharon, 16, 88, 114, 115,
123, 124, 125, 131, 151

Castonguay, Claude, 53, 54, 55,
56, 151

CBC Newsworld, 35, 41, 78-79,
132, 145- 46

Charest, Jean, 80, 84, 139

Charest Committee, 80-91; Re-
port, 88-89; Wells’s presenta-
tion before, 82-84 .

Charter of Rights and Freedoms,
19, 20, 32-33, 87

Chrétien, Jean, 31, 51-52, 87, 88,
89- 90, 94, 95, 114, 123, 138, 151

Churchill Falls power contract,
75,104 A

Clark, Joe, 151

“Closed-door” approach to consti-
tutional reform, 14

Cohen, Andrew, 46

Conseil du Patronat du Québec
(CPQ), 55, 103

Constitution Act, 1982, 28, 83, 87-
88

Correspondence on Meech, 44-45,
47-48, 66, 79, 137, 151

Crosbie, John, 141, 143, 144, 146,
147

Cullen-Couture Agreement, 74

D’Aquino, Thomas, 54, 58, 151

Dawson, Mary, 101, 116

Decore, Laurence, 62

Dennison, Don, 22, 23, 72

Devine, Grant, 64, 142, 151

Dicks, Paul, 14, 46, 103, 127, 132,
133, 134

Distinct society clause, 3, 17, 18,
32- 33, 51, 72, 83, 85-86, 110-11,
115-16, 118-20, 129, 130; sugges-
tion to recast as preamble, 26-
27, 33,109

Dornan, Robert, 8, 9, 50, 83-84

Dufour, Ghislain, 54-55, 151

Economist, The, 142

Efford, John, 74

English-only resolutions, 66-67
Erasmus, Georges, 139, 140

Federal powers, 3,4, 11-12, 14, 17,
18-19, 28, 47
Federal-provincial conferences.
See First Ministers’ Conferences

Federal-Provincial Relations Of-
fice (FPRO), 23

Filmon, Gary, 38, 39, 42, 65, 91,
139,.143, 147, 151; at June 1990
meeting, 105-107, 113, 114, 119,
120, 121, 125, 127, 131, 132, 133

Finkelstein, Neil, 51, 94, 95, 99,
109, 110, 111, 114, 116, 117, 118,
124, 125, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133

First Ministers’ Conferences, 29;
November 1989, 37-42; June
1990, 98- 134

Fisheries management board, pro-
posed, 128

Foote, Judy, 9, 15, 19, 38, 70, 78,
83- 84, 99, 102, 108, 125

Forsey, Eugene, 43, 52, 81-82, 99,
125, 126

Free vote in Newfoundland: pro-
posed, 136, 141; not taken, 145-
46

Frey, Rosie, 10, 50, 62, 99

Friends of Meech Lake, 54-55, 58,
85

Gagnon, Lysiane, 91

Garneau, Raymond, 21

Getty, Donald, 64

Ghiz, Joe, 104, 107, 122

Ghiz-Pickersgill Senate reform
proposal, 128

Gilbert, David, 144

Goldenberg, Eddie, 94, 95, 117,
124, 127, 151

Gwyn, Richard, 5

Harper, Elijah, 131, 139, 143, 145
Hartt, Stanley, 89, 151
Hogg, Peter, 51, 115-16, 119-20, 140

Immigration, 73-75; provisions in
Accord, 4, 18, 29, 47, 74

Intergovernmental contacts, 22-
24, 38, 40-41. See also First Min-
isters’ Conferences

Johnson, William, 56, 87
Juda, Bruce, 22, 23

Kitchen, Hubert, 75
Knight, Barbara, 38, 90, 99, 102

Lawrence, Jack, 96-97
Lévesque, René, 5

INDEX 153

Liberal Party, 123, 125-26; Alberta,
62- 63, 64; Newfoundland, 29;
Quebec, 67

Mair, Rafe, 66

Maldoff, Eric, 87, 88, 94, 95, 115,
116, 124, 127, 151

Manitoba: report on Meech, 16-19

Mansbridge, Peter, 73, 129

McDougall, Barbara, 74-75

McGuire, Francis, 21

McKenna, Frank, 19, 20, 21, 38,
39,42, 62, 69, 71, 91, 108, 130,
132, 133, 134, 142

McNamara, Bill, 54, 55, 56, 57-58

Media, 5, 35, 42, 67, 69, 78-79, 82,
91, 102, 108, 129, 132, 141, 145-
46

Meech Lake Accord: immigration
provisions, 4, 18, 29, 47, 74;
problems with, 3-4. See also Dis-
tinct society clause; Federal
powers; Veto, provincial

Monahan, Patrick, 35, 38, 51, 94,
96, 116, 122

Morin, Benoit, 116

Mulroney, Brian, 2, 70, 73, 75, 91,
92, 140, 142, 143, 149; at First
Ministers’ Conference, Nov.,
1989, 39- 40, 42; at June, 1990
meeting, 103, 104, 105, 128,
130, 131, 132, 134; responds to
Wells’s letter, 29-32; “roll the
dice” interview, 101, 136-37

Murray, Lowell, 1, 21, 26, 40, 42,
69, 101, 134, 140, 144, 145, 146,
147, 151; meetings with Wells,
45-47, 70- 71, 72-74, 90, 93

Native peoples. See Aboriginal
peoples.

New Brunswick, 41; companion
resolution, 69, 71-72, 73, 77,
104; initiative for a parallel ac-
cord, 23-24; report on Meech,
19-20

Newfoundland: alternative ac-
cord, 25-36, 70; debate on a
free vote, 141-47; referendum
proposed, 40, 69, 76, 101, 135,
136, 137; rescission of Accord,
34-35, 68-71, 75-77, 83, 84

Newsworld. See CBC Newsworld

Noel, Walter, 109-110




Notwithstanding clause, 9, 52-53,
65, 83; Wells’s opinion differs
from Mulroney’s, 30-31

Nystrom, Lorne, 83

O’Brien, Philip, 57
Open debate, need for, 14, 150

Pafford, Archie, 140-41

Parizeau, Jacques, 61, 122

Peckford, Brian, 22, 29, 34, 84

Peru, 150

Peterson, David, 20-21, 38, 51, 77,
82,96, 104, 115, 122, 128, 142,
151

Preamble proposal, 26-27, 33, 109

Quebec, 41, 67, 77, 86-87; delega-
tion at June 1990 meeting, 116,
117-18, 120- 21, 122; “distinct
identity” for, see Distinct
society clause; five demands, 4,
13; nationalists, 3, 77, 92-93,
122; reaction to Beaudoin-
Dobbie Report, 151

Rae, John, 95, 117

Referendum: national, proposed,
40; in Newfoundland, pro-
posed, 40, 69, 76, 101, 135, 136,
137

Refugees, 73-75

Reid, Ross, 83

Rémillard, Gil, 53, 110

Rideout, Tom, 76-77, 146, 147

Robertson, Gordon, 54, 58, 62, 100

“Rolling deadline” proposal, 101

Rompkey, Bill, 81, 84, 89

Samson, Jean K., 116

Schwartz, Bryan, 106, 117

Scott, Ian, 21, 42, 94, 115, 116, 122

Scott, Stephen, 142

Senate reform, 11, 13, 14, 28-29,
62, 64, 65, 107 .

Shared-cost programs, 11-12

Simms, Len, 146, 147

Simpson, Jeffrey, 15, 67

Special legislative status, 3, 13-14,
17, 20, 32, 39, 46, 51, 108, 110,
111, 118, 119-20

Spector, Norman, 46, 47, 72-73,
74,90, 92, 108, 134, 151

Stanfield, Robert, 49-50, 58

Stirling, Margie, 10

Sunset clause, 73

Supreme Court of Canada, 3, 13,
28-29, 144, 145, 146, 147

Swinton, Katherine, 61

Tassé, Roger, 85-86, 87, 89, 93, 111,
112, 116, 119-20, 130, 131, 151

Taves, Vig, 110, 111, 118

Thistle, Jim, 14, 22, 110, 111

“Three equalities”, 27

Time constraints, 100-101. See also
Brinkmanship

Tobin, Brian, 89, 122-23, 127, 138

Tremblay, André, 116, 117-18, 120

Trudeau, Pierre, 52

“Unbundling,” 60-61, 63-64, 66,
151-52

Vander Zalm, William, 44, 63, 64,
66, 151; proposal to save the
Accord, 60-61

Veto, provincial, 34, 11, 14, 19,
27,107

Warren, Jake, 58

Webster, Norman, 52

Wells, Clyde: appearance before
Charest Committee, 80, 81, 82-
84; debate on free vote in New-
foundland, 141-47; at First
Ministers’ Conference, Nov.
1989, 37-42; at June 1990 meet-

ing, 98- 134; Meech debate con-

tributions summarized, 2;

popular support, 14, 35, 39, 40,

43, 45, 56, 62, 65, 67, 113, 136,

137, 138-39; speeches in central

Canada, 49-53; speeches in

Western Canada, 62-65
Women's rights, 71, 72

frmseRl






